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PREFACE

The Oral History Program of the Sierra Club

In fall 1969 and spring 1970 a self-appointed committee of Sierra Clubbers
met several times to consider two vexing and related problems. The rapid
membership growth of the club and its involvement in environmental issues on a
national scale left neither time nor resources to document the club's internal
and external history. Club records were stored in a number of locations and were
inaccessible for research. Further, we were failing to take advantage of the
relatively new technique of oral history by which the reminiscences of club
leaders and members of long standing could be preserved.

The ad hoc committee's recommendation that a standing History Committee be
established was approved by the Sierra Club Board of Directors in May 1970.
That September the board designated The Bancroft Library of the University of
California at Berkeley as the official depository of the club's archives. The
large collection of records, photographs and other memorabilia known as the
"Sierra Club Papers" is thus permanently protected, and the Bancroft is
preparing a catalog of these holdings which will be invaluable to students of
the conservation movement.

The History Committee then focused its energies on how to develop a signi-
ficant oral history program. A six page questionnaire was mailed to members
who had joined the club prior to 1931. More than half responded, enabling the
committee to identify numerous older members as likely prospects for oral inter-
views. (Some had hiked with John Muir!) Other interviewees were selected from
the ranks of club leadership over the past six decades.

Those committee members who volunteered as interviewers were trained in
this discipline by Willa Baum, head of the Bancroft's Regional Oral History
Office and a nationally recognized authority in this field. Further interviews
have been completed in cooperation with university oral history classes at
California State University, Fullerton; Columbia University, New York; and the
University of California, Berkeley. Extensive interviews with major club
leaders are most often conducted on a professional basis through the Regional
Oral History Office.

Copies of the Sierra Club oral interviews are placed at The Bancroft Library,
at UCLA, and at the club's Colby Library, and may be purchased for the actual
cost of photocopying, binding, and shipping by club regional offices, chapters,
and groups, as well as by other libraries and institutions.

Our heartfelt gratitude for their help in making the Sierra Club Oral
History Project a success goes to each interviewee and interviewer; to every-
one who has written an introduction to an oral history; to the Sierra Club
Board of Directors for its recognition of the long-term importance of this
effort; to the Trustees of the Sierra Club Foundation for generously providing
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the necessary funding; to club and foundation staff, especially Michael McCloskey,
Denny Wilcher, Colburn Wilbur, and Nicholas Clinch; to Willa Baum and Susan
Schrepfer of the Regional Oral History Office; and last but far from least, to
the members of the History Committee, and particularly to Ann Lage, who has
coordinated the oral history effort since September 1974.

You are cordially invited to read and enjoy any or all of the oral histories
in the Sierra Club series. By so doing you will learn much of the club's history
which is available nowhere else, and of the fascinating careers and accomplish-
ments of many outstanding club leaders and members.

Marshall H. Kuhn
Chairman, History Committee
1970 - 1978

San Francisco
May 1, 1977
(revised May 1979, A.L.)

PREFACE--1980s

Inspired by the vision of its founder and first chairman, Marshall Kuhn, the
Sierra Club History Committee continued to expand its oral history program
following his death in 1978. With the assistance of a grant from the National
Endowment for the Humanities, awarded in July 1980, the Sierra Club has contracted
with the Regional Oral History Office of The Bancroft Library to conduct twelve
to sixteen major interviews of Sierra Club activists and other environmental
leaders of the 1960s and 1970s. At the same time, the volunteer interview
program has been assisted with funds for training interviewers and transcribing
and editing volunteer-conducted interviews, also focusing on the past two decades.

With these efforts, the committee intends to document the programs, stra-
tegies, and ideals of the national Sierra Club, as well as the club grassroots,
in all its variety--from education to litigation to legislative lobbying, from
energy policy to urban issues to wilderness preservation, from California to the
Carolinas to New York. )

Together with the written archives in The Bancroft Library, the oral history
program of the 1980s will provide a valuable record of the Sierra Club during a
period of vastly broadening environmental goals, radically changing strategies
of environmental action, and major growth in size and influence on American
politics and society.

Special thanks for the project's later phase are due to Susan Schrepfer, co-
director of the Sierra Club Documentation Project; Ray Lage, cochair of the
History Committee; the Sierra Club Board and staff; members of the project ad-
visory board and the History Committee; and most importantly, the interviewees
and interviewers for their unfailing cooperation.

Ann Lage
Cochair, History Committee
Codirector, Sierra Club Documentation
Project
Oakland, Califormia
April, 1981



iii

SIERRA CLUB ORAL HISTORY PROJECT
April 1982

Regional Oral History Office, The Bancroft Library

David R. Brower, Environmental Activist, Publicist, and Prophet, 1980
Richard M. Leonard, Mountaineer, Lawyer, Environmentalist, 1976
William E. Siri, Reflections on The Sierra Club, the Environment,
and Mountaineering, 1950s-1970s, 1979
SIERRA CLUB LEADERS,1950s-1970s:
Alexander Hildebrand, Sierra Club Leader and Critic: Perspective on
Club Growth, Scope, and Tactics, 1950s-1970s, 1982
Martin Litton, Sierra Club Director and Uncompromising Preservatiomnist,
1950s-1970s, 1982
Raymond J. Sherwin, Conservationist, Judge, and Sierra Club President,
1960s-1970s, 1982
Theodore A. Snyder, Jr., Southeast Conservation Leader and Sierra Club
President, 1960s-1970s, 1982
In Process: Ansel Adams, Phillip S. Berry, Claire Dedrick, Brock Evans,
Norman B. Livermore, J. Michael McCloskey, Stewart Udall, Edgar Wayburn

Sierra Club History Committee

Elizabeth Marston Bade, Recollections of William F. Bade and the Early
Sierra Club, 1976

Philip S. Bermays, Founding the Southern California Chapter, 1975

Harold C. Bradley, Furthering the Sierra Club Tradition, 1975

Cicely M. Christy, Contributions to the Sierra Club and the San Francisco
Bay Chapter, 1938-1970s, 1982

Nathan C. Clark, Sierra Club Leader, Outdoorsman, and Engineer, 1977

Harold E. Crowe, Sierra Club Physician, Baron, and President, 1975

Glen Dawson, Pioneer Rock Climber and Ski Mountaineer, 1975

Nora Evans, Sixty Years with the Sierra Club, 1976

Francis Farquhar, Sierra Club Mountaineer and Editor, 1974

Marjory Bridge Farquhar, Pioneer Woman Rock Climber and Sierra Club
Director, 1977

Alfred Forsyth, The Sierra Club in New York and New Mexico, 1965-1978, 1981

Wanda B. Goody, A Hiker's View of the Early Sierra Club, 1982

C. Nelson Hackett, Lasting Impressions of the Early Sierra Club, 1975

Joel Hildebrand, Sierra Club Leader and Ski Mountaineer, 1974

Ethel Rose Taylor Horsfall, On the Trail with the Sierra Club, 1920s-1960s,
1982

Helen LeConte, Reminiscences of LeConte Family Outings, the Sierra Club,
and Ansel Adams, 1977

John and Ruth Mendenhall, Forty Years of Sierra Club Mountaineering
Leadership, 1938-1978, 1979

Stewart M. Ogilvy, Sierra Club Expansion and Evolution: The Atlantic
Chapter, 1957-1969, 1982




iv

Harriet T. Parsons, A Half-Century of Sierra Club Involvement, 1981

Ruth E. Prager, Remembering the High Trips, 1976

Bestor Robinson, Thoughts on Conservation and the Sierra Club, 1974

Gordon Robinson, Forestry Consultant to the Sierra Club, 1979

James E. Rother, The Sierra Club in the Early 1900s, 1974

Anne Van Tyne, Sierra Club Stalwart: Conservationist, Hiker, Chapter
and Council Leader, 1981

In Process: Ruth Bradley, Robert Braun, Lewis Clark, Fred Eissler,
Stewart Kimball, George Marshall, Susan Miller, Sigurd Olson, Tom
Turner, Walt Wheelock, and others.

California State University, Fullerton--Southern Sierrans Project

Thomas Amneus, New Directions for the Angeles Chapter, 1977

Robert Bear, Desert Conservation and Exploration with the Sierra Club,
1946-1978, 1980

Irene Charnock, Portrait of a Sierra Club Volunteer, 1977

J. Gordon Chelew, Reflections of an Angeles Chapter Member, 1921-1975, 1976

Arthur B. Johnson, Climbing and Conservation in the Sierra Club's Southern
California Chapter, 1930-1960s, 1980

Olivia R. Johnson, High Trip Reminiscences, 1904-1945, 1977

E. Stanley Jones, Sierra Club Officer and Angeles Chapter Leader, 1931-1975,
1976

Marion Jones, Reminiscences of the Southern California Sierra Club,
1927-1975, 1976

Robert R. Marshall, Angeles Chapter Leader and Wilderness Spokesman, 1960s,
1977

Dorothy Leavitt Pepper, High Trip High Jinks, 1976

Roscoe and Wilma Poland, Desert Conservation: Voices from the Sierra Club's
San Diego Chapter, 1980

Richard Searle, Grassroots Sierra Club Leader, 1976

University of California, Berkeley--The Sierra Club and the Urban Environment

SAN FRANCISCO BAY CHAPTER INNER CITY OUTINGS:
Patrick Colgan,"Just One of the Kids Myself," 1980
Jordan Hall, Trial and Error: the Early Years, 1980
Duff LaBoyteaux, Towards a National Sierra Club Program, 1980
Marlene Sarnat, Laying the Foundations for I1CO, 1980
George Zuni, From the Inner City Out, 1980

SIERRA CLUB OUTREACH TO WOMEN:
Helen Burke, Women's Issues in the Environmental Movement, 1980

In Process: Labor and the Environment Series



Regional Oral History Office University of California
The Bancroft Library Berkeley, California

Sierra Club History Series

Alexander Hildebrand

SIERRA CLUB LEADER AND CRITIC:
PERSPECTIVE ON CLUB GROWTH, SCOPE, AND TACTICS,
1950s-1970s

With an Introduction by
Milton Hildebrand

An Interview Conducted by
Ann Lage in 1981

Underwritten by
The National Endowment for the Humanities

Copyright (:) 1982 by the Regents of the University of California
and the Sierra Club






ALEXANDER HILDEBRAND

1957






TABLE OF CONTENTS -- Alexander Hildebrand

INTRODUCTION by Milton Hildebrand ik
INTERVIEW HISTORY iii
I EARLY INVOLVEMENT IN THE SIERRA AND THE SIERRA CLUB 1
Boyhood Pack Trips with the Hildebrand Family 1
Skiing, Mountaineering, and Engineering 2
Developing the Club's First Conservation Policy Guide 4
Volunteer Positions with the Sierra Club, 1946-1950s 6
II THE SIERRA CLUB IN THE 1950s 8
Decisions for Growth 8
Developing Policy on National Parks Roads Standards 11
A Changing Relationship with the Park and Forest Services 13
Water Power vs. Scenic Resources in Dinosaur and Glen Canyon 14
III GROWING INTERNAL PROBLEMS IN THE CLUB, 1957-1966 17
Finances and Control of Personnel 17
Publications Policy 20
Defining the Club's Scope and Acceptable Conservation Tactics 22
Efforts Toward More Representational Leadership 28
IV TROUBLESOME CONSERVATION ISSUES OF THE 1960s 32
The Diablo Canyon Controversy: A Question of Credibility
and Realism 32
Mineral King Ski Development, Another Policy Reversal 35
Pesticides Policy and the San Luis Drain 38
Where the Club Erred: Scope, Tone, Degree 42
V WATER POLICY ISSUES IN THE SACRAMENTO-SAN JOAQUIN DELTA 45
New Melones Dam: White Water or Flood Control and Water Supply? 45
Opposing the Sierra Club on Stanislaus Wild River Initiative, 1974 48
The Peripheral Canal: Threat to Delta Water 50
TAPE GUIDE 54
APPENDIX —-- Letter from Hildebrand to Michael McCloskey,
Janvary 19, 1966 55

INDEX 58






INTRODUCTION

My qualifications for introducing the interviewee, and placing him in
the context of his subject are, first, that I know him well, for he is my
brother, and second, that I was sufficiently active in Sierra Club affairs
myself (chairman of Natural Sciences Committee, manager of Burro trips,
member of Conservation Committee) to have impressions of some of the "growth,
scope, and tactics" of the club in the period in question.

Those were troubled times for the Sierra Club. Well, all times are
troubled ones for comservation organizations-~that is the nature and challenge
of their mission. (I write these lines in the first year of the Reagan
administration as secretary of the Interior, James Watt, is pushing hard to
"unlock" the economic resources of our parks and forests.) But in those years
the club was troubled from within as well as from without. In the preceding
years most of the membership lived in California, most of its leadership
lived in the San Francisco Bay Area, and the board meetings I first recall in
the late 1940s were conducted with serious purpose, but with the informality
and congeniality one would expect of companions of the trail. Then, during
the 1950s and 1960s, membership increased and spread, publications multiplied,
outings multiplied, chapters multiplied, the budget waivered, internal communi-
cations foundered, and within the club leadership a power struggle developed
over ideology, tactics, and control. In a letter to the board of directors
written in August, 1964, I cited numerous instances of unanswered letters
about club business, unheeded committee reports, and the release to the media
by the staff of statements on conservation issues prior to their consideration
by the board. I said that "Neither as a member nor as a committee chairman do
I know to whom I can address myself to be confident that my message will be
heeded."

Alex had many qualities and abilities that suited him to serve the club
in that period. As a lifelong camper and skier, he knew and loved the
wilderness (with younger brother Roger, we had some outstanding backpack
trips!). Also, he was an executive for Standard 0il before going into business
for himself as a farmer. Consequently, he knew something about how industry
and agribusiness think and work. This can be a great advantage when one must
oppose them over the use of water, land, and air. In those days (at least)
the club's board of directors tended to be stacked with lawyers, doctors, and
teachers who often did not have this advantage. Alex tended to be a bit more
practical and less an idealist than his peers in club leadership (sometimes
to a greater degree, I acknowledge, than this professor). The balance he
provided was invaluable at a time when idealists were holding out for all or
nothing, and sometimes were using tactics that he (and I) considered unworthy
in order to gain hallowed ends. He was willing to at least consider alternative
proposals.
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Club leaders in those days (at least), like those of many a lay organiza-
tion, did not always recognize that a board meeting should not be an open
forum but a place to accomplish informed legislation. Vocal minorities (some
of it on the staff) delayed debate and forced reconsideration. Alex was among
the first to recognize that the board should get on with its business, that
reversing itself weakened its impact and credibility, that only the board
should make policy, but that club growth required that the board delegate
to staff and chapters the authority to act within such policy. He worked
hard to know the issues well enough not to be "snowed" by zealous advocates
of any persuasion. These approaches were overdue and much needed.

It is the opinion of this observer that the Sierra Club owes much to '
Alex. Hear what he has to tell you. ’

Milton Hildebrand

Septembher 1981
Davis, California
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INTERVIEW HISTORY

Alexander Hildebrand joined the Sierra Club in 1934 as a youth already
familiar with the High Sierra from family burro trips and skilled as a skier
from a year in Switzerland in 1930. Along with his father Joel (University
of California Berkeley chemistry professor and president of the Sierra Club,
1937-1940), his brothers Milton and Roger, and his sister Louise, he fre-
quented the Sierra Nevada in summer and winter and became an avid skier.
After World War I1II, he became increasingly involved in Sierra Club affairs,
chairing at various times the San Francisco Bay Chapter, the Winter Sports
Committee, and the Lodges and Lands Cocmmittee.

With his interest in outdoor recreation and his subsequent experience
in managerial roles with Standard 0il of California, Alex Hildebrand became
a valued member of the Sierra Club Board of Directors [1948-1957, 1963-1966]
during a period of considerable growth in membership, a changeover to a
professional staff, and a general expansion of size and concerns. His
contributions to club management and organization are evident in this inter-
view, and many of his early suggestions for dealing administratively with
the club's growth are now an integral part of club structure.

While accepting the club's growth in size, Hildebrand has opposed
widening the scope of its concerns to areas he believes outside its expertise.
Most adamantly, he has objected to what he regards as the emotional and
sometimes strident tone of club positions and publicity. His point of view,
clearly outlined in this interview, caused him to leave the club's active
leadership in 1966 and to give up his membership entirely in the early
seventies.,

Having retired from Standard 0il to operate a small family farm in the
San Joaquin delta area of northern California, Hildebrand maintains a high
interest in environmental affairs related to water resources. He has been
president of the Delta Water Users Association; an officer and principal
spokesman for the South Delta Water Agency; and president of the San Joaquin
River Water Users Company. In these capacities, he has several times found
himself in direct conflict with Sierra Club policies, and he points out what
he sees as the shortsightedness of the club's approach on water issues.

This interview took place on March 14, 1981, at the Hildebrand farm in
Manteca, California. Mr. Hildebrand was well prepared for the interview,
having looked over relevant papers from his files. These files relating to
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his activity in the Sierra Club were subsequently placed in The Bancroft
Library's Sierra Club papers. Also present at the interview was Alex's
wife, Barbara, who skied with him at the club's Clair Tappaan ski lodge
and assisted him on several of his projects for the club's board of
directors.

Mr. Hildebrand reviewed the manuscript for accuracy but made no
substantive changes. Tapes of the interview are available in The Bancroft
Library.

Ann Lage
Interviewer/Editor

16 February 1982

Regional Oral History Office

486 The Bancroft Library
University of California Berkeley
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I EARLY INVOLVEMENT IN THE SIERRA AND THE SIERRA CLUB
[Interview 1: March 14, 1981]##

Boyhood Pack Trips with the Hildebrand Family

We want to start a little bit with your family background to
develop a sense of how you became interested in the out-of-doors
and involved in conservation. Do you want to first give us some
facts on your birthdate and place?

All right, I was born in Berkeley in 1913 and spent all of my
boyhood there. When I was about ten years old, they had the big
Berkeley fire which burned us out, and we then moved to the
Kensington Park area just north of Berkeley, which at that time
was all vacant land practically. Ours was one of the first houses
out in that area that was a little above the bottom of the hill,
but below Arlington.

Is that the same house where your father lives now, on Coventry
Road?

That is the same house where my father lives now, so they've been
there since 1924,

When I was still about three years old, I guess, my father
and mother started taking me into the Sierra on burro trips, and we
went pretty near every year until my youngest brother came along,
and I was about nine. Then Dad decided that it was just too big a

##This symbol indicates that a tape or a segment of a tape has
begun or ended. For a guide to the tapes see page 54,
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job to pack for that big a family. So we went to the beach in
summers at Capitola down near Santa Cruz for a few years until I
was old enough to take over the packing. As soon as I could do

the packing we went back to trips in the mountains and by that time
began to take along friends of my sister and my friends. So
usually the party was somewhat more than a family party. We had
the Ratcliff boys and others go with us.

When you say the Ratcliff boys, tell me--
It was the Walter Ratcliff family. We at times stepped up a notch
and took mules as we got older. So we didn't have so many animals,
but we still hiked and packed the mules.
Were these long trips?
Oh yes, the larger trips usually lasted I think only a week or ten
days; sometimes longer, however. Some of the earlier trips I
know we at least two weeks long. So we spent a lot of time in the
mountains and came to love it.

Then as I went to college and things got a little more compli-

cated, we sometimes went and sometimes didn't as a family.

Skiing, Mountaineering, and Engineering

Did you go to UC Berkeley?

Yes, I went to UC Berkeley, graduated there with a degree in
physics. However, I took a certain amount of engineering along
with it. TFirst I should go back a minute. A little before I
graduated from high school and before I started college, the

family went to Europe for a year [1930]. My brothers and I went to
school in Switzerland on top of a mountain. We had done some
skiing before that, but that is where we really got started skiing.

Was skiing in California very widespread or popular?

No, there was very little skiing done at that time in California.
We had tried it out some, but my father had done more than the rest
of us in connection with the Sierra Ski Club,* which at that time
didn't tolerate women and children. But we did a lot of skiing at
school in Switzerland because we were up in the mountain area. All

*See Joel Hildebrand, Sierra Club Leader and Ski Mountaineer, 1974,
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you had to do was step out the door and you were in the snow. We
had a great time with that. Then with the Swiss school work and
taking some entrance exams I got into college as soon as I came
back. I was the California ski team. I was the only skier on the
UC ski team for a year or two, and then it began to expand.

Your father was involved in coaching it, wasn't he?

No, that was later on. When I was in college, I was on the ski

team, but Dad was not involved in it. Then when I graduated, I

went to work for Standard 0il Company of Califormnia, and my career
with them lasted twenty-seven years. I worked in various capacities,
first as a working engineer for refinery design, and later on I
became assistant chief engineer of the Richmond Refinery. I also
put in a spell during the war over in the Middle East in the Arabian
Peninsula and the Persian Gulf.

But still for Standard 0il?

Still for Standard 0il. Later on, I was the manager of development
research for an atomic energy project for four years that the
company did at the request of the government. Then I went down and
was manager and then director of oil field research in La Habra,
near Whittier, for eight years. But we had purchased this farm

[in Manteca, California] in 1944 and always planned that eventually
we would retire here. We got a little tired of the smog and remote-
ness from our kind of civilization while we were down there and
finally decided to take an early retirement and come up here and
live on the farm while the children were still young enough to
enjoy 1it.

Now, I skipped the fact that during the early post-war years,
my brothers and I did quite a bit of mountaineering, sometimes just
the three of us and sometimes with friends on summer trips that we
went on.

What type of mountaineering was this, rock climbing?

Not high tone rock climbing. We climbed all of the 14,000 foot
peaks and a lot of others, mostly just climbing but not the kind of
climbing where you've got to drive pitons and that sort of thing.
We often rappeled down a mountain to get down faster, but I was
never a fancy rock climber. Milt did somewhat more rock climbing
than I did.

Then the war came along, and that's a period where part of the
time I was out in the Persian Gulf and part of the time I was work-
ing as much as eighty hours a week for Standard to produce the
special diesel oils that were needed for submarines and things of
that sort. So there wasn't any time to speak of for mountaineering.
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I had joined the Sierra Club, I believe, in 1934, but was not very
active until after the war. Then I spent a lot of time in the

skl activities of the club and with Clair Tappaan Lodge, and at
various times I was chairman of the winter sports committee,
chairman of the Bay Chapter, chairman of the lodge committee, and
a member of the conservation committee. So I was pretty active in
that sort of club activity.

Did you go on any club outings?
I never went on club outings. I intended to, as we planned, my
wife and I and children, to go on one of the river trips on the

Colorado while I was president. But something happened, I don't
recall whether it was business.

You got transferred.

I guess I got transferred just then. We had to move, so we didn't
go. But I was, and my family, always very active in skiing.
Barbara also skis very well. That's where I met her. I was skiing
at the Sierra Club's Clair Tappaan Lodge. So we kept up with our
skiing and mountain trips as much as our children and our babies
and other obligations permitted.

How many children do you have?

Three daughters.

Have your daughters stayed in the Sierra Club at all?

No, they dropped it when we did.

Do they still ski and do outdoor--

Only one of the daughters ever did much skiing. That was Janet,
and she hasn't been just lately, but she has enjoyed skiiing quite

a bit. All of them have been on family mountain trips with us,
but not so much in recent years.

Developing the Club's First Conservation Policy Guide

During this period, from an activity point of view, I was primarily
involved in the club's skiing activities. I also began to get
interested in playing more of a role in the conservation aspects of
the club.

Was there a connection there?



Hildebrand:

Lage:
Hildebrand:
Lage:

Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

I can't say that one led to the other. They just were both natural
inclinations you might say. I think probably the family mountain
trips did more to make me interested in the conservation side, as
did the family atmosphere more than the skiing itself did.

It soon became apparent to me that the club, even at that time
was growing to a degree that it was beginning to have a problem in
being effective in conservation. It was no longer the situation
that had existed earlier where the directors were all from the Bay
Area, all knew each other, saw each other, and had a pretty common
philosophy, so that there was no problem in coordinating the conser-
vation policies. As the chapters became more important, and more
people were trying to be effective in conservation, it became
difficult because the board had always merely responded to specific
problems in specific ways without any general policy and no
recorded policy other than the minutes.

So it began to happen that, the central people on the board
were at times jirritated because the chapters and committees would
get involved in conservation matters in a manner that the board
and staff people felt wasn't quite consistent with the club policy,
and yet there wasn't a real defined club policy.

How early was this?
This was about in the late forties; pretty late.
The chapters would me mainly the Angeles Chapter?

It was mainly at that time the Angeles and Bay Chapters. Well,
the chapters had some subdivisions--I forget now what they were
called--in both north and south, so that although there were, I
believe still only officially two chapters there were some sub-
divisions within the chapters.

I think there may have been other chapters at Riverside and maybe--

Yes, I think perhaps Riverside, and there may have been two or three
others by that time. [Loma Prieta, Mother Lode, San Diego,
Atlantic]

Can you give the particular problems that arose?

It's a little hard to go back and pick those up. Anyway, Barbara
and I then undertook to begin by going back through all of the
minutes of the board and picking out what appeared to be interpret-
able as policy decisions, or at least make a record of the decisions
the club had made, say, relative to national forests and relative

to other subjects and classify those and weed them out of all the
internal affair decisions and things of that sort, so that there
would be some written record that you could go back to as to what
the club had done on similar issues. They still had no general policy
to guide one in the future, except insofar as you could see what had
been done in the past.
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So we worked hard on that. Barbara put probably more time in on
it than I did because she typed it all. So that was quite a
project.

Do you have a copy of that here?
No, I don't think so. I don't think we have that any more.

I hope that's in The Bancroft Library.
guide [1952].

So that was the first policy

That was the first policy guide, yes.

Was it developed so that the chapters or committees would have some-
thing to refer to?

Yes, that was the purpose of it.
Did you find that things were consistent or were there--

Well, not a hundred percent but not too bad up to that time because,
as I say, the members of the board, although there were often long
discussions, they did end up agreeing on things pretty well. We
didn't have any of this great split within the board, and there was
more continuity. This idea that there should be a rapid turnover
on the board came later, oné which may have had some other merits,
but due to lack of continuity it caused problems.

Volunteer Positions with the Sierra Club, 1946~1950s

Let me just pick up a few things that you may have overlooked. You

became a member of the board in '48 was it?*
Yes.
Do you recall how that came about?

I was encouraged to run, I don't recall now by whom, but I decided
I would.

Did you view it as a major commitment, or how much time was involved
with becoming a board member?

I don't think it involved a lot more time than I was already putting
in committee activities, ski activities and other things.

Do you remember when you were chapter chairman of the Bay Chapter?

*Hildebrand was a member of the board of directors 1948-1958 and
1963-1966.
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I don't recall the exact year, but it was not too long before 1
became a board member.

So in the late forties after the war?
Probably the mid-forties at least, yes. It was after the war, yes.

As chairman of the lodge committee, were there particular things.
that you dealt with? How much responsibility did you have for the
actual operation of these lodges?

The lodge committee was responsible for seeing that we had custo-
dians at the lodges and that the monetary affairs were taken care
of and the maintenance of the buildings and so forth. It was more
of an organizational housekeeping job than a conservation policy
sort of job.

Did you work at all with the Forest Service there?
Oh, not too much at that time, no.

Did you get involved with the conflict with the Southern California
Chapter over the ski mountaineering lodges, or was that before they
took over?

There was some element of that at the time, but I don't feel that
that was a major problem. The southern chapter tended to try to
run its own show and not be part of the overall organization some-
times, but so far as the lodge was concerned, I didn't see any
great harm in letting them pretty much run that lodge. The problem
was to have somebody take charge of these things and run them, and
there was no reason to make a big issue of the lodge committee's
doing something other people were willing to do as long as they did
it. So I didn't feel that was a big problem.
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Decisions for Growth

During the early years on the board, we continued to have a pretty
good relationship. The club continued to grow and somewhere along
in there, I guess probably the early fifties [1952], we decided we
would have to have a full-time executive director. Dave Brower
was appointed at first part-time and then full-time to that job,
and then there had to be other staff people added as the thing
grew.

Do you recall that decision to take on an executive director?
Did it just seem like a natural thing at the time or was it a
controversial one?

Oh, I don't think it was really controversial. It did involve a
great deal of discussion, really more as to whether we could afford
it than anything else, I think. It amounted to a monetary commit-
ment which at that time was still not too easy to foresee our
capability of fulfilling. We had to work out then the duties of
the executive director, and that started out very well. Dave is an
extremely capable, creative person, very dedicated, a lot of fine
qualities, a great deal of knmowledge of the subject, a real profes-
sional conservationist.

Are you putting us back in that time reference of '52?

Yes, back in the early fifties. As the financial affairs and club
affairs expanded, then we began to have problems. It was partly
due to Dave's feeling that he knew best what should be done about
things--better than the board--and therefore, the board should
follow him rather than otherwise. It seemed at times that he felt
almost as though the board's function was to get the funds to do

- whatever he wanted to do.

Was this even in the early fifties or do you think of the problems
as coming in the sixties?
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It came along gradually. It was a process of evolution. At the
time I was president, things were still going pretty well, but

the seeds were there. There were numerous times when Dave made
commitments that were beyond his authority and with which the
board was sort of stuck as a fait accompli, but they weren't too
far out at that time. So there was a little tension, but it wasn't
serious at that time.

When you were president, how did you see the president s role?
What were your duties?

The duties of the president are to be, as I see it, the chairman
of the board and see that the club functions properly both as
regards its efficient performance and as regards its adherence to
policy and carrying things out in a proper manner.

Did the president oversee the day-to-day operation of the club, or
did you--

This was one of the problems. Since I was president when I was

living in southern California, I couldn't oversee the day-to-day
problems, and that gave Dave a rather free rein on those things,
more than had I been up here.

Would he consult with you on them?

That's where it began to be that I had to call him to see that things
were done. He often had excuses for not getting around to doing
what I wanted done because he was busy doing what he wanted done.
There was beginning to be just an element—-I wouldn't quite call it
insubordination yet, but it was trending in that direction.

Let me make it clear at this point that while I may be critical
of what Dave and perhaps other people did in the club, I bear no
personal animosity. These are matters of principle and policy and
one's opinions as to what are the proper ways to do things. People
can differ on those matters so that I can have strong differences
with people without its involving a personal animosity.

Had you been a companion with Dave? Did you do any mountaineering
together?

Some, yes. I had been on winter mountaineering trips with him a
couple of times, I believe, and not a lot in the summer. But I

had known Dave for years. Our whole family had. We liked him, and
so our differences over how things should be done never involved
any personal bitterness on our side. It involved a sadness, rather,
that we had to have so much conflict.

*1955-1957
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I'm going to ask you one other thing. It seems as people look
back now on what's happened to the club since the fifties, they
look at these two decisions in the early fifties to hire the paid
executive director and the second decision being to accept a
chapter outside California--we already had the Atlantic Chapter,
but accepting the Pacific Northwest Chapter outside California--as
being sort of turning points. Now, at the time did they seem that
way to you?

In some degree, yes. As I say, the decision to hire an executive
director was not done lightly. It was considered in great detail,
and it was felt that the club was not going to refuse to grow and
that it, therefore, couldn't function as it had in the past and
therefore would have to have some paid management. Troubles

arose that I wouldn't blame entirely on Dave either. Part of it
was that the board had gradually ceased to carry out its functions
properly, and this made it possible for Dave to do the things he
did. So that either the board or Dave could have prevented it, but
the combination was bad.

I think I recall from Dave Brower's interview--he mentions that you
and Bestor Robinson would be the only ones who were really active
in making motions.

That tended to be the case. The board got to where they liked to
talk endlessly and never decide anything. This, of course,
frustrated Dave, as it did me and Bestor sometimes, and had some-
thing to do with his going ahead and doing things. So I don't

feel that it was entirely Dave's fault. I think Dave failed to see
the ultimate consequence that was bound to occur if he did that,
unless the board in effect completely capitulated and became merely
a money raising group. I think it was poor judgment to think that
that was going to happen.

Now, you mention also the decision to expand geographically.
That decision was also deliberated very carefully; a great deal of
debate. I remember Bestor's cautioning that we would have to be
careful that we weren't like the dinosaur whose body outgrew its
brain. We recognized that there was some hazard there, but it was
decided deliberately to expand geographically beyond California to
include the wilderness areas of the entire United States.

Now, that was beginning to stretch the purposes of the club as
indicated in its corporate bylaws. The later decision that I think
caused a much greater change in the club and caused many of the
management problems was when the club began to go into matters that
went beyond the stated purposes of the club, quite clearly in my
view. As long as I was associated with it, the board would never
really face up to a decision on that--whether it should restrict
itself in breadth of subject or whether to let the staff and other
zealots in the club push out in other directions.
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This wasn't a problem in the fifties, was it?

No, that was beginning to happen more in the sixties, but I think
that was a big part of the crisis that took place in the sixties.

There was still another aspect of it and that had to do with
the means toward the ends. There were those in the club, including
a few on the board by the time of the sixties, who felt that worthy
ends justified unworthy means. While they might not have come
right out and said they were unworthy means, that's what they did.
Once you start that, after all, unworthy means can also lead to
unworthy ends. The confrontation type of thing, the failure of the
club to abide by its own commitments, things of that sort, began
to occur.

Then, of course, there was the financial crisis which was again
largely commitments made by Dave. But again, the board should have
controlled him and didn't. So again, I don't want to lay all the
blame on Dave.

I want to try to get back into the fifties a little more and then
go to the sixties because I think the sixties did bring new problems.

Developing Policy on National Parks Roads Standards

We did a lot of work in the fifties of trying to resolve better
enunciated policy on various matters--the subject of national

forest roads, national park roads, the classification system for
national forests, and things of that sort. Some of us--myself,
Bestor, Nate Clark, Harold Bradley, and others--began to see that
we were having a great difficulty in achieving the kind of control
of roads, for example, in parks and forest areas that we felt was
necessary. This was the case, in our judgment, in considerable part
because neither the club nor the Park Service had road standards that
were precise enough. The roads would actually get built by the
agencies in the government that are in the business of building
roads, and they like nice roads. If you just talk in generalities,
it doesn't stop that sort of thing. You have to get down to be
very specific about it.

There was a lot of debate on the board because a lot of the
board members didn't like being tied down to specifics, and they
liked to talk in nice generalities. But it didn't work, and we
did finally develop road standards. Harold Bradley also was very
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active in that. In this material I have here [Alexander Hilde-
brand papers, The Bancroft Library] you can see some of the
correspondence that went on in developing those standards.*

So the club did ultimately develop what I believe to have been
some pretty good standards in respect to roads and also in respect
to forest classification systems.

Let's take the road standards for a minute. They were developed,
it seems as I read about it, almost as if you were working for the
Park Service in setting up a system that they could use.

Yes, to a large extent that's true because we would have meetings
with the director of the Park Service, for example, and as long as
you talked in beautiful generalities we seemed to agree. But then
the roads didn't get built that way.

Was the Tioga Road [Yosemite National Park] one of the things that
motivated--

That was one of the things that brought the matter to a head. The
Tioga Road was built to a much higherstandard than we felt was
necessary, and I think was a good deal higher standard than the
director of the Park Service really intended. But once he turned
the building of the road over to the department that builds roads,
and I forget now the proper name of that, it was sort of out of his
hands. Because the Park Service had said merely that you may have
these curvatures and grades and so forth and had not said that you
must have them wherever higher road standards would damage the
terrain, the road builders went right ahead and went for miles with-
out any inflection of curvature or gradient to accomodate the
terrain.

Now, it's true that the Park Service's instructions would have
permitted the protection of the terrain to be better, but it didn’t
really require it to be better. So we had to work pretty hard.
Now, I don't mean to say that the Park Service wanted the road as
adapted to the terrain as the club did--but the difference in
intent was not nearly as great as you would think by looking at
the road.

*See also "Sierra Club Policy and Standards for National Park and
Other Scenic Roads," Sierra Club Bulletin, December 1960.
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How effective those road standards have been,, I don't know because
I haven't been active in the club in more recent years. But I
think we did do a good job there. It took a lot of time. Harold
Bradley, Nate Clark, and one or two othersand myself did most of
the work on them, as I recall.

After the standards were developed, they were sent to the Park
Service?

Yes.
Was there follow-through?
I'm not sure.

Do you think the Park Service welcomed them and gave them serious
consideration or tucked them away?

I don't think there were any critical roads built during the period
after the standards were adopted and before I left the club, so I
can't quite answer the question. They certainly got some attention,
but how effective they were I don't really know. So far as I know,
the club still has those same standards. I'm not aware of the
club's having changed them, but I couldn't say for sure.

A similar thing happened relative to Forest Service classifica-
tions. Bestor again was one of the important people in working on
that.*

And yourself also.

Yes, he and I, and there were others involved. I don't mean to
belittle others. But there was a lot of work done on that, and I
think that was good work. I'm quite sure that that had an effect,
that it did achieve something. I feel that that was a worthwhile
thing.

A Changing Relationship with the Park and Forest Services

The thing that struck me, looking at it from today's perspective,
was that it was almost preparation for a legislative campaign, the
kinds of things that later might be put into legislation.

*See '"'Sierra Club Policy on National Forests,'" Sierra Club Bulletin,
December 1960.
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Yes, that's right.
Yet your hope was that the Forest Service would--

At that time, we were still trying to follow through on the kind

of relationship that the club had had with the Park and Forest
Service in earlier years where people who were members of the board
of the Sierra Club were influential, but in their own right and not
because they were board members, and they had personal rapport with
the leaders of those organizations, and a great deal was accomp-
lished by persuasion and cooperation rather than by confrontation.
We were still having fair success of that nature at that time. It
was becoming somewhat more difficult, partly because I think we had
a less unified board. We had fewer members of prestige on the
board. The government was also growing. It was less flexible.
Bureaucracies get more regimented as they get bigger. So the change
was partly on the government's side, partly on the club's side.

But we were still endeavoring to work that way and were doing
fairly well at it, I think, through the fifties, or mid-fifties at
least.

Did you yourself have any personal relationships with any Forest
Service officials or Park Service officals?

Oh yes, on numerous times with [Conrad] Wirth when he was head of
the Park Service. We had dealings with people in the Forest
Service as well. The transition was taking place though where,
because of the time involved, Dave was doing more and more of that
and club officers were doing less. It's difficult to say to what
extent this was the cause, and to what extent it was a change in the
nature of government. It began to lead tc its being more of a
confrontation situation where the club was trying to influence
things by its power rather than its persuasion and prestige. But
the trend was taking place in the late fifties, there's no doubt
about it.

Do you recall whether the agencies themselves were trying to
influence the Sierra Club? The reason I say this is that in Dave
Brower's interview, he says that both agencies at different times
tried to have the club discharge him, that the confrontation had
been to such an extent that they lobbied the club to get rid of
Dave. Do you recall that?

I think there was a little of that, but not as much as I believe
Dave thought. I didn't think it was true to the extent Dave thought
it was true. There was beginning to be, about the end of my
presidency, situations where Dave got pretty abrasive on some things
and was beginning this business of not disagreeing intellectually
and objectively, but making devils and impugning people's motives
and things of that sort, and that, of course, irritated those people.
So he became personally somewhat of a thorn in the side of some of



Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

15

them, and they did make some effort to either find out whether

there was a schism between Dave and the board, or create it perhaps.
I don't know. While I was_ president, I resisted that strongly
because I felt the club would be greatly weakened if it ever acknow-
ledged its schism. There were several times when I backed Dave
when I didn't really think he had done things right because the
alternative was to destroy his effectiveness in any manner other
than a confrontational manner.

Do you recall those instances, what were they over?

One of them had to do, I think, with [pause] the Tioga Road and a
couple of others. I think you'll find some correspondence in some
of this material [now at the Bancroft] that refers to some of
those instances.

One that he mentions is the Oregon Cascades. I guess he proposed
that a national park be created, and the Forest Service was quite
upset about that.

I don't recall the details of that, but I do recall that there was
such a problem. Dave and I do have different concepts of how things
should be accomplished, and this was beginning to cause a little
tension between us--not exactly on a personal basis but in terms of
our relationships, with me as president and Dave as executive
director while I was still president.

I think that's interesting. You bring out that the fifties really
were a transition period as far as the club's relationship to the
federal agencies.

Yes.

Water Power vs. Scenic Resources in Dinosaur and Glen Canyon

I want to go back a little bit and talk about Dinosaur. Were you
involved in the decision for the club to make this a campaign
[to prevent dams in the Dinosaur National Monument]?

Yes, if I remember correctly, I was at least on the board. I don't
remember the exact timing of that.

I think it was about '52, so you were on the board.

Yes, I think I was. I certainly agreed with that decision, and we
fought it effectively and were successful in that. Now, that was
a battle with the Bureau of Reclamation primarily, and I don't
think the club ever really did have a good rapport with the Bureau
of Reclamation. The Bureau was in the business of building dams
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wherever you could build dams. The club I think rightly--I still
think rightly--is adamantly opposed to the building of any dam in
a national park or monument because that would set a devastating
precedent, and it didn't seem justified to do that.

Do you recall the decision that was made towards the end of the
battle over Dinosaur, that the club wouldn't extend the campaign
to protect Glen Canyon. I think you were president at the time.

Yes, I believe I was. I've always felt that the world isn't black
or white, There are shades of grey. You have to have compromises.
The merit is rarely all on one side even though some people like to
pretend it is. The case for building Glen was much better than

the case for building Dinosaur. The case against Glen didn't
involve existing national parks or monuments or likely ones other
than--what do you call that little monument that has the stone arch
in it?

Rainbow Bridge.

Rainbow Bridge, yes. Now, we did get a commitment which the
government did not honor, and that was a bitter pill. That was
that they would put in a protective dam to keep water out of the
Rainbow Bridge Monument. That was, as I recall, in the authoriza-
tion, but then it was never funded, and the dam was never built.

I think they are still struggling over that.

That may be. I think that was dirty pool. I think Congress made
a commitment, and they didn't abide by it. On the other hand,
although I felt pretty incensed about it at the time, I think the
club is in a lot poorer position to be incensed about it now
because the club has done the same thing in more recent years.
They have made commitments and then not abided by them. They have
gained what they wanted and then they reneged. If the club does
that, they can't object when the government does it, and that's
what happened in that case.

Okay, we're going to get to some of those. I did notice though,
after the Glen Canyon decision, you developed a water resources
policy, where you opposed sacrificing scenic areas, whether
dedicated or not, for water power. [approved by the board, January
19, 1957]

That's right,and there again I think it was a good policy. I think
it would still be a good policy, but the club itself has kind of
negated it because the policy said that--I can't quote it exactly--
but that no important scenic resource should be destroyed for the
sake of power alone. But it said that the reason for that was

that power was available and would be for the foreseeable future
from other sources and specifically mentioned gas, coal, oil, and
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Hildebrand: nuclear. Now the club has objected to nuclear plants in general
no matter where they are, which I think is beyond the club's proper
scope in the first place, and has objected to practically any kind
of major power generation by any means. Now, by doing that they
have put great pressure on hydropower. It is a non-polluting,
renewable source. It does get us away from OPEC oil problems. So
by objecting to nuclear power particularly and to coal plants—-and
there are some problems still to be resolved with coal plants in
my opinion--they put great pressure on hydropower.

I think they are plagued with this right now on the Upper
Tuolomne. It would be very unfortunate in my opinion to put in a
dam that is essentially for power only in the Upper Tuolomne, which
is a very scenic area, but the pressure to put those dams in has
been greatly increased by the club and others who won't let them
run the Diablo Canyon nuclear plant. So it's difficult to object to
the violation of that policy when the club itself is violating it
by not permitting these other sources of power to be utilized.
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III GROWING INTERNAL PROBLEMS IN THE CLUB, 1957-1966

Finances and Contreol of Personnel

I want to follow up on a couple of things we mentioned. I don't
know if you recall this, but in looking over the minutes of those
periods in the late fifties, it seems to me there are inordinately
long executive committee meetings and then very short minutes or a
brief of actions. Some of the minutes referred to the Forest
Service and forest policy and some to trying to control the club's
financial condition. Do you remember that?

Yes, I remember that. I think it happened for two reasons. That
was a period of time--because you are talking about this period in
the late fifties and in the early sixties.

Yes, you were off the board, I guess.

I was off the board. However, the problems were becoming great
then--financial problems, the control of publications, the control
of the executive director, and these confrontations were getting
started. So some of these were rather touchy things to handle in
public meetings where you had the members of the press and other
people there. There was a great desire to work these out by
persuasion and discussion and not to air our dirty linen in public
and our problems in public. Then this matter of confrontation with
government people, rather than getting along with them, was
involved.

So because they sort of involved personnel problems, it did
take a lot of time, and it didn't seem appropriate to air them
publicly. Also, if I remember rightly, Lewis Clark was secretary
during that period, bless him, and Lewis had a little trouble
getting around to writing the minutes sometimes. So we often had
a brief of actions and by the time the minutes were written, they
were pretty brief, too. [laughs]
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Sometimes they weren't written at all.

Yes, but I love Lewis, and I don't mean to sound critical. I think
they were adequate for the purpose of the time, anyway. But it was
a bit of a problem sometimes, that the minutes didn't get out before
the next meeting, and we had a little trouble having everybody
remember what happened before.

So they were official meetings, but not as public as the other
meetings.

Our executive committee meetings were not really held as public
meetings as a matter of practice. I suppose if somebody had
demanded to be present he could have, but it didn't happen. So
ordinarily it was just the executive committee and Dave and maybe
one or two other people and staff or something of that sort. At
those meetings where we got into these matters of personnel and the
grave problems of Dave and others making commitments of many, many
thousands of dollars for the club, with no authority to do it,
things of that sort--

What kinds of things were those in the late fifties?
think of them as coming in the sixties.

I always

Well, that was during this period when I was off the board. I was
frequently asked by the presidents during that period to attend the
executive committee meetings and try to help with these problems,
which I did. I didn't attend them all, but I did attend a good
many.

So these were sort of working sessions to try to--

Yes, the things just were getting worse and worse and worse during
that period as regards financial responsibility, lack of control
of publications, confrontation approaches, that sort of thing.

So there were several areas--publications, finances and tactics.
Yes, and the organization, which involved these other things.

At one time I think I noticed mentioned in the minutes that you
urged Dave to accept the idea of having an administrator.

Yes, one of the problems, and by no means the only problem, was
that Dave's great abilities had to do with his role in connection
with publications and sort of the selling of conservaticn you might
say. That was his big interest, and he didn't do an adequate job
of taking care of these other things. It was really too big a job
for one person to handle. If you had somebody do it under Dave's
direction, Dave wasn't one to delegate, and so it wouldn't get done
that way either. He would always want to wait and look at it first.
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So it was obvious that in order to continue to use Dave's abilities,
which we still hoped to do at that time, it would be necessary to
have the office management and financial management shifted to
other shoulders that reported directly to the president.

So you favored having this dual system of reporting.

Yes. Dave didn't want to do that. He wanted to be the boss of
everything, but it wasn't working,and it wasn't going to work. Some
people can do that sort of thing and some can't, and Dave's talents
weren't in that direction. It wasn't his basic interest. He was
interested in having the control, but he wasn't really interested
in carrying out the more mundane things that have to be done.
Particularly as the club's financial affairs were approaching
bankruptcy, something had to be done. I was instrumental in per-
suading Dave to accept that change. I don't think he ever really
fully accepted it, but he did accept it to a sufficient extent that
an office manager could be hired and could take care of some of
these things.

You had an interest in a proposal in 1960 where you had quite a
lengthy idea for better control over club operations. Do you
recall that?

I don't remember all the details, but I recall that was done, yes.

Did you think at the time or do you think now that the problems
the club faced were solely a problem with Brower? Was it also a
problem with the growth of the club coming so fast?

Yes, as I said earlier, a person with Brower's tendencies only gets
out of hand if you let it. But he was permitted to do it. The

club didn't control him. Now, he didn't want to be controlled, it's
true, and it was very difficult to control him. But the board was
not sufficiently unified itself, and it had some members who
practically idolized Dave so they couldn't come to grips with
forcing Dave to make a change. They would plead with him to do it,
but he wouldn't on that basis, and they weren't willing to come to
grips with the fact that the longer they put it off, the worse the
crisis was going to be, and that's what then happened. Whether
Dave could have been controlled, so that his talents could have
been kept in the club, is hard to say. But the way things were done,
I think it was only almost inevitable that it would end up as it
did.

An example of that which ran through this period of time was
the attempt to control the public statements. I have some corres-
pondence referring to that here. I believe that the board did
ultimately adopt some sort of a resolutuion on it--I don't recall
exactly what it was-—to reduce the amount of confrontation, the
amount of inuendo and impugning motives and things of that sort in
their dealings with people outside of the club and particularly
government officials.
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But it was very, very difficult to get the board to come to grips
with something like that.

Was there sort of a philosophical difference? It seems like in the
discussion of the board minutes that there was.

Oh yes, that's right, and that's why I say had the board been of a
unified mind I think they could have controlled the situation, but
they weren't. There were members of the board who also believed
that the ends justifed the means, and who kind of liked confronta-
tion, and who didn't really think that the club ought to stick by
prior commitments if new members of the board felt otherwise and
if reasons for compromising in the first place had been taken care
of. They got what they wanted, so to speak.

Then there were those who just had no concept of organization.
So they didn't understand that you can't run a big show like that
in a proper and coordinated and consistent manner if you don't have
some rules and regulations. They didn't like rules and regulations.
The rules might bother you some time or other from doing what you
wanted to do. '

So there was a great resistance to being specific about things.
A great deal of it was because of a difference of opinion, but
also some of it was because people just didn't like to tie them-
selves down, and some of them were exceedingly reluctant to pass
any resolution that Dave didn't like. And Dave, of course, didn't
want to be tied down.

I think of this happening say when Fred Eissler came on the board
and Martin Litton [1963-64]. Did it also happen before?

It got much worse about that time! [laughs] Much worse. Now, we

did have another thing that got us into some of our financial
trouble, or contributed to getting us into our financial trouble.

Publications Policy

We had at least one member of the board who was quick to vote either
on the board or on the publication committee for the club's expending
of vast sums of money on publications from which he then would draw
a royalty. The conflict of interest didn't bother him a bit.

You're talking about Eliot Porter.

Yes, and the rest of the board wouldn't face up to the fact that
there was a conflict of interest there.



Lage:

Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

Lage:

Hildebrand:

22

Was that discussed?

The presidents that we had a good deal of the time were nice people
who just didn't like to have discussions on really tough, contro-
versial matters, and they would avoid it. For example, in 1965
when things were about at their last crunch, it seemed to me that
there was no hope unless we could have a publications policy that
said that you don't publish articles that are way beyond the scope
of the club, and that say something about the tone of the publica-
tion. So we wouldn't have the kind of stuff that is in--Let me
look here. [goes through papers]

For example, this Sierra Club Bulletin of September '7l--well,
that was even later--ridiculed people. You indicated that anybody
that was on the other side of an issue was a monster and so forth,
that kind of thing.

It has a cartoon for a cover.

Whole classes of people were shown to be no-good bums. To try to
head that off I tried to get a publication policy. You can see
from the correspondence in here, I spent a lot of time on it and so
did other people who worked with me on it. We proposed a policy-—-
Will Siri was president at the time-—and he just would not let that
come to a discussion on the board. He did not want publications
policy discussed by the board because it would be a big commotion.

Did it have to do with the scope of publications or with the idea
of the director getting royalties?

Well, this didn't deal exactly with the aspect of royalties. This
had to do with what was proper content. The letter I have here
which was the culmination of a lot of effort was dated June 20,
1965, to Siri. 1t explained the need for a policy, the scope of
what seemed to be needed in policy, the considerations that should
be weighed in establishing a definition of proper scope, and the
tone and standards of accuracy, and then the recommended policy
itself, fairly brief. [Alexander Hildebrand papers, The Bancroft
Library]

Did this have to do with the books or the Bulletin or both?

Both; this had to do with the Bulletin more than the books even,
but both. Will first refused to put it on a board agenda. Once
or twice at my insistence, he put it on. After all, I was a board
member, and it was a little awkward for the president not to put
something on the agenda that one of the members was very insistent
about, but then he would relegate it to the end of the meeting, and
then announce that there wasn't time. So he never let it come to

a discussion.
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Lage: He didn't mind controversy on other issues, I thought.

Hildebrand: He didn't like controversy generally. He knew this would be
controversial, and he wouldn't face up to it. Now, that was a
big part of our crisis problem, that the board as a whole and some
of the presidents we had--this was true also to some extent of
Wayburn--didn't like internmal controversy.

i

Hildebrand: The failure to settle these probléms and get a unified board policy
just fed into the hands of what happened--of people taking the law
unto themselves, doing as they saw fit, without board authorization.
They didn't give Dave guidance, for example, and even though I think
it was pretty clear that a majority of the board disapproved, there
were enough of those who disapproved that did not want a confronta-
tion that they didn't do anything about it.

Lage: Was this because of their admiration for Dave, primarily?

Hildebrand: For some of them, this was a major consideration. He was a very
able man, there was no question about it--or is. (I shouldn't
say was.)

Lage: They were afraid of losing him?

Hildebrand: Some of them felt that Dave was so valuable that it was better to
let these things happen than to lose Dave. By not controlling the
situation earlier, it had reached the point, considering Dave's
reluctance to be controlled, that you pretty well either had to let
Dave do whatever he wanted and just finance him, or you had to get
rid of him, and there was a great reluctance. All of us were
reluctant to get rid of him, but some of us could see that there
was no other choice. If the club wouldn't control him, they would
have to get rid of him and have somebody who was easier to control.
It was very much too bad.

Defining the Club's Scope and Acceptable Conservation Tactics

Lage: You spoke about the scope of problems. Maybe this is the time to
get into that now. This is what your concern was on the publications
policy, that the club was getting into issues that it shouldn't.
What did you feel was beyond its scope?

Hildebrand: Oh, a lot of things. The club bylaws define the purposes of the
club. They are the scientific, literary and educational studies
concerning the Sierra Nevada and other scenic resources of the
United States and its forests, waters, wildlife, and wildermess.
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Hildebrand: Now, that doesn't really get you into the question of should you
have nuclear emergy. It doesn't get you into the question of
urban amenities.

Lage: Those weren't raised that early, were they?

Hildebrand: Yes, they were beginning to be. So the zealots in the club were
starting to branch out into things that were to my mind clearly
beyond the authorized purposes of the club and the bylaws. So one
of the questions was, is the board going to permit this,and if they
are, shouldn't they change the bylaws? I didn't think they should
expand the scope because you can't be all-wise on everything. If
you start branching into things where you are not knowledgeable
you are going to do silly things, and I think the club has done
silly things. It got into pesticides.

Lage: Was pesticides one of the motivating things here?

Hildebrand: Yes, that was one of the things. The club started out considering
the use of pesticides and herbicides, in the park areas. That, I
think, was legitimate. But then when they started expanding it to
the use of pesticides on the farms and other things, that was
getting clearly beyond the scope of the club in my judgment.
Whether the cause was worthy or not isn't the question. 1It's a
question of can a club be effective if it tries to address all of
the problems of society? It seems to me clearly the answer is no.
When the club has gone off, or allowed its representatives to go
off, into these other areas, they have often made some very technical
and from a professional point of view, what are asinine statements.

Lage: Have they relied on technical expertise?

Hildebrand: They have tended not to. There was a feeling that grew among some
of the people in the club, sort of like Jerry Brown's feeling, that
you can't have an expert on any committee of this sort, even a club
committee, because he is going to be biased. So therefore, you
must have somebody who doesn't know anything about it. That's the
way to avoid bias. Well, that's also a good way to do things that
are very foolish. The club was beginning to do those things.

Lage: Would you say this is something that got more extreme after Brower
left, in the seventies? I guess you haven't followed it.

Hildebrand: No, I haven't followed it as closely but I don't know that it could
have gotten much worse than it was by the time Brower left. It
certainly was happening to very substantial degrees.

So a thrust of the publication policy I proposed was that you
should stay within the purposes of the club, but the interpretation
of what constituted staying within the purpose of the club was
spelled out to some degree. Then there was the question of should
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the Bulletin be used, as it was being used, as a propaganda docu-
ment? Or should the Bulletin be considered a communication with the
club's membership, and you should not tell your membership what to
think. You should let them hear both sides and get some feedback
from them. The Bulletin was certainly not doing that at that time.
It really didn't cover both sides of issues, and, as I said earlier,
very few things are such that the right is all on one side or all

on the other side.

The club must consider, in my opinion, the merits of the
opposition's position, at least in the publication that goes out to
its own membership. So that was a factor.

Then the tone and standards of accuracy [were factors], and
whether you stay away from this business of using unworthy means
towards worthy ends or whether you permit that. It seems to me that
is a very bad thing to do, and there were other members of the board
who felt so. Most of the people who felt that way ended up getting
off the board because you couldn't get the club to face up to it.

The other aspect that you seem to bring up is the emotional argument
versus an objective argument.

Yes.
Is that something that the board was divided on?

Yes. Of course, aesthetic things are in some degree emotional, I
suppose. You can't entirely get away from that. But on the other
hand, you mustn't get emotional or shouldn't get emotional, in my
opinion, in such a way that you are unwilling to recognize that
reasonable people can have different opinions about things and that
there are trade-offs. When you preserve something, you then prevent
its being used for something else, and sometimes the need for some-
thing else gets pretty impelling. This kind of attitude, I think,
is the sort of thing that has resulted in the club's inadvertently
creating pressure to build dams in the Upper Tuolomne because it is
not willing to accept the trade-offs of letting them build other
kinds of power plants in other places.

So by approaching things in an emotional manner that says,
"Let's be absolutely pure and never compromise anything," and
expanding the scope to practically anything it wants to address,
you get into this sort of a mess.
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I have somewhere in here a letter that I wrote to Mike McCloskey in
'66 where the club was getting involved in urban amenities.* Well,
that's getting pretty much on the fringe of a desirable club scope,
in my opinion.

I guess I hadn't realized that that came so early.
It was just beginning.

Was it mainly a staff effort or was this sponsored by some of the
volunteers?

Oh, both, both. But what was happening during this period was that
without any considered decision to do so, the club was gradually
expanding its scope beyond the scope that is covered in the bylaws.
By doing it without any considered judgment, it was not facing up

to the consequences of doing so; consequences in terms of the club's
effectiveness, consequences in terms of running into conflicts in
its own objectives such as I mentioned in the power dam business.

If they ever have faced up to these things I'm not aware of it, but
I don't really know what's happened since the late sixties.

Nuclear
in '66,

power hadn't become an issue by the time you left the board
had it?

No, that happened later.
Do you recall in 1959 the board passed the motion, which you must
have been somewhat instrumental in, which put limits on criticism of

public officials by club spokesmen?®*

Yes, that's one that I mentioned that controlled public statements.
I was instrumental in that.

Everybody seemed to agree to that. I think it was unanimous.
They agreed to it, but they didn't follow it.

But nobody opposed it?

*See Appendix,.page 55,

*See Sierra Club Board Minutes, December 5, 1959.
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Hildebrand: Well, that went through pretty well because people voting on it
didn't really think it was going to affect themselves, I guess.
At that point in time, people weren't prepared to say that they
really sought confrontation and this sort of thing. But when we
came to trying to face up to the same kind of problems in connection
with publication policy, in '65, I couldn't get anything done
anymore.

Lage: That same 1959 resolution forbid club publications to urge members
to write their legislators about pending legislation. Was that a
major problem?

Hildebrand: I don't think it had been a major problem at that time, but it
looked to me as though it was going to be if we didn't watch out.

Lage: Was it mainly the tax situation [retention of the club's tax deduct-
able status] that you were concerned about?

Hildebrand: That was one of the reasons that one passed was because people were
worried about the tax situation.

Lage: But that wasn't your concern?

Hildebrand: I didn't consider it the major concern myself. I felt that it was
one of these things where they were getting off into areas that were
going to cause problems for the club and cause us to be less .
effective. It's pretty hard to get into those things without
beginning to become partisan, and when you start to become partisan,
you've got problems in a big organization.

Lage: You didn't think the club should use its "people power" to try to
influence legislation?

Hildebrand: Well, that's a little too broad a statement-—-to influence the election
of individual people. To influence legislation such as whether or
not to build the Peripheral Canal, that's something else. but so
far as the election of people is concerned, no, I don't think they
should. There is no way you can do that without getting into
partisan things, and personally, I don't like to see people decide
to elect or oppose a candidate on the basis of one issue. A
legislator or a congressman has to vote on many things from defense
to dams to nuclear plants, all sorts of things, and the world isn't
just so simple that you can expect to agree with anybody on every-
thing. So I don't think you should decide to oppose a person on a
single issue unless it is a very important issue.

Lage: All of the oldtimers in the club that I've talked to say that politics
never came up on the board, that what political affiliation a
member had was never at issue.
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That's right, it never was.

Did you see or did others see one party as being more friendly to
conservation?

That was beginning to happen. Some of the front people for the club
thought that they had a better rapport with the Democrats than with
Republicans. So there was beginning to be an element of that. It
wasn't ordinarily ever stated that way, but statistically that was
what was happening. Whether that was a valid opinion or not was a
matter of judgment. I think that it was influenced a little bit

by some people just having personal connections or rapport of one
kind or another.

But you yourself didn't see it as the Democrats being more
favorable--

I didn't care. As a Sierra Club officer I didn't care whether
there was one party or the other. It was how we were able to work
with them on matters that were within the proper scope of the club
that seemed to me important, and I looked on that on an individual
basis.

Efforts Toward More Representational Leadership

You were off the board from '57 to '63. Was there a reason for
your not continuing with it then?

Yes, it was partly personal, that I didn't want to put in quite
that much time, although in the end I don't know that I put in a lot
less! [laughs]

It sounds like you were very involved.

However, I was also influenced by the fact that there was beginning
to be a great deal of agitation in the club for more rapid turnover
on the board. T felt that it was not wise to have a requirement in
the bylaws that you could serve only so many terms because I thought
that it had been of extreme value to have some people carry on for
long periods of time just as Colby did and Dick Leonard and Lewis
Clark. I didn't want to see them put off just on the basis that
they had been there too many years.

On the other hand, there is some legitimacy to the idea that
times change, and you should have some turnover. So I thought one
way to head off the club's adopting a limited term requirement
would be to generate alittle more turnover voluntarily. So this
was a substantial factor in my dropping off.
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Not too many followed suit though.

Not too many. However, the turnover on the board was more than
people who were worried about this acknowledged, I think. There
perhaps hadn't been, oh, back in the pre-war days, but there was
really quite a bit of turnover by the late fifties and sixties.

It was interesting to me, to get back to the fifties--in '54 I
think I noted that you put forth a policy that included limited
tenure for the board members and staggered terms. It included

four things that have since occurred, but it took a long time-- the
council and regional committees.

I don't remember that I espoused a limited term. Maybe I did.

It was in there [ the board of directors minutes]. Now, it didn't
look like you followed through on it. It said staggered three to
five-year terms, limited tenure, regional representatives, and
creation of--

Was this something to be considered because of the pressure from
the membership or something that I promoted? I don't recall
promoting it.

You proposed it. That was the way it was termed in the minutes
[May 1954]. That's all I have from it.

I think I put it forth for discussion because of the desire, the
pressure, that was beginning to be felt by the chapters and the
membership to do so. I don't recall that I actually favored a
mandatory limit on terms.

That was twenty years in coming. I think it came in 1970.
I think we just discussed it at that time [1954].

What about the idea for regional representatives? That seemed very
farsighted.

That I thought should happen. I did urge that because I felt that,
since we were growing geographically, that you did have to have
some element of regional representation in principle. Now, just
how it should be worked out was a problem and how you have regional
representation without having people then represent regions rather
than represent the club, so to speak. This is a problem whether
it's a school board or something else. There are pros and cons to
it. But in order not to have the club shatter a bit just from lack
of cohesion, it did seem necessary to do something about this. Now,
the council was developed, I guess, about that time, as a somewhat
different solution to that problem, and I think it helped.
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Were you thinking of volunteers appointed as regional representatives?

I don't remember now just what we did. But they were trial
balloons that we were just exploring.

Nothing seems to have come of it at that time?

No, we were just exploring ideas of how we would handle the growth
of the club geographically as well as in membership and avoid
getting into where it was just a home office clique trying to spend
the money they collected from a whole lot of members. It is a
difficult problem, and there are no perfect answers to it. So we
did explore different alternatives and, as I recall, the first
thing we did of consequence was to set up the council, and I think
that did help quite a bit.

Can you remember where the initial suggestion for that came from?

There was a lot of agitation among the chapter people to maybe have
a board member from each chapter, and this sort of thing. The
trouble with doing it that way was partly that there was some
tendency in at least some chapters——it varied from chapter to
chapter--for the chairman of the chapter to be a social club
chairman, so to speak, and maybe not even very much interested in
the broader interests of the club. That wasn't true of all the
chapters. The Pacific Northwest Chapter was a very pro-conservation
chapter. But perhaps the other extreme for a while was the Southern
[Angeles] chapter.

But there was a lot of pressure about that, and that's why the
problem had to be examined. So it is a real problem, and the question
is how do you resolve it? You have to weigh the pros and cons of
different things. I can't recall for certain, but I think that what
you're referring to is merely exploratory discussion, and you have
to bring up ideas and talk about them to decide whether they are
good or bad. I think I just brought up the general subjeet, that
these were things that had been suggested, perhaps by others, I
don't know, and we kicked them around.

[laughs] They're still kicking them around!
Yes.

They've done most all of these things, but I think people still try
to deal with these same problems.

Yes, they are problems that won't go away. There are no perfect
answers.

it
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After being off the board for six years, why did you happen to
return in '63?

Because Dick Leonard and several other people pled with me to come
back on because the club was going down the drain and needed help
and backing to get things under control. I did so rather
reluctantly, but I succumbed to, I suppose, the flattery of their
thinking I could do some good. I went back on for a term and then
saw it was hopeless and got off.

Did you have a certain plan in mind when you came on?

Well, to try to get the club to face up to having some proper
policies on publications, finances, organization, and so forth.
These things seemed to be in a great state of disarray at the time.
But I guess I didn't fully appreciate the hopelessness of doing
that with the membership we then had on the board and with the
reluctance of the presidents at that time to even discuss issues
like publications. Will Siri, as I told you, was totally unwilling
to have any discussion of publication policy because it would be a
vehement discussion.

But he got pretty vehement himself discussing Diablo Canyon.

I guess it depends on your point of view as to which things you
think are worth it.

it
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IV TROUBLESOME CONSERVATION ISSUES OF THE 1960s

The Diablo Canyon Controversy: a Question of Credibility

and Realism

We were going to talk about the issue of the siting of power plants
and particularly Diablo Canyon. Do you want to give some back-
ground on that?

The siting of power plants, of course, was properly discussed as it
related to the siting of power plants in areas of scenic importance.
I don't recall the details of the early discussions on that. But
there was certainly nothing improper about it. Then the Pacific
Gas & Electric Company had a proposal to put a nuclear plant in
some dunes. I forget now the--

The Nipomo Dunes.

The Nipomo Dunes, yes. Although that was not a protected area,
those members of the club and the board who were familiar with the
area felt that it was valuable scenically and should be preserved
and that there should not be a power plant there.

So there was negotiation between the club and PG&E which
resulted in PG&E's agreeing that they would drop the Nipomo Dunes
proposal and substitute the Diablo Canyon proposal. The club
agreed that that would be acceptable. They would accept the
Diablo Canyon site. So the change was made. The dunes were
protected, and then the club turned around and objected to the
Diablo Canyon site, which they had previously agreed to.

Were you there on the vote?

Yes, and this was, in my opinion, one of the serious cases where the
club went back on its word and once it got what it wanted, just
repudiated the deal it had made. I think it was one of a number of
instances that was very damaging to the club's credibility and
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ability to negotiate because once you start going back on your word,
people can't trust you anymore. Initially, it was primarily based
on, I believe, Martin Litton's making a big issue that he thought
Diablo Canyon itself ought to be saved. It didn't bother him a

bit that the club had already agreed not to protest that.

At that time, the fact that it was a nuclear plant was not a
big issue. But then, of course, later on the club began to oppose
nuclear plants in general, which seems to me beyond the scope of
the club and highly inappropriate for that reason. But in the case
of the Diablo Canyon, it was inappropriate anyway, to go back on
the agreement that had been made--whether it was right or wrong.

It had been made.

Some people say that the club shouldn’t get involved in choosing
alternatives. That they should just oppose Nipomo Dunes without
coming up with an alternative site.

That, of course, is a purist point of view--that you can protest
anything without seeing how the problem is going to be solved. You
don't ever have to worry about the solution of the problem, only to
create the problem. But, as a matter of realism, the population of
California is continuing to grow. The demographers indicate it will
for quite some time yet, and even with some decrease in the use of
energy per capita, the total use of energy is going to grow. There
is no question about it. So one has to be realistic, and just as
people have to eat, they also have to have a certain amount of
energy. It's going to have to be generated some place. So it's
unrealistic to just deny every opportunity to generate emergy. You
have to decide what is the best trade-off where you can generate
this energy with the least damage.

To talk about generating large quantities of electric power
with solar energy is just naivete. It makes no sense at all in the
present state of technology, and may never. Solar energy, of course,
has a place, but not for a long time at least in connection with
electric power genmeration. So I think that by failing to face up to
this fact that energy does have to be generated, the club has got
itself into the kinds of binds that I mentioned earlier where now
they are in a poor position to oppose power plants on the Tuolomne
River.

Any place you build something, just on a vacant lot, you are
going to destroy some kind of ecology. So you can't realistically
be totally pure. All of these people who object to these things
are living in houses that were built on what was once primitive
land. They object to the harvest of lumber, but they live in houses
that are built out of lumber. They are just unrealistic. They
object to farming and the use of pesticides and so forth, but they
are eating food that is supplied to them by that means. So I think
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it was a very wrong thing to go back on the word of the club relative
to the Diablo Canyon site, and I also believe that it is totally
unrealistic to assume that you are not going to let them build

power plants any place.

On the Diablo Canyon matter, did you try to convince the board
members on the other side with these arguments? How did you find
the communication between--

At that point in time, the board was just seriously divided, both
as to whether there need be any honor on the part of the club and
as to whether you had to worry about permitting a generation of
power some place.

I guess I'm trying to get a contrast between the board of this era
of the mid-sixties, with the earlier board. Were you as able to
have an exchange of views?

No, by that time it had gotten to where the philosophy, the ideas
of a proper manner of promoting one's ends, was widely divergent
among different members of the club. It was still combined also
with this fact of having some members who don't really like to face
up to issues.

So you didn't feel that you could ever have a good discussion of the
matter?

No, there was no possibility at that point in time of getting
anything approaching a unanimous decision of the board in either
direction.

One thing that struck me was that the Diablo Canyon decision that
they made, and I guess you agreed with, was in opposition to the
power plant policy that you had proposed. 1In 1963 you had a
resolution against siting power plants on the coastal regions or
bays, I think it was.* Then Diablo Canyon came along. It seemed
to be in conflict.

I don't recall just how the earlier one was worded. I'm not aware
that we had a policy that said there should be no coastal sites.

I think it was related to the idea of coastal sites of prime scenic
value. At the time of the deal that was made with PG&E, the feeling
was that plants did have to be built some place and that the dunes

' *September 7/8, 1963. '"'Sierra Club opposes construction of power

plants along ocean or national lake shorelines of high recreational
or scenic values." (Board of Directors minutes)
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were far more important than Diablo Canyon, and there are, after
all, a rather limited number of locations that would be suitable
for a nuclear power plant. So if you accept the idea that you are
going to have to build something some place, Diablo Canyon didn't
seem like a bad choice. Now, if you take the point of view that
you don't have to build any power plants, that the power companies
are all a bunch of villains, even if we use their power, then you
can decide to oppose every site.

it

Mineral King Ski Development, Another Policy Reversal

Let's turn to Mineral King now. Tell me about the roots of the
club's original policy on Mineral King. I think it was 1947 to
1949,

Yes, I think I was either omn or chairman of the winter sports
committee at that time. The winter sports committee, with the
backing of the club as I recall, decided that we were entering a
period where the growth of skiing was very rapid, and the locations
for major ski resorts were inadequate to meet the need, and that
the club could serve a useful purpose by helping to locate areas
that would be suitable for ski resorts and to promote their use.

An aerial reconnaisance was made of the Sierra sites that might be
considered.

Who did that aerial reconnaisance? Was it a private plane?

It was largely done by a private plane of a member of the committee,
if I remember rightly. I don't recall now who it was. I think
Bestor Robinson was one of those who rode in the place, and they
took pictures. It was studied rather carefully.

There weren't a lot of places that weren't in parks; we didn't
want to promote it in parks. There weren't a lot of places that
have sufficient area, slopes facing in the direction where the snow
would lie, and otherwise suitable. Mineral King was picked as omne
of the better sites just in terms of the availability of snow, and
the fact that it was not in a park. There was a certain amoung of
development in Mineral King anyway, although not of the magnitude
involved in a ski resort.

So the club endorsed--I don't recall to what degree it promoted--
but it certainly endorsed and, in some degree, promoted the idea
that Mineral King should be comsidered for a major ski resort.
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Was this tied in at all with the San Gorgonio area? 1I've heard it

said that they were trying to divert the development of San Gorgonio.
Were you aware of that?

Yes, I don't recall whether the two were tied together much, but
there was a situation there where the San Gorgonio [Primitive Area]
was in an area that seemed more needed for other kinds of recreation
and shouldn't have that kind of ski development in it. So, yes, we
did play a major role in trying to protect the San Gorgonio area.
That area was heavily used by Boy Scouts and others in the summer-
time and seemed like an area that should be preserved for touring
skiing and that sort of thing and not for a downhill ski resort.

Were you involved in the reconnaissance of Mineral King?

Yes, we went down there and skied around down there and looked it
over. It was given a lot of study, a lot of thought.* The board
did endorse the idea.** Later on, when the Disneyland people
decided that they would like to be the ones to develop it, it's
true that they did envision a more intemse and larger development
than we had originally contemplated. But there had been some
turnover in the board in the meantime and instead of trying to
influence the magnitude and nature of the development, the board
reversed itself and opposed the development. Not all of a sudden;
this came up in a lot of debate on several occasions.

In the end though the club did reverse itself [May 1965] and
just plain opposed it. There again, whether it was right or wrong
in the first place, it was done very deliberately. It wasn't
done offhandedly, and they went back on a commitment they had made.
I don't feel the commitment was quite as binding as the one in the
case of PG&E because it didn't involve your freezing somebody out
of someplace else and then going back on your deal. It was a matter
of a change of heart as to whether it was a good idea in the first
place.

But nevertheless, the club did reverse itself. T think it
was a case of rather tad faith, and they did so on a split vote.
The board members who originally voted for Mineral King as a
ski resort and who were still on the board, I don't think any of
them changed position. But there were new members on the board.

*See "Winter Sports Possibilities in Mineral King," Sierra Club
Bulletin, June 1949.

**September, 1949, Sierra Club Board of Directors resolved that
"The Sierra Club finds no objection from the standpoint of its
policies to winter sports development in Mineral King as proposed
by the U.S. Forest Service."
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I think some of them did change.

Maybe some changed; I don't recall for sure. I could be wrong
about that. But in any event, there were a number of us who felt
that it should not be reversed.

What about if the question of reversing a vote hadn't been
involved, just the merits of the case? Do you think it would
have been wise to allow Mineral King to be developed?

I think it's arguable either way. I think there are strong
arguments on both sides, so had we not already made a commitment
it's possible I might have been persuaded to change on that. But

I felt that the commitment, since it wasn't a clearcut issue that
we had been wrong, and since we had made a commitment, we shouldn't
reverse it.

You would have voted to try to influence the way that it was
developed.

Yes, to influence how it was done, but not to cancel it. Now,
it's possible that it would have proven to be uneconomic to make
a more limited development such as we originally envisioned.
This is a possibility. But had that proved to be the case, we
wouldn't have been reversing our word because we would still
have been saying that, if it could be done [on a limited scale]
it was a good idea, and merely controlling the degree of impact.
So I don't feel that was as flagrant a thing as the Diablo
Canyon, but I still think it was unwise in terms of the club's
future ability to have credibility in arriving at agreements,
that it would go back on something where in my judgment, at least,
the issue wasn't that strong clearly one-way or the other.

Apparently, Martin Litton made quite a persuasive argument. Do
you recall that?

Oh yes, Martin Litton was very much involved in both of those
reversals.

Did you find his arguments to be persuasive at all? Apparently,
it changed several people's minds.

No. He did change some people's minds, but I didn't find him
persuasive, and I felt that the way he handled himself in the
Diablo Canyon thing was totally dishonorable by my standards.
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Pesticides Policy and the San Luis Drain

Should we talk further about pesticides policy?

Well, we've touched on it a little bit. One of the first places
that came up was when the Central Valley Project was put into the
San Joaquin Valley. Part of the authorized project was to build
a drain to get the salts back out of the valley. It was very
essential that that be done. The Central Valley Project imports
into the San Joaquin Valley about three-quarters of a million
tons a year of salt which otherwise wouldn't be there. It puts

a lot of that water on desert lands that never have been leeched
out by nature, so they pick up more salt.

Where does the salt come from?

This is the salt that is generated by the natural process of
decomposition of soils. That's why the ocean is salty. Over
the last millions of years, the rivers and rains have washed
this salt that is released from the soils as a natural process
down to the ocean. In the state of nature it comes down in a
very dilute form, so that it doesn't bother anything. But then
as more and more water was being used for irrigation and so forth,
the salinity has increased in the Delta. So we export pure
mountain water from Friant Dam to the south, and then, to the
extent that that's replaced, it's replaced with water from the
[Sacramento-San Joaquin] Delta, which is still pretty good water
but it has about seven times as much salt per acre foot as the
water that is being exported. The result is that they import
into the valley a tremendous amount of salt. You put that on
desert lands, as I say, and leech out .the natural salts there.
On the west side of the valley, which is the side involved
primarily, it also leeches out quite a lot of boron, which is
bad for crops.

So it was recognized, when the Central Valley Project was
authorized, that it was going to be necessary to get some of the
salt back out. The valley drain was proposed to pick up not all,
but quite a bit of that salt, and bring it down and put it in the
Delta, in the western end of the delta, at a point where the
natural waters would be a little saltier than the stuff we were
bringing out. So you wouldn't be adding to the salinity at that
point.

Did they call this the valley drain or—-?

I think they called it something else then--the San Luis Drain is
what they called it.
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But there were people in the club who got the idea that these
waters would be loaded with pesticides, and they would be very
poisonous to the [San Francisco]Bay and.that you shouldn't do
that. In the first place, they totally overlooked the fact that
if you don't put in the drain and bring this down, it's going to
come down in the river. So it's going to go out the Delta into
the bay anyway. So by not putting in the drain, you merely
insure that whatever is in there is going to be in the river and
damage the river all the way down.

The club got in and opposed the funding of that authorized
drain so successfully that it hasn't been built yet. The result
is that the San Joaquin River now conveys tremendous loads of
salt coming down from the San Luis service area, and it's
damaging the entire southern Delta and all of the lower San
Joaquin River. There is very little pesticide in most of this.
The saltiest waters are the ones that are picked up in the tile
drains, and the pesticides apparently are pretty well filtered out
before they ever get into it, so that the amount of pesticide
involved is very minor. The salts are primarily calcium carbonates
and calcium sulphates, sodium chlorides, and things of that sort;
they're just natural salts, the same kind of salts you've got in
the ocean and the bay.

To the extent that pesticides are any problem, you merely see
that they are spread all down through the river and the Delta
instead of putting them in [to the Delta] way out where they would
be flushed out in a hurry.

Was this issue started back in the sixties?

Yes, I was still on the board when that came up.

So that was tied in with the general policy relating to pesticides?
Yes, it was about that time. Oh, I can't think of her name now
but some woman who is not a scientist, wrote a story about

terrible pesticides.

Rachel Carson? [Silent Spring (1962)]

Rachel Carson, and made a tremendous impression on Dave and others.
Of course, there was something to what she said. I don't mean to
kiss it off, but it was partly a matter of being greatly exagger-
ated and partly a matter of not being sufficiently selective.

Some of these things are bad, and some are not. You just can't
damn the whole array. Furthermore, if you stop using pesticides,
we'd have to stop doing a lot of eating. We've never fed the
present population of this nation with the amount of agricultural
product and the quality of product that you could raise if you
didn't use any pesticides.
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It's true that we should continue to work to develop biotic
controls, things of that kind. They do work to a limited degree.
In general they take longer to develop, and so usually we have

to use pesticides for some period of time against a given pest.
Then sometimes they are able to develop a little wasp or something
else that will serve the purpose. When that can be done, that's
good. There are some pesticides that should be banned because
they accumulate in the ecological system. But to just damn them
generally doesn't make sense.

Did you feel that this was more of an emotional tack that the club
was taking rather than a scientific one?

Yes, they started getting into things like this where they
weren't technically qualified to understand what we were talking
about, and then they became far too broad and not selective
enough in their criticisms. For a while there the club got into
talking about pesticides and fertilizers as if they were all the
same, and as if they are all bad, as if ammonia that you make in
a plant was different somehow than ammonia that came from a cow's
urine, which isn't true.

What about the argument that the cow's urine has other trace
elements that maybe we don't manufacture when we manufacture
ammonia? Is that wvalid?

I doubt it. TIt's got more salt in it. 1In any event, the question
was whether the ammonia content was bad, not whether there was
something else that might be good. When the club starts getting
into things it doesn't know anything about, it makes foolish
statements.

So this was part of your concern or your reasoning that the club
should stick with issues of scenic resources?

Yes. Now, I don't say that pesticides shouldn't be an issue in
connection with, for example, whether you should spray the
Tuolomne Meadows. But even there, as you will see if you read
my proposed publication policy, they should check out with
qualified professional people whether what they are saying is
technically sound and not just take some emotional stand on the
thing.

To get into whether they should use pesticides in farming in
general, is beyond the capability and proper role of the club.
It's true that if those pesticides get into the natural waterways
and cause problems, that that's not necessarily outside the club's
concern. But in attacking that question, you can see in the case
of the drain that what they did had the effect of making the
river problem worse. So they didn't solve anything.
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They didn't see the larger picture?

They didn't see the larger picture, and the result of their seeing
that it didn't get funded has been tremendous damage to the San
Joaquin River and the southern Delta and to agriculture in the San
Joaquin Valley.

Do you blame the club primarily for the San Luis Drain not going
through, or were there other sources of opposition.

They played a major role in blocking that.

What about other broader issues, such as population or air pollu-
tion, water pollution? Do you see those as more closely related
to the club's proper function?

I think it depends on circumstances. I think that the club, if it
hasn't changed it, does have an appropriate policy on population
which used to be in effect that the club supported measures

which would make the public and government aware of the impact

on scenic values in a country of steadily increasing population.
This population pressure is a problem in terms of defending the
ecology, no question about it. We wouldn't be building houses in
the mountains and having to have all of these power plant dams
and things if we didn't have nearly as many people. We wouldn't
have to have so many irrigation projects, and dams to supply them,
if we didn't have to feed so many people. Mankind does have a
tremendous impact on the ecology of the country, and where that
impinges on those areas of scenic beauty they are a proper role
for the club.

So I think that is proper, but for the club to get into
whether you should be for or against abortion, and what kind of
contraceptives you ought to use, and whether they are given out
to the teenagers, and all that stuff is way too far. But so far
as I am aware, they haven't done much of that.

So I think on the subject of population, so far as I know,
the club has acted sensibly.

And air and water pollution, would you say these were an appro-
priate concern?

There again, it's hard to draw a fine line. I don't think it
would be appropriate for the club to go into too much detail on
that. On the other hand, I think it is appropriate for the club
to educate the public and the government as to the impact on,
for example, the Sierra Nevada of acid rain that results from
coal burning plants that don't have adequate protection against
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the emissions of sulpher dioxide. I think that is a serious
problem. I think it's a proper thing to do, but to just lobby
against coal plants per se regardless of adequate emission controls,
I don't think is proper. I think that it has to be in the
framework of the impact of the resulting air pollution or rain
pollution on those portions of the scenic beauty in the country
that will be impacted by it. Similarly on air pollution.

Where the Club Erred: Scope, Tone, Degree

Okay, that's a good explication of your views, I think. One last
question on this later period in the sixties. I think one thing
that tends to be overlooked, and maybe you disagree with this,
was that there were a lot of areas of agreement on the board,

it seems--the Grand Canyon campaign was going on, the redwoods
campaign, the Cascades, without too much controversy.

I think you'll find that the areas of agreement were pretty much
where the club was sticking to its historic role. There was
never major disagreement on that. It was on these things where
the club was branching out beyond its original scope and beyond
its expertise. The club is expert on the question of scenic

and recreational values of parks and forests and plays a valuable
social role in calling attention to those, educating the public
on those, and wherever that was what it was doing there was no
big problem.

You were in favor of the club's expansion geographically?

Geographically, although I recognized that it would create pressures
and problems, I thought it was worthwhile because it gave more scope
to our effectiveness in those areas where we were expert. After
all, if you are an expert on the Sierra Nevada it doesn't take a

lot of further study to become an expert on other mountain ranges

of the United States. However, I got a bit doubtful about trying

to understand what goes on throughout the world. I think that

gets a little bit presumptuous, but that's a matter of degree.

But so far as expanding geographically the membership and role of
the club throughout the United States, I felt that was a risk

worth taking.

But when they started expanding the subject scope into other
areas than those covered by the bylaws rather directly, it
seemed to me that they were making a mistake. It is being rather
arrogant to think that you can be an expert on everything. But if
you are not an expert on everything, you're going to do foolish
things that will discredit you and diminish your effectiveness in
the area of your expertise.
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Then there was this question, as I said, of the tone, how to
accomplish things, whether by education and persuasion or
whether to try to do it by confrontation; whether it's proper to
impugn people's motives rather than their deeds; whether it is
proper for the club to fail to give its own membership in its
club publication, a knowledge of both sides of controversial
issues--those were places where I felt the club went wrong.

What about the degree, like in Redwood Park?

Well, I think they went overboard there. Yes, I think it's a
difficult thing. Differences of opinion on this I think are
legitimate differences. I don't mean to be critical of anybody
having a different opinion. But one of the problems in the
redwood areas has been that if you protect a little enclave of
redwoods, and then you go ahead and harvest the whole watershed,
you don't stop the erosion problems and so forth. Therefore,
you can lose the place you are trying to protect.

So the club promoted rather successfully preserving the entire
watershed of the redwood areas. But my own feeling is that that
was excessive not in that you don't need to protect those areas
from erosion, but that you don't really have to stop the
harvesting of trees entirely. It's a matter of a methodology of
harvest rather than whether you should harvest them.

I think the club was insensitive to the effect this had on the
sustained economics of an entire region of the country there,
which survived, as the backbone of its economy, on lumbering.
Granted there have been some terrible abuses in the manner of
lumbering in the past, some of the better lumber companies now,
like Weyerhaeuser, are doing great things in developing sustained
yield and doing it in a manner that does not damage--where they
don't lose the soil, where they do reforest. I don't think the
club has really faced up to the fact that it's perfectly possible
to harvest trees just as you harvest corn or cabbage or something
else and do it on a sustained basis.

It would have been more reasonable in my opinion to opt for a
considerably smaller park that wouldn't damage the economy so
much and wouldn't save a lot of trees that nobody is ever going
to look at and instead go in for much more control of the manner
in which the trees were harvested, so that it would protect the
watershed. You did have to protect the watershed, but that's
not the only way to do it.

It sounds as if you do have to do that through legislation because
I don't think the lumber companies would do it on their own.
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Hildebrand: Some of them do, and some don't. The better lumber companies
now are rapidly switching over, like Weyerhaeuser, to sustained
yield lumbering. When a company opts to do that, it has to opt to
protect the soil. So here again, I think the club is reaping
the result of having ridiculed the entire lumber industry,
caricaturized them in [Sierra Club Bulletin] issues like that omne
I mentioned in, I think, September '71 as vicious, selfish people
tearing up the entire country. The club has tended to categorize
whole segments of industry, whole segments of the population, as
being angels or devils to suit their needs, and I think that this
is coming home to roost on them.

H#

Lage: Did you take any part in the election of 1969 where Brower was
defeated for the board?

Hildebrand: Oh yes, I was among a good many people, longtime club members and
past presidents and other officers of the club, who felt that if
Dave was elected to the board and perhaps then became president
of the board, the character of the Sierra Club would then become
like some other organizations where you merely raise money to
support a man in whatever he wants to do. We didn't think that
would be good at all, and we opposed it, much as we liked Brower
personally, and we did succeed.

Lage: So you did some election campaigning and--

Hildebrand: Yes, you will find some literature that bears the name of myself
along with numerous other past presidents and other influential
people in the club who opposed that.

Lage: [You are no longer a member of the Sierra Club. When did you
discontinue your membership, and why?

Hildebrand: I don't remember the year, but it must have been in the early
'70s. It was a year or two before the Proposition 17 (New Melones)
issue, I believe. The reasons were that I did not want to be
associated with a club whose conduct and methods I felt were
often improper and which had expanded its coverage of issues
beyond what I thought proper. I did so regretfully. I didn't
resign. I just stopped renewing my membership. A.H., June 24,
1981]
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V WATER POLICY ISSUES IN THE SACRAMENTO-SAN JOAQUIN DELTA

New Melones Dam: White Water or Flood Control and Water Supply?

Lage: Let's turn now--you mentioned to me that you were involved in delta
water issues--I assume this is partly in your capacity as a
farmer in this area.

Hildebrand: Yes, that is what got me involved in it, although I regard it as
not just to protect my own interest as a farmer. Our farm isn't
that big,and I won't be here twenty, thirty years from now anyway.
Some of these things are damages that take place over a long
period of time but which, once they take place, are almost
irreversible. So the intensity of my interest in this would be
a lot less if I was just worrying about my personal affairs.

It's my feeling that this is a very serious thing for the state
as a whole and particularly for northern Califormnia.

There are several components of it. The one that involved
the major direct clash with the club was the New Melones project
The club there has backed the rafters who want to preserve the
nine miles of white water in the Stanislaus River above the dam
site, which would be flooded by the dam when the dam is full.
They have looked at that white water as being so important that
all other factors can be disregarded, in effect, including the
fact that that's not a natural white water. That is white water
that wouldn't be there in the summer except for the Beardsley
Dam. These rafts are riding on the outflow of the power plant
at the Beardsley Dam in the summer and fall of the year. 1In a
natural state they would have some very high flows in the spring
which would be too great for their rafts, and then they would
have inadequate flows, but that dam provides the control which
enables them to have this white water.

Now, there are trade-offs in anything you do, and I don't
take pleasure in flooding that white water because whether it is
artificial or not, I guess it's very nice. And there is consider-
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able beauty to the canyon, although most of that canyon won't be
submerged. It would only be the narrow bottom of it, so that so
far as witnessing the beauty of the canyon, a lot of that will be
done by more people on flat water boats than on rafts. But still,
it does involve flooding the bottom of a beautiful canyon. So
there are some minuses, there is no question about it. But even
if you view it solely from an ecological point of view, the club
has refused to give any credence to the downstream ecological
benefits, and by the club, I mean the club as a whole. The
Stanislaus County club members have been in favor of the project.

Oh, they have?

Yes, they were practically thrown out of the club for doing so.
But those people and the farmers along the lower Stanislaus worked
at great lengths with the Corps of Engineers to see that the
project was designed so as to be a major ecological benefit and
recreational benefit to the fifty miles of river downstream from
the dam, and there is a further benefit to about seventy-five
miles of channel in the southern delta. It will be a big benefit
to the fishery. It will be a tremendous benefit in terms of

canoe activities, the poor man's boating activities. This rafting
is pretty expensive you know.

The project includes a string of twelve parks as part of the
project, down along the lower Stanislaus which would be where you
could launch your boat at onme little launching park and take it
out downstream somewhere. It would be a great thing recreationally
and particularly for those people who can't afford to go run the
white water.

There will be protection of the wildlife habitat along the
river. So there are some rather substantial benefits downstream
of the dam which are a trade-off, even ecologically, for the nine
miles that you flood upstream. It's hard for me to understand
how the club can be so supportive of similar downstream benefits
on the American River below the Folsom Dam, and then totally
ignore those benefits that are potentially available from the
use of the Melones Dam. It seems highly inconsistent to me.

How did you come to your interest in the New Melones Project?

Of course, we do have an interest relative to our farm here
because we get flooded here from time to time, and a lot of that
flood water comes down the Stanislaus. One of the major purposes
of this dam is flood control, so we don't flood the farms all
along the lower Stanislaus and in the southern delta--many, many
thousands of acres.

Does that happen with regularity?
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Oh, yes, quite frequently. Every time it happens, it not only
drowns the crops and causes a lot of damage to the farms with a
resultant loss in food production, but it also drowns all of the
wildlife up and down the river. So it's devastating to the little
foxes and all the other nice little wildlife that we have. We
have our little wildlife habitat areas in our farm here. When
the riverside habitat is underwater, it isn't the way it was a
hundred years ago where those animals could go back into the
country somewhere because now the human population pressue has
wiped out all of the kind of habitat that is elsewhere. So you
flood them out of these habitat areas along the river, and they
have no place to go. It 1is very devastating--little cottontail
rabbits and all of these things. The club just refuses to pay
any attention to that.

Now then, also, California feeds about twenty-five percent of
the table food for the entire nation, including about fifty
percent of the vegetables for the entire nation and about
eighty-five percent of the processed tomatoes. A lot of that
food is produced in San Joaquin County here and in the southern
delta. But in producing this food, the state 1s overdrafting its
ground waters by about a million and a half acre-feet a year. So
we can't go on producing at the present level of food, let alone
provide more food for a larger population, unless we stop over-
drafting those ground waters.

So there is a big need in this state to provide enough
surface water so that, combined with the sustained yield of the
ground waters, we can go on feeding the population. The New
Melones Dam is important in contributing a worthwhile amount of
water toward that end.

You can't turn the clock back. We've got all of these people
to feed. They are still coming. So it's not realistic to say,
"Oh, well, we should just stop pumping this water out of our
wells and stop producing the food wé're going to eat." There
are a few zealots who wouldn't mind just eating barley, I guess,
but in general it's the vegetables that require the best quality
of water and a lot of it. You can grow cotton on pretty salty
water, but then we don't all want to go around nude either. So
there is a pretty good case for this.
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Opposing the Sierra Club on the Stanislaus Wild River
Initiative, 1974

Hildebrand: Now, the club in its tunnel vision has only looked at the white
water side of the problem. It would not acquaint its own
membership with these other things I am telling you about. I
was a scheduled speaker to go down to talk to the Southern
California Conservation Committee or the southern section of the
conservation committee, whatever they call it now, during the
period when this was going to come before the electorate, I
believe it was, in Proposition 17 which would have stopped the
New Melones Project. I don't think I have ever been treated so
rudely in my life. Even though I was a scheduled speaker, the
chairman said in no uncertain terms when I was introduced--and I
wasn't introduced until they dragged the thing out as long as
they could late into the evening--told them that they were not
to be influenced by anything that I might say--the club had
already made up its mind--and to pay no attention to me. That's
the way I was introduced. I said that I had never had that kind
of an introduction before, but I would nevertheless say what I
had come to say. I was treated rudely. My character was attacked.
It was just an uncivilized kind of a meeting and, it evidences the
biased attitude of the club at this time.

Nate Clark, who was at the meeting gave me strong support,
but no one else defended me or objected to the uncivilized
conduct. Incidentally, I was a member of the southern conser-
vation committee when I was living in Whittier.

Lage: Were you a spokesman of this agency you were a member of, the
South Delta Water Agency, or were you speaking as an individual?

Hildebrand: I was on sort of a committee to oppose the passage of Proposition
17. However, I guess I was primarily doing that as a spokesman
for the Delta Water Users Association.

Lage: Were you introduced also as a past president of the Sierra Club?

Hildebrand: Yes, and one of the things that they were livid about was that in

talking elsewhere, I had made no bones about the fact that I was
a past president of the Sierra Club. I felt that I needed to
indicate that I had some credentials for having some opinion on
ecological matters when I was going to talk about the ecological
downstream benefits. As long as I made it clear that I was a
past president, there was nothing dishonest about it. It was
quite clear, I'm sure, to every audience I spoke to that I was
not speaking for the Sierra Club, I was disagreeing with them.

So I saw nothing improper about that.
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One flap that was unfortunate, and that they chose to make a
particular big thing about, was that I was asked to be a signator
of the ballot argument against Proposition 17. Those who
arranged this originally planned to indicate on the ballot
argument that one of my credentials was that I was a past
president of the Sierra Club. The other side had planned to do
the same thing, and one of their signators was going to be

shown as a past president of something or other, I've forgotten
just what it was. Somebody in Sacramento ruled that a past title
could not be put on the ballot argument. So both of those were
struck off and whoever struck it off just substituted "member of
the Sierra Club" which I was not. At that time, I had already
dropped my membership in the club.

That was wrong and when I found out about it--I didn't know
anything about it, I still don't know who did it--I tried
unsuccessfully to get it reworded.

Larry Moss [then Sierra Club associate conservation director and
later deputy director of the California Department of Natural
Resources] told him.

Yes, he called up and told me about it. I told him I didn't know
a thing about it, and I would do everything I could to get it off.
I solicited his help in getting it off because it hadn't been
printed yet. I thought we had arranged to get it off, but it did
stay on there. That was a misrepresentation because I was not a
member. But they refused to accept my explanation that I had
nothing to do with it, that I didn't know about it, and that I
had done my best to get it off. I even contacted a number of
newspapers and TV stations to explain to them that that was a
mistake.

At this meeting they wouldn't accept that. They claimed that
I had done this deliberately as a misrepresentation, and that it
was a terrible thing. They barked at me that anyone who was a
farmer was ipso facto obviously against conservation.

There are a lot of members of the Sierra Club with different
points of view.

That's right, they tried to make it appear as if the Sierra Club
membership was entirely opposed to that thing. Actually, there
were a number of other past presidents and officers who voted the
same way I did. As we said, the people in the Modesto area, who
had done a great deal of work to get this fine downstream
ecological situation set up, were practically ostracized from the
club just as I was for refusing to support it.
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Do you recall the date of that proposition?

Proposition 17, I don't remember that [1974].

It was to make the Stanislaus a wild river.

The revealing thing about that is that they didn't propose to
make the north fork, which is wild, a wild river. They only
wanted to do the south fork,, which has dams on it, to maintain
their white water.

The Peripheral Canal: Threat to Delta Water

Is there any other area of water policy that we should talk about?

Well, just very briefly there is, of course, this Peripheral Canal
controversy. The club for some time supported that, largely due
to the persuasion, I think, of Larry Moss. The Environmental
Defense Fund, and the Friends of the Earth have always opposed it,
properly in my opinion. They even held an election in the Sierra
Club about whether the board whould take this position or not.
When the membership voted that they should oppose the canal, the
board said, "Oh, that's just advisory. We'll go on; we know
best."

Were you in opposition to the Peripheral Canal?

Oh, very much so because what the canal does is connect the
Sacramento River to Los Angeles so that in a dry year you can

pick up the entire Sacramento River and ship it out and leave
nothing in the [Sacramento-San Joaquin]Delta-[San Franciscc] Bay
estuary. Politics being what they are, with a majority of the
vote south of the Tehachapis, that's what you can expect to happen.
The only more or less valid argument--other than the capability

of the canal to do that--the only other valid argument for the
canal versus a largely open channel system is for a modest
difference in the central delta fishery.

When the Central Valley Project was installed, they put a
connection through from the Sacramento River through to the
Mokelumne River chamnel in the central delta. But when the state
water project came along and added their export pumps, they made
no provision for getting the water across the delta without
sucking water down around Suisun Bay and dragging salt water up
into the delta. So now they want to build the canal to correct
the damage they did when all you really need to do is to augment
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or parallel in some way or other this connection from the
Sacramento River into the central delta. It needs to be some-
what larger than what's there now. You can either boost through
with pumps on the facility that is already there or you could
put another short canal to get through there. You do have to do
that. There is no question about it. The damage from not doing
it is considerable. But if you do that, which is a fraction of
the cost of a Peripheral Canal, you correct the fish problem in
the northern delta and the western delta. Neither plan does

anything for the devastated fishing in the southern deltawhich was
ruined by the CVP.

The only difference between the two alternatives, as
distinguished from doing nothing, is the central delta fishery,
and.it's almost exclusively the striped bass in the central delta.
The fish experts that I have listened to debate this, seem to
differ in their judgments on what the effect on the striped
bass in the central delta might be. They thought it could make
a difference in the range of ten to twenty-five percent or some-
thing like that. But you can hatch striped bass in hatcheries
for a fraction of the cost of the Peripheral Canal. By using
open channels in the central delta area you guarantee that the
delta will always be protected because the water for export to
the south and the water for the delta come out of the same pond.
So if they take too much water, they salt their own pumps up;
they don't just salt the delta up.

That sounds like a better protection than a legislative--

Oh yes, any piece of paper can be gotten around. So that gives

us a physical protection that the delta will not be salted up

if you fix it so the water comes out of the same pond. Furthermore,
it's vastly cheaper. So the real argument, of couse, is the one
that they can't voice publicly and that is that by having the

full canal, they can take the whole works. This thing has been
grossly misrepresented. But Larry Moss particularly, and perhaps

a few other Sierra Club people who are very cozy with the Jerry
Brown people, supported the canal initially and have never given

it up. Larry Moss still supports the canal.

Now, here is a case where you might wish them to reverse their
earlier position.

I think they are in the process of doing it. They have gone
neutral.

The membership spoke; they voted against it.
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Yes, the membership said they ought to reverse it, in spite of
the fact that they may never have heard the other side of the
story from the club.

I thought it was ironic that a lot of the people in the club who
had opposed the Diablo Canyon referendum, like Will Siri, were
adament in favor of this policy change on the Peripheral Canal,
and supported the same kind of membership referendum on the
canal issue.

I don't think there was anything dishonorable about the club
changing its position on the Peripheral Canal because they never
made a deal. They never said, "If you do this, we'll do this."”

Right, they just took a position.

Yes, they just took a position, and nothing has ever happened.

It hasn't been built. The issue is still open. So there is
nothing dishonorable about their changing their minds, particu-
larly since they had a vote of their own electorate that said
they should, whereas in the Diablo Canyon case, they had made a
trade-off. They had agreed to a trade-off, and then they reneged
on the deal. That's different.

Now, I understand that the Sierra Club has representatives
attending the meetings of the coalition against the canal on the
assumption that the club is going to oppose it [the canal].

Mike Storper from the Friends of the Earth and Thomas Graff from
the Environmental Defense Fund have opposed the canal all the
time.

Is your Delta Water Users Association also in opposition?

Oh yes, very much. From the delta's point of view, as
distinguished from the state as a whole, there is also the
problem that the canal would cause tremendous land damage. It
would wipe out about six thousand acres of prime agricultural
land in the delta directly. It's just a great big unlined dirt
ditch. It will cause a tremendous amount of seepage. You could
easily lose another twenty or thirty thousand acres of prime
agricultural land from seepage. It will cause flood problems
because it in effect divides the delta into two parts. It
doesn't really go around the delta. It goes across the delta.
There would be about two hundred thousand acres and about a
hundred miles of channel on what would be the upstream side of
the canal. They plan to block off a whole lot of natural
channels, including Middle River, so that in major rain floods,
there will be great difficulty in the flood waters getting across
the canal alignment. It could easily back water up and flood
vast areas including parts of Stockton and up through here.
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Hildebrand: So there are many objections to it. 1It's a complicated problem.
But how the club could ever have supported the canal is beyond
me. I doesn't make semse at all.

Lage: I think it's a very complicated issue--the way the club happened
not to oppose the Peripheral Canal.

Hildebrand: It is a complicated issue, yes.

Lage: Is there anything else we should add? I think we have about
covered everything we planned.

Hildebrand: I think that's about it.

Transcriber: Michelle Stafford
Final Typist: Nicole Bouché
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TAPE GUIDE -- Alexander Hildebrand

Date of Interview: March 14, 1981
tape 1, side A [side B not recorded]
tape 2, side A
insert from tape 2, side B
resume tape 2, side A
tape 2, side B
tape 3, side A [side B not recorded]
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Route 2, Box 137-L
Manteca, California 95336
January 19, 1966

Michael Mc Closkey, Conservation LCirector
Sierra Club

1050 Mills Tower

San Franclisco, California

Dear Mike:

I have Jjust received and read with interest your
menmorsndum dated November 4 with your suggested volicy on
"urban amenities".

As you know, I heartily approve of your lucid efforts
to help the board formulate general policy, and implementation
guldelines. Furthermore, I am in personal sympathy, in
principle, with efforts to improve “urban amenities",.

However, I belleve there are reasons why the Club
should move further into this area only after very careful
analysis of its complexity. This should lead to a more
precisely defined scope and to guidelines regquiring adequate
knowledge of all sides of a specific case and avolding
non-conservation social issues before pressing for actioqx
other than carerful consideération and public information.,

I offer the following coumments as food for thought:

l. Unless the by=laws are changed (and I don't suggest
a change) the Club!s interest should be limited
to those "urban amenities" which clearly relate to
scenic resources, natural ecology and willderness.
This seems to me to cover most urbsn billboards,
urban highway Jjunkyards, highway and power line
routing in urtan areas, pecllution of air and
natural open water, and open space preservation by
avpropriate means. I believe that things llike
architectural standards, historic preservetion, and
cluster zoning usually lie on the fringes of
desireable Club scope and in¥olve meny major
considerations that are far beyond our scope and
competence,

2., Most of the Club's conservation work has related
to the zoning of existing public lands for parks
and wilderness, or to the acquisition of large
undeveloped blocks of land for federal or state
parks. The conflicts involved have largely been
with the desires of others to exploit these lands
for comnercial purposes such as lumbering, mining,
and water power, or for motorized recreation such as
power voats, ski lifts, motor scooters, or the use
of preliferating roads. In these cases conservation-
1sts often argue that they should urge scenic and
ecological preservation and should not concern
themselves with the case agalinst preservation.
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The pros and cons of "urban amenities" can be
much more involved, and the proposed "improvement"
may be only minor at great cost, or directionally
debatable, or technlically prohititive, or attalnacle
only at the expense of basic private rightsy or
soclal change, In the case of appropriate "urban
amenitlies" I belleve the Club could nearly always
press rfor careful study and public disclosure
of the case for "improvement" of an™urban amenity",
But to press for action on a purist basis could,
at times be technically or socially either wrong
or doubtful and could even open the Club to effective
and daraging ridicule,

It is easy to agree that people should be "good",
but it is not easy to agree on what constltutes
being "good"™ or how people should be made to be
"good", Similarly it 1s easy to azgree that "urban
amenitlies" should be improved, but what constitutes
"improvement" and how should it be achieved? What
constitutes improved architecture; what historic
items are worth preserving; what constituents and
quantities in water constitute pollution; 1is it
worthwhile burying power lines at great cost if one
still sees government gralin silos, or factories, or
pink apartment houses or forests of TV aerials?

If 1t 1is clearly desireatle to make a glven improve-
ment there 1s still the question of How it is
accomplished and one can not loglcally press for
action without espdsing a method as being approptiate.
Who will pay for it and care for 1t and on what

basls should injured parties be compensated? ror
example, should the public be given access to streams
flowing through private lands or should the area
merely be zoned for scenic preservation with ad justed
assessed evaluation? If public access 1s the cholse,
who will pick up the inevitable litter; control the
shooting and water pollution and fires and trespass
on ad jacent land? What sbout the rights of lecal
residents who are subjected to noise, trespass,

loss of water rli:hts, loss of property and liveli-
hood, and loss of the atmosphere for which they

came to live there? Similar problems arise in

other "green belts" What atout the private and
social implications of saying that whenever a man
invests his 1life'’s savings in some open space land

he runs a risk that the public or its barmaucrats

may decide to confiscate it, divide it, or restrict
his right to earn a living from it or enjoy it on

the assumption that they know tetter than he what
constitutes wise use,
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I request that these reservations be brought to the
attention of those who received the proposal, but would be
hapoy to discuss them further with you first, if time permits,
before the board meeting in liarch.

With best regards,

Sincerely,

Alex, Hildebrand
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INTRODUCTION

Mankind was given the art of speech
so that his thoughts could be hidden.

—=Voltaire

Words can obscure thoughts, but words can also be played with, and

illustrated. Illustrations can also be described with words. Now and then
a pairing of the two will produce something that disappears in the absence
of either. A photo-journalist can make pictures that speak for themselves.
A journalist who masters prose can conjure up pictures with his words.
And then there is Martin Litton, who combines the best of both worlds and
adds the others. He can write journalese, if he must, as well as prose.
He can also make photographs, depending upon need, that will tell stories,
or incite dreams.

That's not all. Years ago, editing Wartime Shipyard at the University
of California Press, I played with words for a subtitle and came up with
"The Din of Inequity" and I am reminded of it when I think about Inequity
and Martin Litton. Some people get the kudos and others, out of inequity,
don't. Martin Litton is due most of those addressed to me in error: more
years than I will ever admit, he has been my conservation conscience.

I had to know him before I could accept him as a conscience, and knowing
him must have had its beginnings when I saw what the Los Angeles Times let
him publish when he was in its Circulation Department. I remember a Martin
Litton full-page spread, with his text and his illustrations, on what was
going wrong in Kings Canyon National Park. Since the battle for the park
had been my first, I was interested. When he came up with a spread on the
threat to Dinosaur National Monument, where the Bureau of Reclamation was
convinced it must build Echo Park and Split Mountain dams in a little-known
unit of the National Park System, I got on the telephone to Los Angeles.

We began at once to exploit Martin's ability with lens and words. We
didn't have much photographic coverage of Dinosaur at the time. The National
Park Service photographs were for record, not for interpretation; Martin's
were vice versa. Just before the Sierra Club and I were inundated in the
dam controversy, a respected officer of the club, Walter Huber, said that
Dinosaur was mostly sagebrush. Park Service Director Newton B. Drury, over-
whelmed by the Bureau of Reclamation's political muscle within the Department
of the Interior, had said, "Dinosaur is a dead duck." Although dinosaurs are
long gone, their monument is still very much alive.
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If you look over the illustrations in the battle to save Dinosaur
National Monument, you will find Charles Eggert's color films, "This Is
Dinosaur" and "Wilderness River Trail," Philip Hyde's beautiful work in
black and white, and Martin Litton's 16mm color, 4x5 color, and black and
white from cameras he happened to be carrying in battery, along with an
eye and ear that missed nothing.

That was the beginning, but only the beginning. The proper photo-
history of Martin Litton, with accompanying legends, could occupy many
volumes. He had begun to photograph intensively pretty much on his own.
Then the day came when Sunset Magazine was looking for a new travel editor,
asked me for names, got only one, and took Martin on. Sunset was never
particularly eager to be activist, and Martin was never eager at all not
to be. Whenever he could add Message to the magazine's front travel section,
there it was. If there was a piece of American environment that had
problems, Martin found out about it, wrote about it, photographed it from
the surface or, with a hand on the stick, from the air. Sometimes he could
use his own name. At other times, he was Clyde Thomas or Homer Gasquez.

So you have to go through numberless publications and add all three names
up to appreciate the aggregate retrospective of Martin Litton.

Even that won't tell it all. Baldly, boldly, but with his permission,
I used his lines in a Sierra Club film, "Wilderness Alps of Stehekin,"
where the prose is its very best in discussing the Olympic rain forest.
His words and his color footage are gems in the club's Grand Canyon film.
The Dinosaur spreads in the Sierra Club Bulletin abound with his work, and
so does the Sierra Club book, in which, by intent, the club is nowhere
named (nor am I) published by Alfred Knopf--This Is Dinosaur: Echo Park
Country and Its Magic Rivers, edited by Wallace Stegner.

One year the Sierra Club directors, having voted for Grand Canyon dams
and a year later reversed themselves, were ready to re-reverse. Martin's
knowledge and eloquence stopped them. They were ready to go for the wrong
Redwood National Park. It was Martin who knew where the best redwoods were,
who had the creativity to propose a comprehensive Redwood National Park that
would have been a monument to conservation genius. We didn't get it because
organizational jealousies within the conservation movement--one of the major
threats to environment--got in the way. It was Martin who knew where the
gentle wilderness was on the Kern Plateau--wilderness that should have been
added (and its remmants should still be added) to Sequoia National Park.
"O0ld-boy" conservationist trades got in the way. t was Martin, alas, who
happened to be in Bagdad when the Sierra Club directors voted, without seeing
it, to accept Diablo Canyon as an alternate site for the reactor proposed to
be built at Nipomo Dunes. Had he been in San Francisco instead, a different
history would have been written.

How do I know? I don't, of course. But I did see how his eloquence
brought forth audience applause that reversed what the Sierra Club directors
were about to do to Marble Gorge of the Grand Canyon. I also know how,
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when the club's board was discussing what to do at Mineral King with respect
to Walt Disney's proposed ski development, and when I myself had wobbled and
was about to go along, it was Martin who got me to reverse myself right there
on the spot, in front of everybody.

In the conservation movement we keep trying to save places, and, often
enough to keep our spirits up, we succeed--for the time being. For example,
most of us think the Grand Canyon 1is safe from dams, or perhaps worse.

It isn't. And if Martin Litton calls you up to save it from whatever the
latest threat is, settle down and hear him out. You will be enthralled,
informed, involved, and can help save it again.

David R. Brower

March 1982
Berkeley, California
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INTERVIEW HISTORY

In the series of interviews of Sierra Club leaders from the 1950s to the
1970s, Martin Litton represents the "purist" environmental viewpoint. At key
points in the 1960s, his was the persuasive voice on the Sierra Club Board
of Directors urging a firmer stand for the protection of California's coastal
redwoods, the Mineral King Valley, the untouched coastline at Diablo Canyon,
and the Grand Canyon.

Throughout the sixties and into the seventies, Litton's voice on the
board proclaimed, sometimes with a ferocity that alienated the more tactful
old-guard leaders, the doctrines that we see echoed equally eloquently in
this oral hitory interview--the uncompromising defense of wilderness and areas
of scenic beauty, wherever they remain unscarred by man's intrusions. On
several key issues his words were decisive in bringing the club around to its
now well-accepted decicions--to work for a large Redwood National Park on
Redwood Creek; to fight against all dams in the Grand Canyon; and to oppose
ski development at Mineral King. Sometimes, as on the Diablo Canyon issue,
his point of view did not prevail.

Litton's oral history recounts the circumstances of, and Litton's role
in, these controversial conservation campaigns. The elucidation of his purist
views and his thoughts on campaign strategies--never ask for what's "reasonable,"
only for what's right--are of particular interest here, as are the insights
into the evolution of his environmental philosophy and its connection with
broader social and political outlooks.

Two lengthy interview sessions with Mr. Litton were conducted at The
Bancroft Library in Berkeley in December 1981 and February 1982. In response
to a request for his relevant papers, he appeared at the first interview with
two suitcases and several boxes full of documents relating to his work in the
Sierra Club. These included examples of his magnificent color photographs,
which have had a prominent place in Sierra Club books and Bulletins and in
many conservation campaigns.

He was fully cooperative in the interview process and fully candid, as
those who know him might expect, in his assessments of events and their
principal actors. Although Mr. Litton curbed his effusive style as much as
possible to speak to the agreed upon interview outline, still his enthusiasm
for his cause and his persuasive voice is apparent, even on the written page.
The transcript was edited for clarity and continuity, but no substansive
changes were made. Tapes of the interview, along with Mr. Litton's papers and
photographs, are available at The Bancroft Library.

Ann Lage

March 31, 1982 Interviewer

Regional Oral History Office
The Bancroft Library
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I LIFE IN CALIFORNIA FROM THE 1920s THROUGH THE 1940s
[Interview 1: December 10, 1980]##

Growing Up in Inglewood, California: Family Life, Outings, and
Early Concern for the Disappearing Frontier

We want to talk today about how you became interested in conservation,
what there might have been in your personal background that developed
the strong conservation feelings that you have. Can you think of
what may have been important experiences?

I think it was my childhood. In my early teens, I began to worry
about how much there was on the road maps, and what a terrible maze
there was. There was no frontier left. I think we've all experienced
something of that; you looked at a map and there were too many roads.
0f course, then there were only about one-tenth of the roads that
there are now, and even then there wasn't much left of this romantic
world that we lived in. I didn't want to see the frontier disappear.
I wanted there to be some wild country out there for me to go to.
That's a view that you change, I think, as time goes on. Now it
doesn't matter whether we get into it or not, as long as it's there.
That's the most important thing.

Where did you grow up that created this impression?

I was born in Los Angeles on February 13, 1917, and I grew up in
southern California near Los Angeles in Inglewood, which was then

a quite separate town. You went on a streetcar to get to the city,
and there was nothing between you and it. There was a town here and

##This symbol indicates that a tape or a segment of a tape has
begun or ended. For a guide to the tapes see page 113.
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a town there, and now they've all merged. We were about eight miles
from the ocean, and to go to the ocean we would hike cross-country
right through the bean fields and the barley fields, even as little
kids.

Is that something all the little kids did, or was it something that
just your family did?

Oh, yes, a lot of kids did it. Eventually, when we were old enough
to have bicycles, we would ride our bicycles because there were some
streets that went clear out. For example, Manchester Boulevard was
a double concrete road built just before the Depression, and it was
all beautifully done with curbs and divider strips and everything,
and it went straight out to the ocean. Then along came the Depression,
and nobody ever built a house anywhere near it, and it just stayed
there with the weeds coming up, and it made a great bike path out

to Palisades del Rey. That's the area where, afterwards, they built
lots of houses, good ones, along the crest of the cliffs. Now they
have all been shaken down by the jets going over, from LAX. As you
know, the whole area is abandoned, and no one lives there anymore.

My father was a veterinarian, and I would go with him sometimes.
Most of his work was on large animals--cows and horses and mules and
goats. The land where the Los Angeles International Airport is now
belonged to a well~known rancher who held one of the old Spanish
grants. His name was Andrew Bennett. My father would go and work
on his mules or whatever, and I still have snapshots that I made of
spans of horses standing with the big threshers as they churned up-
the lima beans, threw the chaff out, and saved the beans. That was
kind of dramatic.

Did your family travel or camp?

No, my family didn't travel, but there used to be a ritual that
everyone went through: the Sunday afternoon drive. My mother kind
of kept me going to church except on rare occasions when we had
something to do for the whole day. I couldn't wait for 12:15 when
the benediction would come, and we'd all run home, have dinner at
noon, and then go on the Sunday drive. I would be out there, even
as a little kid, polishing up the car windows so we could see better.
The place where my father wanted to go wasn't always where I wanted
to go. I remember it was always quite an experience, even though I
had been over the ground again and again. I got very interested in
trees. Of course, on the coastal plain down there almost everything
that's taller than a bush is a eucalyptus tree or a palm tree because
that's what grew [chuckles], and the choice wasn't great.

So it was really a tremendous thrill to go up into the mountains
as far as, say, Lake Arrowhead, where there was a pine forest that
we never saw in the lowlands. We finally got around to going to



Litton: Yosemite [in 1931]. I may have been fourteen or fifteen years old.
I was in ecstasy for the whole month. You'd camp there for a month
and nobody cared.

You set up your camp and put your ropes around a quarter of an
acre, hang blankets or sheets or something, and you had it all to
yourself. We didn't realize it, but we were part of what was going
to become a problem. But it hadn't become a problem then.

My cousins lived in northern California, my uncle (my mother's
brother), her uncles and so forth. The whole family was in northern
California except my mother. She had met my father when he became a
veterinarian, going through San Francisco Veterinary College (the
college doesn't exist anymore). My mother and father moved to
southern California. My cousins, their whole family, would go to
Yosemite and spend the entire summer there. Dad and my uncle would
drive up on weekends and spend the weekends with us and go back to
work during the week. When I went to Yosemite with my mother and my
brother and sisters, we camped with my cousin's family for a month.
It was quite a long time, but we never got tired of it. There was
always something to do. Then my father came up and picked us up in
the Willys-Knight and drove us home.

I never think how old I am until I catch sight of myself in a
mirror, but this does go back a little. In the twenties California
was really wonderful, and we knew it. We weren't looking for something
better. That was imposed on us as a result of World War II, I think,
when everybody took a look at California and decided they'd come back
and live here forever.

Kids on the [San Francisco] peninsula, all around that part of
the bay, would spend their summers working. They would get summer
jobs, most of them, and the big summer job was cutting cots. This
was the big apricot growing area. Apricots were dried. Practically
all of them were put out on trays to dry. The apricots were opened,
and the stones or pits were taken out of them by kids. The apricots
would come in by the ton, and here would be all of us kids standing
there and cutting them open and putting them on the trays. Then the
apricots would go into the ovens where they would get sulphur dioxide
burned under them to kill the parasites or whatever. I don't know
what that was for, to make them dry better without rotting, I guess.
I think they still do that.

You could eat all the apricots you wanted. Generally, you ate
a lot of them the first day [laughs], and then from then on you never

ate another apricot!

Lage: Did you come up to work on the peninsula?
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We would come up to the peninsula [1916-28] to spend maybe a month
or six weeks with our cousins. We would get these jobs, and the
pay was one cent per lug box for doing this. You realize if you
were real good at it and worked diligently from dawn 'til dusk--
they didn't worry about child labor then, you were doing it because
you wanted to, you wanted to earn some money--you could do fifteen
lug boxes in a day if you were fast, and then you had fifteen cents.
Well, you could go to the movies that night and still have a nickel
left over! [laughter]

It does make you realize how times have changed!

Yes, but it was so nice because the world was stable. You didn't
have to think about inflation because there wasn't any. Your money
was going to be worth as much the next year as it was then. People
talk about the Depression, and I don't remember it as a bad time at
all. Politically, of course, it made a lot of hay to make it a bad
time because it gave saviors a chance to come along and save us all
from it.

Did your own family not experience a lot of difficulty during the
Depression?

Everybody slumped together. I don't remember that we were ever
deprived of anything. My father was in business for himself, being

a horse doctor. Eventually he was a dog and cat doctor as the times
changed. We had people who were on what was called "relief" then.

We knew people who were on relief, and the way they were on relief
was that they would get food; that is, canned food was given out.

We never had any relief food, but I remember that the relief cams
never had any labels on them, so they were different from the cams in
our house which had labels.

When we would come north to spend the time with our cousins, we
came on the train. Then there was a train from Los Angeles up
through Palmdale, Mojave, across the Tehachapi Mountains. There
was more than one train per day. The trains went faster then than
they do now. I don't know why they can't make the trains as good
as they used to be. We would come on a night train called the Owl,
the Southern Pacific Owl. It didn't stop at Martinez or Oakland or
Richmond, but came right across the bay into San Francisco on a ship.
We always had sleepers, everybody did, and the fare was under ten
dollars. Very often when we would wake up in the morning, we would
already be on the ferry boat, still in bed in the Pullman.

Do you mean the entire train?
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The whole train went on, and it was taken in several parallel
sections so that it wouldn't be the whole length of the train. The
Southern Pacific had ferries. They had ferries right up to the
last for people and not cars, right up to the last of the ferries
where they would bring commuters over without their cars. Yes,

the whole train would go on the ferry boat. I remember we used to
have to get dressed during the time the ferry was crossing because
it would be early in the morning, and the porter would be out there
shuffling around and putting our bags in the vestibule.

I remember waking up in the morning, and what had awakened me
was probably the shunting of the train onto the ship. The ferry
boats came right into the Ferry Building. You got off and there you
were, right in the middle of San Francisco. There is nothing to
compare with that now. I mean that kind of service doesn't exist.
Can you imagine if the airlines could somehow figure out a way to
get you downtown! But the train did, and now we've got this Third
and Townsend business [the Southern Pacific depot in San Francisco]
down in the worst possible place, and that's the best service we seem
to have been able to develop.

So things aren't necessarily improving from the way you look at it?
g

No, I don't think the world has improved since Adam and Eve. That's
when we started our downfall! [laughs] Even in the Bible it tells
you that.

You say that when you were a teenager you were aware that the roads
were taking over the wilderness.

Yes, in fact, that's why we started that club that I told you about,
California Trails, to try to stop that. One of them we succeeded
in stopping; that's the Lone Pine Road from Porterville across the
southern Sierra to Lone Pine. That area is now the Golden Trout

Wilderness, which I have been working on since I was seventeen years
old.

What time period are we talking about now for the California Trails?

That was 1937. I was already in college then, and several other
fellows did this with me. One of them was Norman Padgett, who died
recently after a career as the head of director of recreational
activities at UCLA [University of California at Los Angeles]. We
were afraid the wilderness was all going to be gone, and yet there
was a tremendous amount of it then compared to what there is now.

A friend of mine and I, when we were in our mid-teens, went to
climb Mount Whitney. We took twelve days to do it. We went from the

south, and there wasn't any easier way then. The road up the canyon
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that takes you so close to it now wasn't there then. We didn't see
another person the whole time. Imagine that on Mount Whitney now!
[laughter] There are two hundred people on Labor Day.

Did you have brothers and sisters?
Yes, I had one brother and two sisters.
Did they have similar interests?

Well, my brother went with me a great deal, but I guess he didn't
have the same motivation because it hasn't shown up since, not to

any degree that I know of. He likes to be out and all that, but he's
never taken part in conservation.

One thing that I started to tell you about was the Sunday drive
and the hike. Of course, when we got old enough to have bicycles, we
could bicycle through the mountains and then walk.

That must have been quite a bike trip, from Inglewood to the mountains.

Topanga Canyon was pretty wild then, and it had a perennial stream
where you could swim and do all of these things. It was a great
wilderness then. It seemed like it. That's now in the Santa Monica
Mountains National Recreation Area. That was about twenty-five miles
one way from our house. Griffith Park used to be a wilderness. We'd
go and climb Bee Rock and go through the caves. We couldn't go
without a car to the big mountain wilderness of the San Gabriel
Mountains. We would have had to go clear around to the other side

of the mountain and come hiking up the north slopes. Of course, when
I got old enough to go to college, my father bought me a car for
thirty-five dollars--which was about par in those days. Then I could
go and push the car once in a while! [laughs]

With a car I could get to places that were wild. The San Gabriel
Mountains area was the nearby wilderness, and one we were very
concerned about. Of course, there are designated wildernesses there
now, and yet none of it is as wild as it was before the designationms.
In some ways we do put pressure on these places just by setting them
aside.

Formation of Youthful Conservation Ideas

I started to tell you something. My mother was very religious. She
was very worried and concerned that we wouldn't grow up good
Christians and wouldn't go to church every Sunday and all that sort
of thing. She also--and I think my father did too, although he didn't
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show it--had a caring for natural beauty. We lived in a house that
was on a slight eminence. Actually, it overlooked the Santa Fe
railroad tracks coming out to Inglewood.

We had a good view of the sunset and a lot of open country. I
guess there still is some kind of horizon from that point in Inglewood.
There used to be a lot of beautiful sunsets--maybe we don't look
hard enough, maybe there still are. There were a few boxes and old
chairs out in the backyard, way down about where the hill dropped
off to the railroad tracks. When there was a beautiful sunset, we
wouldn't have to drag mother out. She would ask us to come out, and
we'd all go out and sit there and watch the sunset. That happened
a lot. We would just sit until it was dark. We wouldn't move back
in the house, although I must say I don't do that anymore.

Those things have their lasting effect, I think.

Well, I guess so. Then, of course, every once in a while we'd get
a little message from her that someday the sky was going to be like
that and then it would open up, and Jesus would come back.

She tied this nature appreciation to religion.

Well, in a way, yes, because God was making all of this beautiful
stuff.

What religion was she?

We were all in the Methodist church, which in those days was a
normal Protestant church. Now different churches go different ways,
and they get political and so forth. But in those days--the
Presbyterian, Congregational, Methodist, Baptist--I think they all
did about the same thing. I wasn't exposed to any of the others.
Anyway, that little bit did come through, that some day the sky is
going to open up, and then we'll all be together again with our
parents and grandparents. After all, it's gone full circle. Ronnie
is in [laughter] and the Moral Majority and all that. But it was a
gentle thing with my mother. She was on fire, but it was always a
gentle thing. Of course, having that kind of pressure as a kid makes
you resist religion, I think, and makes you tend to go the other way,
probably, but I didn't do so.

Did you follow religion as you got older?

No, I don't belittle it or put it down, but I don't have a great
personal interest in it. That is, you know what I mean by religion.
Everybody has got a religion of some kind, but I'm a backslider
from the standpoint of going to church.
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Maybe some of yours is expressed in your conservation activities.

Well, you can always say that, the groves were God's first temples
and all. But I've never thought of it that way. I don't think that
much of humans. We've set ourselves up to be god-like as a separate
species from all other animals. Obviously, the damage we do makes us
separate. We've been able to convert the earth as no other creature
ever could, but to say that we're in the image of God and all that

is anti-religion because it's prideful. You're not supposed to have
pride, and yet if you say I look like God, you can claim the Bible
says so. [laughs] We're way off the subject now!

Well, I think this is interesting, and it ties in at some point.

The other day the American Wilderness Alliance had a two or three-
day meeting in Denver, and I was the keynote speaker. By the time I
got up, the time had run out for me to talk. You know how it is.
You're to talk until such and such a time. I looked up and that was
the time when I got up, so I didn't say much. What occurred to me
was that they wanted me to give a capsule history of conservation or
to trace the history of conservation.

The first thing we have that we can relate to conservation is
in the oldest book we have that we can read, and that's the Bible.
You can talk about going into the wildexness, but people in biblical
times went for somewhat different reasons: they sometimes went as
punishment, as outcasts, or to go and get their thoughts straight.
That's what Christ did, and some of the disciples would go out in
the wilderness so they could cleanse themselves and get it all
straight and maybe starve a little and come back. I brought the
idea of going into the wilderness up through Leonardo da Vinci, for
example, who, as far as we know, is the first person who ever
climbed mountains for pleasure. For most people in the past,
mountains or hills were always in the way. They were something to
get over, and people didn't want them. They didn't want to have to
climb. Da Vinci got a lot of joy out of it. You could come up
through time to Aldo Leopold.

Religion comes into it in a way because the oldest literature
that any of us have access to is the Bible, and there are various
allusions to the wild and the wilderness in the Bible.

There is kind of a double message, too--taming the wildermess.

Yes, there is, or that the wilderness was a place to be banished to.
You let me ramble! [laughs]

I think it's important because it is part of what you are bringing to
conservation.
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I don't know. I've always worried about things, about the earth

and the shape it's in, and now I've just about given up on lots of
things. For one thing, there is a lot more interest in conservation
now. There never used to be. The average person was too busy making
a living and thinking of progress and money and getting more people
and seeing how their town grew. We want to grow, don't we? We've
got to grow.

You had ideas that now are more generally accepted, but you were
holding them in a time when most people didn't think about the
environment as much.

I guess you could say that because my ideas were always quite extreme.
I didn't like what was happening. Yet, I remember taking pride in
the growth of Los Angeles because it seemed to be pretty, and every-
thing was bright and shiny in those days. We didn't know the city
was going to encompass every last square inch. That was the problem.

Was there any particular reading you did that may have encouraged
some of these ideas?

I don't remember.
It was more your personal experience?

I don't remember. I know that when I got into the university, I had
subjects I could pick. For example, I could decide what I was going
to do my term paper on. Some of these subjects sounded like
wilderness. I hadn't familiarized myself with the great authors.

I immediately snatched up one, for example. [pauses to recall] It's
famous. It's by [James] Boswell. Isn't Boswell the guy who did all
the biographies and all of the biographical stuff on Dr. [Samuel]
Johnson?

Yes.

Well, it was an account of a journey to the Outer Hebrides. [Journey
of a Tour in the Hebrides with Samuel Johnson] The Journey to the
Outer Hebrides didn't have anything to do with the Outer Hebrides.
It was all Johnson's pontificating politically and saying all the
things he believed were wrong with the world and society and every-
thing and how to make it better. Boswell would sit there in awe of
the great man and write down everything Johmson said. But you never
got to the Outer Hebrides. I was never exposed to that, but I was
stuck with the subject! [laughter] I guess the only way I learned
anything was by seeking after subjects that I thought dealt with
nature and the wilderness and finding out that they were something
else.
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Litton: There is another book, Far from the Madding Crowd. It had nothing
to do with being "far from the madding crowd!" [laughter] I guess
they were out on a farm or something, but they weren't out in the
wilderness anywhere. Those novels never had anything to do with
anything, as far as I'm concerned. I'm amazed that people major in
English.

Lage: You went to UCLA and what was your major there?

Litton: English because I thought it would be easy. [chuckles] I wasn't
anxious to go anywhere in those days, and neither was anyone else.

Experiences in the Army and at the Los Angeles Times During the
Forties

Lage: Why don't you tell us how you began to work for the L.A. Times?

Litton: The war was a big factor in all of our lives then, World War II. At
UCLA, like everyone else, I was in the R.0.T.C. [Reserve Officers’
Training Corps]. There was an advanced R.0.T.C. that I think about
half of the students went into afterward. It was the only way in
the world to get any money out of the government. They gave you
little allowances for uniforms and so forth which would seem petty
now, but seemed like a lot then. Also, people took pride in wearing
the uniform. It was an achievement and an accomplishment. It was
something that I was proud of. I had never seen a soldier in my
whole life, and to get over there at UCLA and see all these guys
going around in their snappy Sam Browne belts and their riding boots
with spurs, and sabers dangling at their belts and all, why, that
looked pretty impressive to me! [laughter]

Anyway, I was at UCLA, and I went into all of the usual things.
I wasn't in a fraternity, but I was in all the extracurricular things.

Lage: When did you graduate?

Litton: In '38; the class of '38. We went out and looked for a job then,
and we realized--I think everyone more or less realized--we were
going to be at war. It was all heading that way. In fact, while I
was at UCLA, our professor of political science would make a diagram
on the blackboard and practically tell you the day war was going to
break out. By '39 there was a world war, but we weren't in it.

I took a job as the first public relations man that The Wigwam
ever had, which doesn't sound like much, but The Wigwam is a very
fancy winter resort in Litchfield Park, Arizona. It's a dude ranch
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and it's owned by the Goodyear Tire and Rubber Company. It used to
be for their executives only. Then they opened it to the public,
and they wanted a publicity man. I went over there and got seventy-
five dollars a month and room and board for a season. I didn't like
being away from home that far. It was pleasant, but my girl was
back home in L.A., and I never got to see her while I was over there.
She's the one I'm married to now, and have been for thirty-seven or
thirty-eight years. Thirty-eight years, gosh!

At the end of one season, the job was supposed to end and then
they said, "Why don't you stay around? We'll do something else."
I said, "No, I want to go back home."

I went back home, and I had a teaching job for a short while.
Then I went to work for the Times.

You started that early on?

Yes, I just went down and put in for a job. I didn't know what it
would be--anything. That was the way people did things then--a job.
You had to have it, and you weren't so picky. What I was doing was
part-time. I was a tour guide through the Times building. They
had a lot of people touring the building. If there is any way to
learn the newspaper business, it's to guide people through the
building because you have to explain everything that goes on: how
wire photos are transmitted and how the Linotype machine works. I
guess they don't have any Linotypes anymore. That was a fascinating
thing, and I used to explain how the plates are made to go on the
presses and how they are bent into a half-circle so they'll fit the
rollers. 1 explained everything--the advertising and the public
relations. 1'd take them right through the press room. I didn't
care if they fell down and broke their necks! [laughter]

I was a guide there, and I forget what else I did, but it was
just office work. We were really biding our time because I kept
getting messages from the army saying, "Are you ready?" In July of
'41 I was called to active duty, and we were on maneuvers on the
East Coast. I was assigned to the Army Air Corps, which was part
of the army then. There wasn't any air force; it was army. We were
having war games, the Reds and the Blues, fighting it all out back
there. All of a sudden everything was dropped and cancelled, and we
were told to take the planes to Oakland immediately. That was
probably about the fourth of December, '4l, just two or three days
before Pearl Harbor.

The army knew Pearl Harbor was coming?
Yes, somebody did. They say Roosevelt engineered it. I was in the

Twentieth Fighter Group, which had been based at Hamilton Air Force
Base. It was Hamilton Field then. It was part of the army. We
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were to move to Oakland and we took all the guns and all the
military hardware out of the airplanes so they would fly better
across the continent, and we put all the guns away in Cosmoline
and packed them up and put them on a freight train. The train was
going to take nine days to get to the coast. Nobody said, "Bring
the guns.'" They said, "Bring the planes." We brought all the
planes, and we got out just about the day before Pearl Harbor. I
guess maybe it was the day of Pearl Harbor because that night--it
wasn't until about midnight that the news was allowed to be
broadcast--we heard that Pearl Harbor had been attacked.

When we got to Oakland, they were busily putting up revetments,
sandbags and everything, and the airplanes had to be dispersed all
over the airport--and this was before Pearl Harbor. There were
some things going on in Washington, so there we sat. There wasn't
anything that could be fired at anybody. Of course, everyome thought
the Japanese were going to be here any minute. The guns were on
the freight train, and we didn't know where. The train was coming
across the country slowly--but as fast as it could go, I guess.

The train was still going to take a long time, so a couple of
us went up to Hamilton Field and started nosing around. Oh, gosh,
were you popular then! I mean if you were going to the movies, you'd
get a police escort if you had a uniform on. [laughter] But we
were going to save the country. So we went up to Hamilton Field, and
we found this old training plane.

#H

It had a single .30 caliber machine gun on a ring mount in the back
that you could swing around a la World War I. It had open cockpits,
of course, one in the front and one in back, one for the pilot and
one for the gunner. It had just been used as a trainer, just to
practice shooting at tow targets.

Somebody had to do something because for all we knew the Japanese
were just about to land and, as you know, all the guns around the
Golden Gate couldn't be elevated. They were made to shoot at Spanish
galleons. They weren't made to shoot up in the air. We had this
thing, and we took off. I was the only person in our outfit who had
ever actually fired a machine gun by hand because I had been in the
infantry training at UCLA. These other guys had just gone through
flying school, and all they did when they wanted to fire was push a
button on a stick. All the guns were out the wings. They didn't
have to handle the gun, load it and manage it or anything. That was
all done for them. All they did was point the airplane and press the
button in training, which was all any of them had ever done--I mean
practice. We weren't in the war, so we had never been at war.
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I was the only guy who had ever loaded a machine gun and knew how

to operate it by handling it. I sat in the back cockpit, and one

of the fellows got in front, and we flew up and down the coast for
three or four days. We were the only aerial defense that the United
States had on the Pacific Coast at that time, as we went up and down
suspiciously looking at sea gulls and everything! [laughter] Finally,
the navy came up with a PBY ["Patrol Boat'" made by "Y," the code for
Consolidated Aircraft Corp.], the big flying boat. They found one

of those somewhere. That thing would only go about ninety miles an
hour. That's about what our airplane would do. We would fly around,
and we'd see them once in a while—-"Hi, there!" We're all sitting
out in the open. That was the total defense of the whole Pacific
Coast for the first few days there. Of course, we didn't need it.

When the guns did show up, the pilots were so trigger-happy that
they went up and down the coast shooting at everything--rocks, sea
lions, anything that moved. They would blast it because they had
just gotten so worked up over this thing that they couldn't do
anything about.

Was it during the war that you got your flying technique that is so
famous?

Is it famous?

I've heard many people comment on the way you can fly and take )
pictures at the same time.

I learned to fly in the service. It wasn't very smart from the stand-
point of personal ambition, but I went out and became a glider pilot
in the war. That didn't really put you anywhere in the hierarchy at
all, but there were a lot of us, and there had to be a lot. I went
back to the Twentieth Fighter Group for a while before any of us went
overseas back in '43. I had already become a pilot then.

When the time came for the invasion, D-Day, on June 6, '44, I
will say the army's records were good because they managed to round
up every glider pilot, everybody who had been trained in gliders.

They rounded them up no matter what they had gone off to do, because
the whole program had kind of fallen apart. Everybody felt, '"Oh,
we'll never do this." Everybody got reassigned to become bombardiers
or navigators or to have desk jobs, or to fly bombers or something
like that. All the glider pilots were just dispersed all over through
the whole service all around the world.

Just about a month before the invasion, they managed to locate
every one of us. They got us all on the boat, and away we went!
[laughter] I was flying through the war, but not thousands of hours
or anything like that; it was measured in the hundreds. I fly more
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Litton: in one year now--in one year--than I did in the whole war. Our
missions weren't too frequent. With gliders you only did it when
there was an invasion in which you had to carry troops and machinery
in,

On the other hand, the people who were involved in flying
bombers such as B-17s went out everyday and were such good targets.
The glider was a poor target because it came in low, and the idea
of a glider being shot down is something very rare. The missions
were kind of rare too, compared to the everyday ones in a bomber.
Those poor bomber crews would go out, and they'd sit up there day
after day, and they'd be so high that there was all the time in the
world to get zeroed in on them. Frequently, during the heat of the
war when it was really at its worst, when they were going over
eastern Germany, it was characteristic for only half of the formation
to come back. All the others were dead. Well, the next day when you
went out, half the people who went out with you were guys you had
never seen before. They had come in as replacements the night before.
The bomber crews were really the ones who suffered, and it's a wonder
they didn't all crack up, I mean in their heads.

Lage: The glider pilots weren't exposed to the same danger?

Litton: Well, the bomber crews felt very sorry for us because we were in a
little thing made out of canvas. It wasn't so little, come to think
of 1it.

Lage: It sounds more dangerous,

Litton: There was no armament. There was no armor plate; nobody had a
parachute. There was nothing to shoot back with, and you didn't
have three inches of glass in front of you. On the other hand, you
didn't go out everyday either. After we'd land, we'd finally work
our way back to England, which was where the gliders were all operated
from, at least all the early ones were. Once the glider pilots land,
of course, they are there. Wherever you go, you're there, and you've
got to find your way back and leave the infantrymen behind. In fact,
being a glider pilot was considered so rough that after every glider
mission we would get at least a week, sometimes two weeks' leave,
and we could go off to Scotland or do anything we wanted to do in
that time, and wouldn't be needed again right away.

It wasn't a bad life at all. It was a life in which you sometimes
wondered what to do with yourself. We'd sit around carving balsa
wood into model airplanes and things like that. A lot of time was
wasted, but in order to have people ready and waiting to do the
things that have to be done, of course, there has to be a lot of
this "hurry up and wait" business.
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Litton: When I came back from the war I went to the Times. The Times had
never had me on as a full-gcale employee. I had just done these
things on a part-time basis or temporary basis. As soon as I went
in, they didn't have to rehire me the way employers were supposed
to do after the war. They didn't have to, but they offered me the
pick of anything that was available.

The first thing that was available was being an engraver, and
I took it--I wouldn't turn anything down. You'd feel you'd look
lazy if you didn't take the first job offered you. I went over into
the engraving department, but then I realized that it was never going
to work because during the war, when I was taking a physical
examination, I learned for the first time that I was color blind.
My brother and I are both color blind.

Lage: Do you mean you don't see the colors in your beautiful colored
photographs.

Litton: I see colors. I learned all about color blindness because the first
time I went to take flight training I was washed out on color blindness
right away--[whistles]--just like that! I didn't know I was color
blind. The doctor was holding out the book with all of the little dots
in it, and I'd read them. I read the first one, the red on blue.

He turned the page, and it's all these pastels, and 1'd either read
nothing or the wrong number. I thought, "Why can't I see that? I've
never had any trouble." I remember that my brother and I would call
flowers blue, and my father would correct us and say they were

purple, but we just thought he was dumb! Color blindness is an
every-other-generation thing, and it's only passed through the mother.
Therefore, your father's condition has nothing to do with it. In other
words, my children are not color blind. My daughter's children will
be. It's pretty exact. Not my daughter's children--my daughter's
sons. Color blindness is a phenomenon that only affects men.

Lage: It's like certain kinds of baldness.

Litton: Yes, men are the only people who are really color blind, and all
color blindness is the same. No matter what they say, you may be
color ignorant and not know what a color is, but that Ishihara
[color blindness test] book, that's what really screens you. You
can't cheat it. If you are red-green color blind, that's it. That's
color blindness, and it's in men and it's every other generation.

I didn't know I was color blind, but now, of course, my brother
and I both know we are, and my mother's father was. But none of my
children are, and my sisters aren't.

I found that out during the war, and the next time I went to
take flight training, I reasoned correctly that any record of my
first application would, by then, be buried somewhere. I just didn't
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take a physical examination. When everybody would line up for the
physical, I just didn't go. By the time they caught up with me, I

was already moved on to the next stage of flying which was at some
other base a thousand miles away. I was in primary, basic, advanced,
and all that. I just stayed away. Each time I would be transferred,
the company clerk, or whoever it was, would be going through my
records. He'd say, "I don't see your physical here, sir." I said,
"Well, it probably hasn't caught up with me yet.'" He put that in the
file, saying, '"That's probably it." I was already flying then. Here
I am flying around in an airplane, and I was color blind. On several
occasions the doctors found out about it because I'd be flying them
to something, and I'd casually ask them the color of something that
was so obvious to them.

One time on an invasion going into Holland I was leading, and
there were 3,500 gliders, and I don't know how many tens of thousands
of men and jeeps and guns. We were going in on the famous Operation
Market Garden. They made a movie, A Bridge Too Far, about it. The
operation was partly a failure. The British part was too far ahead,
and they were wiped out, but ours was okay.

On that flight we were flying over from England and, of course,
I was going to be the leader. I was going to take the whole thing in.
I had to, therefore, decide where to land. Of course, we were
briefed with aerial photographs which were made when it was very
clear, and everything was crisp. The instructions were that we
were to land when the pink smoke signal--pink! Oh, my god, that's
hopeless! To a color blind guy that's grey, light blue--that's
anything but pink. It has to be a real salmon orange pink before
you see the red in it. Red and green are the weak colors to a color
blind person. The yellows and the blues come out very strong, and
that's why orange looks like just a deep rich yellow until it gets
way over in the red. If it's pure red, you see it. Color blind
people see the red and the blue and they're fine. But if you told
me that blue was purple, I'd have to agree with you because the blue
would be the strong thing.

We go along in the woods, and my wife will spot little red
flowers; I never see them. But I spot the yellow and blue ones
before she does,

So the pink was hopeless. I thought, "Oh, god, what will I do?"
I don't want to tell anybody because that will wash me out right on
the eve of this invasion. Maybe I should have; it would have been
smart! [laughs] Some guys found ways to be sick. But I thought,
"Ooh, I won't worry about that. I'll just wait until T see some smoke
and do it then. 1I'11 just cut this thing off and go in."
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There also was a warning signal from the tow plane. A little light
went on and started to flicker when we were approaching the landing
zone. The airplane was towing us. The trouble was, it was in the
fall, the days were short, it was late in the day, the light was
very poor, and there was smoke everywhere. I mean, after all,

there was a war going on. There was smoke everywhere when we got
there! I didn't know the pink from the blue from the green from the
black. Everything was smudgy, smoggy, smoky--—

It might have been hard even if you weren't color blind.

It might have been, but I got the little flicker, and I knew I was
supposed to go somewhere, and all these guys were coming along
behind me. It was hopeless as far as any pink smoke was concerned.
I didn't know where to go.

Were you the only guy on the plane?

No, I had troops in there. But they were scared to death anyway, and
it would have been worse for them to have their pilot not knowing what
he was doing, if I would say, "Do you see any pink smoke down there?"
Lots of bullets were coming up, and you could see them. You can see
tracers, big red tennis balls coming at you very slowly. They might
go right through the glider here and there, and you don't pay too

much attention because they go through it kind of easy. We were
supposed to get down, and they were already tearing out the sides of
the glider with their bayonets. They did that so they could get out
faster, and so they could fire, too.

I didn't know what to do, and I looked around. I said, '"We've
got to get down. Nobody else is going down until I do." We could
not radio the other gliders. There was no radio in the glider, but
there was a telephone. There was communication through the wire that
went down the tow line, the rope to the plane that was towing us.
We could talk to the tow plane pilot. He could talk to the other
plane by radio, and the pilot of that airplane could talk to the glider
he was towing.

I called up, and I said, "Tell Eisenhour to go in first."
(He was no relation to General Dwight D. Eisenhower.) He was on
my wing. He was the next glider behind me, off to the side. To this
day I wonder what the tow plane pilot thought of me, what he thought
I was doing. Was I just cowardly and didn't want to go down there?
Well, he knew I was going eventually. He said, "What do you mean?"
I said, "Just tell Eisenhour to go in first." He hemmed and hawed
and hesitated, and he said, "Well, okay." I didn't know what he
had said to anybody because I couldn't hear his radio, but I just
kept watching the other glider. After a while I saw the rope fall
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off, and he went on, and we went in together. I stayed right with
him. In fact, we collided part way down. The wing tips got chewed
up, but it was still a good landing.

I came back to the Times after the war to get a job, and they
put me in an engraver's job where color sensitivity was the most
important thing. I hated to turn it down even though I didn't really
want it, but I didn't like to turn a job down. I had to go back to
the personnel director and say, "I'm sorry, but I'm color blind. I
couldn't do that."

The next thing they found was this circulation representative
job in the circulation department. I was kind of a troubleshooter.
I would answer complaints. I would go out in the middle of the
night and make sure the papers were being put on the right corners
for the boys to come and get. Down in Watts we'd always be mistaken
for plainclothes policemen because we were cruising around looking
for papers! [laughs] Lots of times we were called in to break up
fights or to take away some guy that somebody was going to kill or to
Create peace because they all thought we were cops. It was a job
that was absolutely, totally foreign to my makeup. I didn't like
to have to urge people to sell, to take boys out soliciting from
door to door for their paper routes, and calling people about why
their paper wasn't on their porch that morning or calling on dealers
in drug stores in little towns to try to get them to take more Times
and fewer Examiners.

A guy named Benny Rose was my supervisor for part of that time.
I came back one day, and he said, "How did you do this week?" I
said, "I did pretty good in Caliente. I increased the circulation
there by fifty percent." "Fifty percent!" he said, "Oh, great great!
Wait until I tell Ray Marx." I said, "Yes, they were getting two
papers. Now they are getting three!" [laughter]

Anyway, that's the kind of job it was. We were the liaison
between the newspaper and the dealers, who were independent
contractors, so we had to treat the dealers with kid gloves and yet
urge them to be selling all the time and increasing their circulation.
In terms of being up in the newspaper world and making good money
and having advancement, it was really a very good job. The fellows
who stayed with it are important executives at the Times now. Every
job is creative in some ways because a job is what you make it. But,
to me, there was nothing creative in that job. It was a great job
to have because I wasn't interested in it. I would do it, and that
would be it, and I'd forget about it.

The fact that I wasn't too interested made me, by default,
quite popular among the dealers because I wasn't pushing them all
the time. We got to be very good friends and, for that reason, they
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Litton: had a kind of loyalty and devotion, and they would go out and do
better without being pushed because I wasn't going to bother them!
That was the job. I didn't expect to be at it forever, although
being a lazy person I wasn't looking for anything else. I would have
just stayed on there until the end of time, I suppose.
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II INVOLVEMENT IN THE CONSERVATION MOVEMENT

Early Writing and Contacts with Conservation Groups During

the 1940s and 1950s

My job with the Times took me out on the road a great deal, sometimes
clear into other states, and I was exposed to things that I could
produce articles about, and I started writing evenings and weekends.
I did not write with the idea I was going to get a job anywhere else,
but because there was something I wanted to say in print, and I
wanted it to reach 400,000 people. So I would say it in the Times.

After a while, the Times began to depend on it. They'd see me
[ask], "What have you for us this week?" It was always a big Sunday
feature with lots of pictures, taking the front page of the second
section and continuing inside. I've got a lot of those, the omnes
about Dinosaur [National Monument], Sierra Club issues, the Grand
Canyon. Oh, gee, even the headlines were full of fire.

That's where you developed your interest in the Grand Canyon.

I had the interest, and that enabled me to put something into print.
The repeated articles about Dinosaur National Monument, which were
heavily illustrated, attracted the attention of Dave Brower, and
that's why he first got in touch with me and asked me to join the
Sierra Club.

I knew we'd get to the Sierra Club!

I said, "I'm not interested in the Sierra Club. I don't see that
it's doing anything." At that point, I didn't see that it was.

Were you aware of the Sierra Club?
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Yes, we kids had been invited to the Los Angeles meetings. The
Sierra Club office used to be in the Philharmonic Auditorium off
Pershing Square. Some of the old-timers are still around who were
volunteers there. I guess it was all volunteer. They may have had
one paid employee. Now the club office is out on Beverly Boulevard,
and it's not the same situation. It's just kind of an office now
with a little library room. The club had quite a number of rooms in
the Philharmonic Auditorium. They would have meetings, and they
invited us to come because, apparently, this stripling young nothing-
of-an-organization [California Trails Association] that was coming
along had come to their attention. The Los Angeles County Department
of Parks and Recreation published a magazine called Trails Magazine.
I would put little articles in there and the organization's name was
listed. This was when I was still in my late teens. I think
probably they wanted to nip us in the bud, so that we wouldn't be
taking over their functions. [laughs]

I can even remember some of the people who were steady names
for many years in the club. Irene Charnock was one of them. She
was there forever. I think she had a job there.

I don't know if she was employed or just volunteer.

Anyway, then there are the Gaymans, Evelyn and [her husband]. They
come to everything. They are involved heavily in the Sierra Club.

I think they live in Laguna Beach. They have been around forever,
along with people like Beulah Edmiston. She's a go-getter and her
husband is, too, Tasker and Beulah. In fact, their son, I believe,
is an employee of the Sierra Club in Washington, D.C. or an employee
of some conservation group.

Beulah Edmiston is largely responsible for 'saving the tule
elk in the Owens Valley. The elk were originally in the San Joaquin
Valley and were moved to the Owens Valley in order to keep them from
being wiped out. The elk lived in the San Joaquin Valley and they
still do live in the o0il fields over there near Tupman and Kettleman
City. Edmiston was the one who was behind the move to put the elk
in the Owens Valley on the land of the Los Angeles Department of
Water and Power. That's one of the fortunate aspects of the Owens
River Aqueduct. The aqueduct took all the water so that people
can't farm there anymore, and the land has stayed wilderness. It is
available for game refuge, wildlife refuge.

Edmiston is also largely responsible, or one of the people
responsible, for the wildflower preserves in the Antelope Valley.
Los Angeles County has taken land back in the desert when it's tax-
delinquent., Every time they get 160 acres or so, they make it into
a wildflower preserve and fence it off and keep the cows out. There
is a chance for the poppies to survive there, which used to be so
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Litton: spectacular. That is a system of wildflower preserves, and I'm
sure there is nothing else like it in the country, probably not in
the world. Beulah is responsible for a lot of that. She is in a
lot of things, and she is pretty hard-boiled, and some people don't
get along with her. Tasker is much milder, and they both work
very hard for conservation.

Anyway, that was that little spate of Sierra Club exposure,
and we didn't see that they were doing anything except plan the
next party. They were going to Harwood Lodge on Mount San Antonio.
That was fine, but we were more on fire to stop these roads, and
they didn't seem to care that much.

Lage: How did Brower convince you to join the Sierra Club?

Litton: Now, we are jumping way to 1952. I said, "I don't see that the
Sierra Club does anything. I can do more by myself than I can in
there." He says, "It's all going to be different now. I'm in
charge." [laughs] Just like that! You could sort of read the
handwriting on the wall. He may not have said he was going to be
in charge, but he said that he was going to be there full time, and
that the club was going to take a different turn because there was
going to be somebody to operate it.

Anyway, I was happy to turn over pictures to Brower. The
Bulletin was in a smaller format then [six inches by nine inches].
It was just as good, but it was small and had a lot of pages. I
think the first photographs in the Bulletin were of Dinosaur, but
Brower also used a story about Yosemite I had done for the Times.*

It must have been in '51. Nobody paid any attention to the
Yosemite crowding. I was horrified when I went up there after the
war, and it wasn't the way I remembered it as a kid. You'd see
these people in the campgrounds. There was no separation or any-
thing. If people were camped twenty feet apart and had their tents
up, or their cars with the tents sticking out the side or their
trailer, or camper, or whatever, somebody else would just go inbetween
them and camp.

Lage: It was just like a parking lot.

*Martin Litton, "Yosemite's Fatal Beauty," Sierra Club Bulletin,
October 1952 (a monthly issue), a reprint of the Los Angeles Times
article and photographs.

"Once is Too Often: A Picture Story," Sierra Club Bulletin,
June 1954, with photographs by Martin Litton and others.
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Yes, and on busy weekends it was a parking lot. There was a lot of
noise of canned music. They had swimming pools. The old village
used to be a real eyesore. It was all these shacky old wooden
buildings where they had a movie theater and all that, and that

has since all been converted back to a meadow which looks perfectly
natural. It was a hodgepodge, it was an urban situation.

I did the Yosemite story in the Times. The pictures were
carefully contrived, so they made it look even worse than it was.
The cars would drive out into the meadows in front of Half Dome.
They would pack those meadows with cars for the fire fall, so they
could watch the fire fall.

From their cars?

From their cars because the meadow was a place where you could see
everything. Well, the fire fall is an abomination, too. But I
will admit that when I was young I was very impressed by it. It
was beautiful, but it also attracted people for the wrong reasons.

I did the story. This is interesting because in the circulation
department every once in a while we would have a lunch. It was one
of the ways for us to know that everything was going nicely, that
we were in high favor with the big boss up top. Norman Chandler had
a penthouse at the top of the Times building. It was the whole
upper floor, and there were masseurs there who would massage him
and all that sort of thing. Other executives could make use of
all this, the hot sauna rooms and all that sort of thing. Norman
had his own quarters there where he would sometimes stay over and
spend the night. He would have his food brought in, or maybe the
kitchens right there prepared it. It was an elegant situation.

He was kind of a reluctant publisher. He never really got into
it with both feet, but he represented the company in a dignified
way. He was Harry Chandler's son and Harry Chandler--oh, God, he
was a regular old gangster. Otis Chandler, the present publisher,
is certainly a lot more of a horn-locking type, too, than his father,
Norman, was. Norman was rather reticent, and the times when you'd
see him would be at the Christmas party when he would get up and
tell you that there couldn't be much of a bonus this year because
we hadn't made any money. [laughter]

Every once in a while, Mr. Marx would hold a meeting for the
circulation department or the roadmen, as they were called (they
were in on certain days of the week to bring in their reports). Mr.
Marx was the ultimate boss. When he strode through the circulation
department, all the typewriters started going--I mean the girls, you
know. He would walk along, and he'd slap the tables as he went by.
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Litton: He was just a picture of royalty. He was Mr. Boss. Everybody quaked
in his presence, but they didn't need to. All these people are
either long since retired or dead.

He would arrange for us to go up to Mr. Chandler's penthouse
and have lunch sometimes. Our meeting' would be a lunch in the
Chandler penthouse. This would be the only time I would ever go up to
the Chandler penthouse. The wall that faced the elevator would very
frequently have my articles stuck up on it from the preceding
Sunday. So I knew that Mr. Chandler thought that the article was
okay. Of course, since I wasn't a regular reporter, they always had
my by-line on the stories very prominently. Chuck Hillinger [a
Times reporter] coined a name for me because I started the big hue
and cry about the filth, the litter, around on the streets. Chuck
Hillinger called me "Mr. Litterbug" from then on: 'Here comes Mr.
Litterbug!" [laughter]

I set up some crazy things. I put these big cartomns out in the
middle of the freeway. When I first went over to the police
department, I said, "Could I have a motorcycle officer come over?
I want to stage something here." I put a big carton out as if it
had fallen off a truck, which they do all the time, and I had this
motorcycle officer park his motorbike there and drag this carton off for
the picture. It showed him cleaning up the street.

It made me feel pretty good to see that Mr. Chandler would have
my stuff taken out of the paper by someone else and put there for
his own enjoyment.

I did this story on Yosemite,and it really tore it all apart.
I said that everything was wrong, and I talked about what should be
done. I went to the superintendent of the park [Carl P. Russell] and
I got him to say things I could quote.

The Times is a morning paper, but the bulldog edition came out
the night before and was sold on the street corners by the street
vendors. I would always look at the bulldog edition to see if there
was anything wrong, and then I could call in and have them fix it
before it came out in the home-delivered edition, which was the most
important.

That night this article came out after I had given it to them
on the city desk. It doesn't take a newspaper any time at all to
get a story into print. The article was headlined, "Yosemite's
Beauty Fast Disappearing.'" That was a perfect headline as far as
I was concerned. The next morning's headline was, "Yosemite's Charm
Attracts Millionms.”" [laughter]

Lage: Somebody got to the story?
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Litton: The only reason it was changed was that somebody, during the middle
of the night, remembered that Norman Chandler was on the board of
directors of the Yosemite Park and Curry Company, and they thought
he might be offended by the story. Well, he wouldn't have been. It
wouldn't have made a bit of difference to him. He wouldn't have
cared one way or the other because the article didn't really blame
the Yosemite Park and Curry Company. It just blamed all of us. It
blamed the situation.

i

Litton: That article came out later in the Sierra Club Bulletin, and so did
some of the other articles taken from the Times.

Lage: This is in the fifties still, would you say?

Litton: Yes, that was in the early fifties. Dave Brower called me, and we
got into the Dinosaur thing, which I had already been doing. I
should give you those newspapers because they relate very closely to
what the Sierra Club was involved in then. That was really the first
fight, I think, that the Sierra Club got into, post-Muir, on a
national scale where there was a visible, distinguishable issue. Now,
the Sierra Club had been pressing for Kings Canyon National Park
during the thirties. The club had been working in concert with the
Forest Service. There wasn't polarization then. The Forest Service
didn't want to give the canyon up. Just the same, the Sierra Club
was not really out there waving the sword around. It was just working
for it.

Lage: More quiet negotiations?

Litton: Yes, quiet negotiating until finally the Forest Service realized that
the handwriting was on the wall and Kings Canyon National Park was
going to happen [established 1940]. Then they really quit fighting
it, I think Dinosaur postwar, let's say, was the first issue the
Sierra Club really got tangled up in.

The club had never bothered with the coastal redwoods because
that was the province of the Save-the-Redwoods League, which supposedly
had done enough. We found it hadn't done enough, not because it
hadn't wanted to, but because everything the Save-the-Redwoods League
had done had been pretty much under the control of the logging
companies. They permitted parks to happen where they wanted them
because they owned it all, and they didn't have to give up anything
until we came along with Congress. The state didn't determine where
the redwoods parks would be. That was the Save-the-Redwoods League,
and the only forest that the loggers would give up would be what
they were willing to give up. The reason that they were willing to
give it up was that they got this nice redwood highway up there in
the early twenties, and it was the first road ever to go through. The
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public was then able to go up and see what was there, and the
logging companies didn't want them to see. Therefore, the redwoods
parks all became little strips along the highway, which most of
them still are.

The redwood parks got fattened around World War II. The
Rockefeller Forest became a big addition then, as did Prairie Creek
[Redwoods State Park]. Then during the war, they used a successful
gimmick to get people to donate to buy Mill Creek Redwoods. They
called it the National Tribute Grove, a tribute to our fallen men in
the services.

The Save-the-Redwoods League had accomplished that. It was not
responsible for the biggest of the redwoods parks, though, the Big
Basin. That was done by the Sempervirens Club in San Jose.

The Save-the-Redwoods League had accomplished state redwood
parks which are substantial, and they did it by engineering the
state into setting up a system of matching funds. For every dollar
the Save-the-Redwoods League collected, the state had to put in
another buck. I guess that still prevails. The league is still
trying to work at it, but people just don't seem to have the money.
The state parks and the redwoods are not growing through the Save-
the-Redwoods League substantially, as I see it now.

The costs have gone up so tremendously. .
Yes, the cost has gone up tremendously, and also we've got this
national park thing which would have cost us one-third if we had
gotten it when it still had trees on it.

When did you get involved in the redwood issue?

When I was in the war, I corresponded a great deal with everybody--
the Wilderness Society, Robert Sterling Yard. He was the spiritual
leader of the Society for many, many years. He's dead now I'm sure.

Wasn't he with the National Parks Association?

Robert Sterling Yard, he may have been at one time or another but he
was with the Wilderness Society. He personified it, and he edited
"The Living Wilderness, I believe. I think of him as being of the
older generation along with Sig [Sigurd] Olsen and Olaus Murie. I'm
not sure what his age was, but he was well along. Another omne who
is dead now was Aubrey Drury. Aubrey Drury was Newton's brother, and
he was the real spark in the Save-the-Redwoods League. He was its

‘head for many, many years until he died.
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Newton Drury, who had been involved in various things including
being the director of the National Park Service for quite a while,
took over the Save-the-Redwoods League's leadership. He was
executive secretary, which I think John DeWitt is now. John was the
stand-by all along there. Aubrey Drury and I carried on a lot of
correspondence during the war when I was a second lieutenant.

Regarding the redwoods?

It had to be because that was the only thing he was involved in.

I probably sent him ten dollars or something. In those days you got
a personal letter for every dollar you contributed. I remember
writing him quite a bit, and I've still got the letters, I'm sure.

I was in the service. I was proselytizing, if that's the word, my
fellow men around me to get them into these organizations. I would
say, "Come on, here's a blank. Fill it out and send five dollars."
I guess some of them did, and I guess the Sierra Club wasn't among
them. The Save-the~Redwoods League, you knew what they were for.
The Wilderness Society, you really knew what they were for.

I wanted the Sierra Club to be for the Sierra and, as you know,
it doesn't touch that much anymore. That's one subject, but it's
only one, and some of us have kept the club somewhat in line by
fighting off the development of Mineral King and the Horsehoe
Meadows ski development at Trail Peak, and then getting the Golden
Trout Wilderness.

Sierra Club on Wrong Side: Litton's Influence on Mineral King
and Trail Peak Policy

Mineral King was a thing the Sierra Club originally was on the wrong
side of. The club wanted to develop skiing there. That was a policy
of the club.

Then they directed the chapter, John Harper in the Kern-Kaweah
Chapter, to work with the Forest Service to get a good development
at Mineral King. Harper didn't want to; he didn't believe in it,
but he was the chapter head for a lot of years.

Yes, the chapter directed him, not the national club.

No, the board did, the board of directors of the club.

The board did?
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Yes, they directed the chapter to do it, and he was the chapter, so
to speak. Harper did it reluctantly, but he got all involved in it
and finally was working with the Forest Service people, and they
came up with various plans--nothing like the [Walt] Disney
[Productions, Inc.] thing that eventually emerged.

Then I got on the board of directors, and I stood up in righteous
outrage at this terrible thing [May, 1965], and immediately the board
voted the other way. I remember Ansel Adams saying, "I didn't know
it was going to be in the national park." (The road, that is.) I
said, "All you have to do is look at the map, dumbhead.”" I showed
them a map, and here we were going to ruin Sequoia National Park for
this silly thing that the Sierra Club advocated. Why, then it went
the other way around, everybody voted the other way.

Yes, I think Dave Brower mentions that in his oral history, giving
you complete credit for turning the thing around.

Well, Dave had just stood up and talked pro on the thing.

Yes, he admits that.

Then after I raised hell, why, he stood up again, and he said, "I want
to take back everything I said." Those were his words.

How did they respond? Your style must have been very different
from others on the board.

I don't know that it was. I say I raised hell, but there were only

a few times. Well, one of the times is rather continuous on Diablo

Canyon, but only a few times I really got mad. I think I was polite
and as reasonable as most.

In the case of Mineral King did you feel really mad?

Mineral King? I couldn't imagine that the Sierra Club would want
to disect Sequoia National Park with a highway to a ski area.

You did persuade a lot of people at that time.

I persuaded them all right then and there, although they hadn't paid
any attention to the issue before. A lot of these decisions were
made by default. I mean they just would not assent. If somebody
came along and made an argument against Mineral King, they ordered
the chapter to oppose it. [laughs] That's when John Harper, I think,
left the club or thought about leaving it. I think he's out of it

now, but my god, they made him do this. He didn't want to do it in

the first place. They made him do it for years, work up these plans,
and then they told him to stop, and they said, '"We're against it, we
don't want anything to do with it."
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Trail Peak, which is at Horseshoe Meadows, is really part of the Kern
Plateau. I was always vitally interested in the Kern Plateau because
that's the area where I was first exposed to real wilderness when I
was a kid. Another kid and I rented a burro for seventy-five cents

a day and went on this hike to Mount Whitney. That was the thing that
changed my life. I fought hard for the Golden Trout thing. In fact,
I flew Bob Jones, the present envirommental writer for the L.A. Times
up there. Mary Ann Eriksen and I got him out of his office and got
him on the way. I worked with her pretty heavily when she was with
the club.

We got Jones in a plane, and we took him up to Mammoth and Mono
Lake and made him look at all these various problems. On the way
back, I said, "I want to show you where I first found the wilderness,
hiking this barren, hot slope all day on the east side of the Sierra."
Not a drop of water until we came to this summit, beautiful Summit
Meadow, and we were more dead than alive from heat and exhaustion.
Suddenly it was cool, and the sun was going down and here was water,
ice cold, delicious water, and I fell on my face--we both did--and
immersed ourselves in it. It was a terrible ordeal dragging a burro
up the hill. We should have taken our stuff without him because he
didn't want to go!

I flew along, and I said, "Bob, I want you to see this." I
angled the plane just right, so he would see Summit Meadow, right
on the crest of the Sierra where I had first gone over and looked
at Monache Meadows and the whole beautiful sight of the Kern Plateau
region. Just as we flew over it, out drove a four-wheel-drive
camper right across the meadow. It's an ORV [off-road vehicle], and
that's what the Forest Service has been allowing there. 1In the new
[1981 California Wilderness] bill, the [Phil] Burton bill, if it
gets through, they have gerrymandered it something awful. It's a
bad boundary for the Monache Meadows area. In fact, it didn't include
Monache Meadows because there were a couple of trees there, and Burton
tries to please the labor unions. If the unions say they need a job
cutting down a tree, why, the wilderness can go to hell. I'm afraid
I'm a little bit cynical about some people who have done some great
things for us. On the other hand, we're not their only motivation.

Are you speaking about Phil Burton?
Yes, Burton. They were blaming him in Washington because the labor
unions were pushing him to leave the trees out of the wildermess,

so they could cut them down and have jobs.

You think he's beholden to others as well as the conservation groups?
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Litton: Oh, yes, he makes no bones about it. The poor word that is used for
that is liberalism. I don't call that liberalism in my dictionary.
But, yes, he's anxious to have the labor vote, I'm sure. Anyway,
to see my ultimate wilderness suddenly intruded upon by this camper
truck was just about the last straw.

When I was on the board, Trail Peak came up. The Toiyabe
Chapter, based in Reno, had decided that the skiing development was
okay. We tried to stop the road going up there to Horseshoe Meadow.
At least it stopped where it is now forever and ever because we've
got a wilderness right next to it. 1In fact, the wilderness goes
right around it. The road is an intrusion into it. But this group
called CIRC got together and financed the skiing thing. The group
must have made quite a pitch to some member of the Toiyabe Chapter,
which is where Dick and Marjory Sill held sway for a long time.

I don't know what the situation is now, but at every board meeting
there would be a consent calendar. These were the things that we
didn't have to discuss because we would vote them in automatically.

The items were presented by the staff or by someone in the club or by
a chapter. These were items that didn't need to be argued over
because we would automatically adopt whatever it said there, and

that would become a resolution.

I went down this calendar, and one of the things on the consent
calendar was that the Sierra Club endorsed and advocated the
development of Trail Peak for downhill skiing. [sighs] Oh!

Lage: Now, when was this?

Litton: It was probably contemporaneous with Diablo Canyon; maybe around
1970.*% This consent calendar item was going to be okayed. I blew
my top, and I went to Mike McCloskey, who had gotten all this stuff
together. I know Dave was out then, and Mike was the executive
director because he brought the consent calendar in. Well, board
members are automatically going to vote for certain things, and you
don't need to discuss them because some chapter has taken care of it,
and they have investigated, and they have decided what the Sierra
Club ought to do. Well, that's okay, if we're going to petition
Congress to save the bald eagle or something like that. All of a
sudden, we are going to say it's okay to put skiing up on the Kern
Plateau with all the 1lifts?

*Trail Peak was first discussed at the September, 1967, Board of
Directors meeting.
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I went to Mike and I said, "What is this doing on here?" He said,
"The Toiyabe Chapter came in, and we usually go by what the chapters
recommend." Lewis Clark had been their emissary on this. The
Toiyabe Chapter had presented it to him, and he had brought it
before the board in the form of part of the consent calendar. I
said, "No, no, that won't go!"

If anybody objects to an item on the consent calendar, it gets
taken off, and it's voted on. I said it was an outrage that the
Sierra Club would endorse a thing like this. I said, "If we're not
going to oppose the thing, that's one thing. Then we don't have to
say anything. But let's not go running around like we did at the
time of Echo Park and say we don't need the dam because of all the
wonderful oil shale, and because there is coal, and because there is
nuclear power." That's what the club was doing, and Brower was
involved in that, too. That would always bother me and, I wasn't
the only one who thought, "Wait a minute now, we might not like what
we are doing here later on."

Everybody voted against the Trail Peak proposal except Lewis
Clark, and he didn't think he properly could because he was the one
who had proposed it for the chapter. Now, he wasn't from that chapter,
but they had given it to him to propose. Let's say ninety-nine
percent of the things that I proposed or stood for went through. I
don't want to set myself apart from anyone else, there.were lots of
others who had the same thing happen. Diablo Canyon was the rare
exception, and maybe that's why it became so divisive because those
in opposition to the board were not going to give up.

These were people you could always count on to be on the right
side of things, actively. One person was Fred Eissler. There were
others as various people came and went on the board. There were
also the reasonable people who wanted to sit down and reason it out:
Should we do this? Should we offer that? Should we have an
alternative to this? Can we really oppose that because there are
a lot of people who want it? My feeling was that if we didn't want
it, it didn't matter how many other people wanted it.

Club's Failure to Save Glen Canyon or Concentrate Activities

on the Sierra Nevada

If we hadn't believed in ourselves, we never would have stopped the
Dinosaur thing. If we had believed in ourselves enough, we would have
stopped Glen Canyon Dam on the Colorado River. We just didn't think
we had that kind of strength, and yet the snowball was already
rolling. We had the public's confidence in us, and we had the nation
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on our side as a result of Dinosaur. We could have carried that
momentum on right through the whole Colorado River system.* I don't
mean there never would have been any pressures, but there wouldn't
have been any dam or reservoir once we got the great Escalante

National Park. Escalante National Park was what they were going to
call the entire region of Glen Canyon back in the days of FDR and Helen
Gahagan Douglas [California congresswoman]. It was all on the maps

as a park project, the whole blooming thing. With Escalante National
Park there couldn't have been a dam there anymore than there can be

in the Grand Canyon National Park now.

Of course, the parks that they were going to put the dams in
were not in the national park system at that time. Since then Grand
Canyon National Park has been stretched out somewhat, although land
was deleted for the Havasupai.

I also thought that the Sierra Club should still concentrate
to whatever degree is necessary on the Sierra Nevada. I certainly
didn't object to the club going worldwide with comservation because
somebody has to lead, and there really isn't anybody out there pulling
it all together in an overall way. The World Wildlife Fund has one
kind of interest, and the International Union for the Conservation of
Nature has another; they all have their fields. But they're not
saying, "Let's keep it all wild, what there is." For example, we
need to keep the Amazon Basin protected until the world's population
begins to go the other way and all the demands are off; there's
wishful thinking for you.

According to Barry Commoner, there won't be any people on earth
in about eighteen years because on the first Earth Day [in 1970]
it was going to be twenty-five or thirty years, and that time is
running out. That was a prediction on Earth Day, that we had a
certain length of time left on the earth. I remember I got on a T.V.
show once with Don Sherwood, and he was doing the questioning. It
was on the anniversary of Earth Day, I guess, and he asked me how
long we had on this earth. Some little crazy thing went on in me, and
I said, "Twenty-three and a half years." He said, "How can you get
it down to twenty-three and a half years? How can you be so precise?"
I said, "Because six months ago it was twenty-four years." [laughter]

Sherwood also arranged for us to take on PG&E on Diablo Canyon
on television. Sherwood asked the questions. He was, of course,
on our side.

*In 1956, after successfully opposing dams in Dinosaur National
Monument, the Sierra Club Board of Directors determined not to oppose
the Glen Canyon Dam, since it lay outside any national park or
monument,.--ed.
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ITII THE REDWOODS CAMPAIGN

Early Interest in the Redwoods and the Redwood Creek Idea

I took Don Sherwood in the plane up to the redwoods, and we looked
at the freeway routes. He'd come on the radio the next morning--and
everybody tuned him in--and say, "Well, I just went up and saw where
they were going to build a freeway where there aren't any cars."

After he stood around the redwoods for a couple of hours he
said--we were always talking about alternate routes--'Why any
route?" He was the first one who said that. He said, "Why any
route? There's nobody here. There's no cars."” A car would go by
every half hour through Jed Smith [Jedediah Smith Redwoods State
Park] on the highway to Grants Pass [Oregon]. They didn't go by often,
and usually they were lumber trucks or logging trucks. Sherwood got
involved in these issues that we've been involved in.

I want to go back and ask you some specific things about the
redwoods. There are a lot of things that are known about the
redwoods, and I want to fill in the gaps.

There are a lot of things that are not known correctly, too.

Well, that might be, and you can correct some now. I want to get
your perspective. What was your first involvement with the redwoods,
aside from your wartime letters.

I don't remember when I first saw a natural redwood tree growing in
a natural condition. Yes, I do. It was in Muir Woods [National
Monument J--which is not really a very good way to see the redwoods,
as you know. It's pretty busy and, at least the last time I was
there, there was a lot of pavement. It must have been Muir Woods
because I'm quite sure that before the war I never went any farther
up that way.
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When I got to Sunset, of course, not only was it the thing to do
because it was part of the territory I had to cover, but it was
also closer because T was then living near the [San Francisco] bay.
The first time I really got worked up on the redwoods and decided
Redwood Creek would be the place for a redwood national park was
when I went up on several trips with my family. I usually took my
family so we'd work it out at vacation time, Thanksgiving vacation,
that sort of thing, because I needed them as models in the pictures.
Sunset always had the involvement of people, the family, and my
family made a pretty good family. What they were doing out there
all the time without any dad in the pictures, I don't know! [laughter]

How many children do you have?

Four; we had only two for the early part of it, and then we had two
more. Three children are in some of the pictures.

The Sunset magazine issue that you are talking about was October '607?

Yes, that was October 1960, and I had not had any real deep involve-
ment in the redwoods. There were lots of other things, and I felt
the redwoods were taken care of. Why worry about them? I went up

to do that big story on the redwoods~-it was just time to do one--
for Sunset. That was a big story, and the research on it spawned a
lot of other stories later on. You could still use the same pictures.
Not those pictures, but others that were obtained at that time.

I did a lot of exploring around, and the worst thing I saw was
this freeway being built--dug, slammed--through Humboldt Redwoods
State Park. The Sierra Club used a lot of those pictures later in
the redwoods fight. They used one of these great big fold-out
sheets to show this freeway construction. The bulldozer is just
pushing its way right through the park.

You saw that happening?
It was happening the first time I went up there, yes.
How did you find Redwood Creek on that trip?

It was just a matter of exploring around. You could hardly miss it.
You could take the Bald Hills Road up, and naturally I was going to
do that because it gave you a good overview of Prairie Creek, the
lower end of it. There was Redwood Creek, and there was this ridge-
to-ridge forest. There was a whole mountaintop that had redwoods
that had never been touched. We could truly say that there were
several intact stream watersheds there, tributaries of Redwood

‘Creek, which is more or less a river for that part of the world.

Prairie Creek is a tributary of Redwood Creek. It comes from the
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north. You could see virgin tributaries where there had been no
logging at all from the top on down. Little Lost Man Creek is

one of those still. We thought we rescued - that by putting it in
the national park, but in the very last few days, just out of spite,
Arcata Redwood [Company] went up there and logged out twenty acres
right at the top, right at the head of the creek.

You discovered Redwood Creek then. Did you have the idea then that
the creek should be the core of a park?

Yes, and then I began looking into it, and I came up with such things
as the Edgington report of 1920. Edgington was hired by the Park
Service to go out and locate various areas that could be considered
for a redwood national park. Helen Gahagan Douglas and her cohorts
came up during the Roosevelt administration with the idea of redwood
purchase units which would eventually become a great national forest.
All the redwoods had to be bought back from the private owners who
had stolen them from the public domain in the first place. They
weren't the original owners, but they were their heirs, those who
had taken over. So the redwoods would have come back into our hands
by money. It wouldn't have cost much then, and the whole idea was
that it would be a great national forest running the whole length of
the [northern Californial] coast. Maybe that wouldn't have been too
good. The Forest Service might have sold off the trees! [laughs]

At least we would have had a chance to save some of it. It would
have been in public hands.

I remembered that, and I looked at Redwood Creek and explored
it a little bit and then came out with this idea. I don't remember
all the evolution of it, but the Sierra Club was not at that time
involved in redwoods at all. The Sunset article was the first
exposure, I suppose. Because I was in the club and on the board, I
could carry this on. I don't remember how it was brought up on the
board.

Oh, the King Range [in Humboldt County]; that was a matter of
interest, too. I began using borrowed airplanes to fly people up
and land them on the beach there. In fact, Doris Leonard wrote a
paper as a result of going up and flying. Doris, George Collins,
and other people went. I think Dick Leonard was along that time,
and so were other people involved in the Sierra Club.

The King Range had a piece of wild coast that we had to save.
We got all wrapped up in that, and at the same time, we were
looking at the redwoods themselves. The King Range wasn't primarily
redwoods because the backside of the mountains where the redwoods
had been was all logged off. On the coastal side it was just
Douglas fir and grass and shrubs and the usual things you'd see.
Redwoods only very infrequently go clear down to the ocean.



36

Lage: I think before this, you brought Chet Brown, of the National Park
Service, out,

Litton: That was quite a while after. That took place when the National
Park Service got interested because of the pressure for the redwoods
that I think the Sierra Club had generated.

Lage: Wasn't that '63 though?

Litton: Yes, but that redwood article appeared in Sunset in October 1960.

Lage: Yes, I know.

Litton: All of these things started happening in the late fifties. The National
Park Service team was composed of Chet Brown and Paul Fritz. Chet
Brown is dead. Paul Fritz had gone on with the Park Service in

Alaska. Fritz recently resigned and became a land planning consultant.
He's in Boise [Idaho] now.

Sierra Club Policy on the Redwoods

Litton: Ed Wayburn adopted the Redwood Creek idea right off.* He was on the
[Sierra Club] board and, at times, he was president. There really
wasn't any argument about the Redwood Creek idea within the club. It
was just lucky that we got off on the right foot. If some of the
people on the club board who were closely aligned with other organiza-
tions had suddenly gotten into this, and if there had been a redwood
national park proposal (which there wasn't) and if we had gotten off
on the wrong foot through various sympathies, concerns, and loyalties,

*Early in its campaign for a Redwood Nationmal Park in the 1960s, the
Sierra Club proposed a site focusing on Redwood Creek and its water-
shed area, in Humboldt County, California. The Save-the-Redwoods
League, however, endorsed a smaller park plan focusing on the Mill
Creek area to the north in Del Norte County. The split between the
two conservation groups, sometimes a bitter one, may have delayed
passage of the Redwood National Park bill and resulted in a compromise
park boundary satisfying neither group in 1968. The park was
significantly enlarged in the second Redwood Natiomal Park Act in
1978, which added the watershed of Redwood Creek, by then extensively
clearcut. See Susan Schrepfer, "Conflict in Preservation," Journal
of Forest History, April 1980, for further background.--ed.
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and gone for the Jedediah Smith Mill/Creek thing, then we could have
had another big fight in the club like we did on Diablo Canyon. If it
had gone wrong in the beginning, some of us wouldn't have let it stay
wrong. On the other hand, since we originated Redwood Creek, nobody
came up against us.

It seems like at first the club came out for both the Redwood Creek
and the Mill Creek ideas.

Well, yes, we didn't mind the park including both as long as we got
all of Redwood Creek that we needed. We weren't going to take it up
to the head of the creek, but through the part that had redwoods in
it. It was okay to add that land around Mill Creek. We didn't mind
that.

Do you recall how the club later dropped Mill Creek? Wasn't there
some dissension on the board?

There wasn't any dissension within the club that I know of.
How about Dick Leonard?

Well, Dick Leonard, of course, but he's not in the club.

I thought he was then.

What I mean is that if there was another organization for which Dick
had respect that was going the other way, he would rather have the
club brought around to go their way.

The Save-the-~Redwoods League?

The Save-the~Redwoods League; I said the Save-the~Redwoods League

is fine, but those properties are the state's. If anybody is going

to take care of them, it ought to be the state. The state should save
its own parks. You shouldn't go along and have a fake redwood national
park just to take in some upper watershed that the state failed to
think about when they made Jed Smith [Redwoods State Park]. That was
what the League was doing. They didn't want a real redwood national
park. The League wanted the federal government to take over the

state parks. The reason for that was not that the federal govermnment
would do as well or better than the state, but Newton Drury [executive
secretary, Save-the-Redwoods League] saw that as a way of getting
federal money to buy up Mill Creek, which he couldn't afford to do.

The Mill Creek situation was not the same as Bull Creek. The
soils there are entirely different. Perhaps the logging is more
careful or more enlightened by Miller-Rellim Lumber Company.

f#
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Despite the very substantial and damaging logging that had been

done in the headwaters of Mill Creek, when the heavy floods of '64
came along the park wasn't affected at all. There wasn't any
flooding, there wasn't any washing, no trees knocked over or anything.
It still looks as good as it ever did, except for the additional
traffic that [the Howland Hill road] gets along Mill Creek. But
that hasn't really hurt it much.

It proves we were right, that we didn't need to put the Mill
Creek area in the park, although it would have been fine to have the
entire watershed and to get the [Miller-Rellim] logging mill out of
there. I thought the state should do it.

The club seemed to be interested in the Klamath River for a while.
Aren't a lot of the pictures from the first book* taken from the
Klamath River?

Yes, that's right because originally the federal investigators of
1920 [The Edgington Report] considered the Klamath River the place
for redwoods, for the national park. It had a great river running
through it and virgin forests. You know, the last redwoods campaign
was not really a pitch for a redwood national park primarily. It
was just to save the redwoods, to stop them from being ruined. Of
course, an obvious answer was to get a national park because that
could happen more quickly than the state could get little pieces and
put them together.

In The Last Redwoods the best statement that has ever been made
for the redwoods is written. It's really beautiful writing--Francois
Leydet. When we explored the redwoods and did it thoroughly, we
naturally couldn't overlook the Klamath because there were some
tributary streams there that still had some beautiful trees on them,
even though logging was going on heavily in the Klamath area, and
it's pretty well all logged out now.

Blue Creek, which has since been logged, was intact then. We
wanted so much to do something about the Klamath. After the chance
location of the world's tallest tree where we slapped any old tree
and said, "This has got to be it," I thought we should go up to Blue
Creek, a tributary of the Klamath River. We could find the tallest
tree there because, as far as we can tell, those trees were in the
same class as those in Redwood Creek.

As you know, after the discovery of the world's tallest tree
at 368-point-something -feet, the tree got shorter. That happened
when Redwood Creek flooded and built up two or three feet of silt
around the base of the tree, so then the tree was that much shorter
above the ground.

*Francois Leydet, The Last Redwoods (Sierra Club, 1963).

{
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While we were working for the park, after the discovery of the tree,
there was a great deal of bitter feeling on the part of us who
worked so hard to get ridge top to ridge top. The logging was going
down to the worm [down to the narrow streamside extension--1/4 mile
on each side of Redwood Creek--running south (upstream) for a couple
of miles from the main body of the parkl--just to hurt the park and
to make it less desirable. I think it was Arcata [Redwood Company]
who took out another twenty acres of trees right along Redwood Creek.

Do you know the Howard Libbey Tree named for the head of the
Arcata Redwood Company. The only thing that really is appropriate
about that name is the tree is dead at the top. [laughter] So are
most of the big old redwood trees. If they stop growing, or if
something has intruded upon the area to change the nature of the
environment, they will be spike tops, as they are called. It is
still a healthy tree, but they are not as tall as they were because
the piece at the very top is dead. The sap just can't come up anymore.
The tree hasn't got the strength.

It's an excuse for cutting down all of the big trees, even though
they might live for hundreds of years more. They say, "That tree is
not doing anything.'" They cut down these trees [at Redwood Creek],
and one of those trees was 390 feet long, and that doesn't count the
stump. Now, that made it twenty-five feet taller than the tallest
tree, and nobody knows really today how many other trees there may be
standing that are taller than that. There is not likely to be
anything much taller because the 390-foot tree was growing on a small
flat in a stream bottom, which is the kind of area which produced the
tallest trees.

On the other hand, the flats at Orick and, even more so, the
flats at the mouth of the Eel River in the vicinity of Ferndale,
between some of those little places where the Eel River goes out to
sea and there is that great flat plain of grazing land (dairy land
and grass)--once that was a redwood forest. There is hardly any
question that the trees had to be over four hundred feet tall on the
flats. There are records which may not be accurate, but it's claimed
that some of the trees at Orick were 450 feet tall before they were
cut.

Those were the first places to be cut, and they weren't cut for
lumber. They were just cut so the trees would be out of the way
because it was flat ground that could be cultivated. It could be
used. The hills were the last to be cut. That's where the redwoods
stayed because they didn't bother to get rid of them. They cut
redwoods down originally to get rid of them, then they'd burn them
up and make farmland so they could subsist. There is a picture of
one of these places in the book The Last Redwoods--one of Phil Hyde's
black-and-white pictures--where you see this two-story farmhouse.
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It looks like a toy along side this burned snag of a redwood tree
that they never cut down. Apparently, it wasn't in the way, and it
certainly wasn't any good for lumber because it had been burned into
a snag. It stands, Ithink, in the picture four or five times as
tall as the house, even though it's just stump. The width of that
stump, as I recall, is about twice as wide as the house standing
alongside of it.

As you fly over that area, you can see a number of those snags.
It would be fun to go down and get right up to them.

Did the club drop the Klamath River proposal because it was logged?

The Klamath River had been, back in the early twenties, regarded as
the perfect place for a national park. There were all kinds of
impediments to that because the Klamath was used for commerce. In
fact, until recently, tugboats went right up from the ocean to drag
the log rafts down. I have lots of pictures of that. The club's

new idea of a redwood national park never seriously considered the
Klamath. In the book, - The Last Redwoods, there are lots of things
that are not dealing with any area that's proposed as a national park.
In fact, there are things shown that are in Scotia, or the redwood
region, or on the beach.

The Klamath River proposal was never seriously considered?

It never came up seriously. We drew the line around the so-called
ninety thousand acres [the club's proposed park in the 1960s], and
we got to one point where we said, "Let's have a moratorium for one
day on the Vietnam War. If we take one day's expenditures in
Vietnam, we'll have all the redwoods we could ever want—-the whole
thing, every bit of it--and still have the trees." We ended up
buying the land for more without the trees than we would have had to
pay originally with the trees, even in the sixties. With this last
thing [the 1978 Redwoods National Park Act], I don't know what that's
going to cost, but you're buying stumps in order to get some
watershed protection eventually.

Let's go back to this trip in the summer of '63.

Yes, we had already been working on the redwoods then for quite some
time. I don't know when it was I first went up for Sunset. It
wasn't in 1960 though.

It was earlier?

It had to be because the picture that is on the cover of the October

1960 issue is from the fall, and the only way I could have made that
picture was at least one year before, during the fall. Sunset takes
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Litton: four or five months to get into production. So the picture had to
have been made at least a year before, and it might have been two or
three years before. I don't know exactly when those pictures for the
article were made, but the whole idea of the redwoods park, for my
part, came about when I was up there on several occasions getting
ready to do this article. I saw Redwood Creek, and I don't know
who else might have. I don't know that anyone did. I probably just
talked it up afterwards with people, such as Ed Wayburn. I flew
them around.

We called the Redwood Creek area "the lawn" then because it was
continuous trees as far as you could see in a picture, if you turned
your back on what was going on over the ridge on the Klamath. Of
course, we hadn't yet proposed it for a national park. The logging
company would have cut it without any controls at all. The fact
that we did propose it may have instigated some of the cutting that
happened immediately or very early in the campaign. The company may
not have gotten around to some of that until later if we had not
come up with the national park idea. They were trying to hurt the
park proposal. They were trying to make it unsuitable for a park.
They would go in, and they would take out a chunk where ordinarily
they would work slowly across the region. They went out of their
way to go and take trees out of Bridge Creek which we said had
virginal characteristics. They logged a mountain of redwoods that was
the only one left where you had an entire hill with virgin forest
right over the top of it from one side to the other. There wasn't
anything else like that in the redwoods anywhere. There wasn't a
hilltop that had redwoods on it that hadn't been logged through and
left with just a few spikes sticking up here and there.

It looks very ragged around Prairie Creek, for example, because
on the park side of the ridge the trees will go right up to the
ridge. But the ones on the other side are gome, so half of the
skyline is missing up there. You know, there's a tree and a tree
and a tree, and that's about it.

Lage: Did Wayburn respond with the kind of vision that you would hope for?

Litton: I think so. I know he always held to Redwood Creek very strongly.
Redwood Creek was it; there was not going to be any compromise.
If we could additionally have had anything else farther north, it
would have been fine. The only thing that I could say softened us
up was that, at the end, someone exerted influence on the congress-
men. John P. Saylor [congressman from Pennsylvania] was probably
the principal mover. He came out to California. He toured the
redwood area by helicopter, along with a lot of others.
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The Redwood Parks, the National Park Service, and the Logging
Industry

Someone worked very hard on congressmen in Washington on the redwood
issue, and I think I know who. They weren't in the Sierra Club. Oh,
they could have been, but not any of us who were working for the park.
It could be someone who fancied himself a great judge or arbitrator.
At the end, it began to look as if we were going to get nothing
unless we accepted a proposal without the upper slopes of Redwood
Creek. We did get some Redwood Creek area lower down but not farther
back, so you can't look at anything without seeing destruction. There
is no place you get a big view of anything in Redwood National Park
that isn't partially destroyed, unless you are right in the midst of
a grove where you can't see out. If you get on any ridge or any high
place in Redwood National Park there is logging, there 1s destruction.

That's really true in the state parks, too. I guess Jed Smith
and Prairie Creek have the best. It is true that at the end, just
to get something, we had to kind of knuckle under to accept part of
the Mill Creek area. Actually, if Mill Creek hadn't been in the
proposal, the park would have cost less. Congressmen were always
talking about how much money would be available. It looked like $127
million would be the cost to get the whole thing originally. That
amount of money was beyond the limits talked about in budget
committees and so forth.

We ended up accepting this strip of land [in 1968] with the
beaches, the freeways, the real estate, the pastures, the farms, the
fences, and everything else that ended up in the Redwood National
Park. It was mostly stumps. When they say we have a Redwood National
Park at 58,000 acres, 30,000 of those acres are Jedediah Smith
[Redwoods State Park] and Prairie Creek [Redwoods State Park] which
were already state parks. They are not in the national park. We've
got a national park of 28,000 acres of which not over 7,000 acres are
old-growth redwood forests. The rest of it has been converted to
pasture or is paved or is stumps.

They've enlarged the park since then.

It has been enlarged since. It got enlarged in 1978. We had the park
in '68. 1In ten years they had cut trees from most of the land that
was added. Some of what was added was cut even before the original
park, but it needed to go in the park system. There were little
islands here and there that had been cut along in the Emerald Mile
section [south of the park] and around Bridge Creek. Quite a bit

of the land, if it had gone in the park in the beginning [in 1968],
would have been cut over. But it was so much worse ten years later
when they had had unbridled cutting and had been doing anything they
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wanted, and had done some cutting inside the park. They actually
just misestimated where the park boundary line was. They said, oh,
they didn't notice that, that that was where the line was. So
they got a few trees out of the park, mainly out of meanness.

The loggers did the thing with the peanut log.* They set off
on this great public-spirited hegira to the White House with the
peanut log. I figured out how much the log was worth. As finished
lumber it came out to several hundred thousand dollars. Yet that
log carved into the peanut shape could never be used again because
in shaping it they had used sandblasters. In sandblasting it they
embedded sand into it, so it would have ruined any saws that they
ever tried to put it through in a mill. It was never going to
become anything. I don't know what did become of it. What they might
have done was to drill holes in it and blow it up for grapestakes.
They could have put charges in it, but I don't think it ever came to
lumber. It was a total waste, to say nothing of the waste of the
energy to get it back there. To waste a whole tree that could have
become these precious boards that they're so fond of was really a
funny way to approach a subject.

It was a funny way to dramatize something that they're interested in.

Yes, it showed they didn't give a hoot about anything. When they
talked jobs, the loggers are out of jobs half the year anyway. You
can only log in the dry season. When winter comes, the logging
camps close down, and the loggers are on welfare or whatever. It's
a transient population anyway. It's not the home folks that are in
logging. You can't stay in one place when you're cutting down all
of the trees. You've got to move somewhere else.

That's right; they're going anyway. I want you to tell me about the
trip where you took Chet Brown [of the National Park Service] and
showed him around the redwoods. I want to know if you introduced
him to Redwood Creek or was he interested in it before?

I think that on the trip you are talking about, Chet Brown was one
person. The Park Service had several people involved. Brown was
the team leader. The Park Service sent out investigative crews
because the pressure was on from below or from above. I took Pete
McCloskey, my congressman, up there in a plane. I didn't own a
plane. I used the Sunset plane for everything. We spent the whole

*To dramatize their hostility to expansion of the Redwood National
Park in 1978, logging industry workers hauled a giant redwood log,
carved in the shape of a peanut, from California to Washington,
D.C.--ed.
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day tramping the redwoods, and we did some pretty hard going, too.
We went over the big logs and all that in the Redwood Creek area.
McCloskey came back all on fire about it. Now, I don't remember
what he did as a result of that.

Pete McCloskey and I did that all by ourselves. What I'm
trying to get at here is to try to remember why the National Park
Service got involved, or how the redwood park problem got to them
so that they did something. It was the Sierra Club that caused it
to happen. It was us, going to the Secretary of the Interior. We
went back to Washington, D.C. week after week after week flying on
Sierra Club money--Ed Wayburn; a couple of times Francis Farquhar,
Dave Brower, me, Will Siri, ome or two other people I can't
remember. We would go back there and sit down in Stewart Udall's
office [Secretary of the Interior, 1961-69] and give him the pitch.

When was this?

During the time we were trying to get the government involved in

the redwood parks issue. We wanted to tell them we wanted a national
park because the state was not going to be able to save this place,
and it should be a national park; it should be saved. I remember

one thing that we said to Udall because already the loggers were
starting to point out, in a roundabout way, that there wasn't much
redwood left. They were saying there was plenty of wood for, ten
thousand years, but on the other hand if you take the trees away for
a park, there isn't going to be any. Well, we were only going to
take about one percent of the original, so where was the rest of it?

Udall mouthed one of their lines, but he just did it because
he had to. He had to come back at us with what they were saying.
He said, "Do you realize that if you gentlemen get this park that
you want with all the state parks and all that, that more than half
of the standing redwoods remaining will be in parks?

We said, "Mr. Secretary, if we get no national park at all,
it's only a matter of a very few years until one hundred percent of
all the standing redwoods are in parks." [laughter] That was the
right rejoinder for that.

I'm a 1ittle vague on when things happen, but let's do the tree
slapping. That took place probably--a wild guess--six months before
the National Geographic came out about the discovery of the world's
tallest tree. We wanted the Geographic to be the discoverers of it.
In kind of an oblique way they kind of took credit for it because
they published the article that announced it. [The "discovery" story
is fiction but served its purpose. ML, 11/30/81.]* Everyone said
the Geographic found this great tree--great! Anybody could find it,
but just let's save it.

*See Melville Bell Grosvenor, "World's Tallest Tree Discovered,"”
National Geographic, July, 1964, vol. 126, #1, pages 1-9.
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Litton: The Park Service came out before the National Geographic became
involved. They got in touch with me, and they got in touch with
others, I guess. They came down to Sunset. We would go out to
lunch. We'd talk. I would pull out the maps and say, ''Here's
what we've got to do."

The Park Service also went up and talked to the lumber companies
and talked to other people. They did a lot of exploring on their own.
They got very much involved in the Van Duzen drainage [located
southeast of Eureka]. Pacific Lumber Company, I think it was, had a
fairly good stand of virgin forest there with several creeks. It
was continuous, and it was big and maybe a little of it is still
there. It didn't make a national park because it was really all just
on one big slope overlooking Eureka. We wanted something where you
could have kind of an enclosure and feel that you were away from all
that stuff.

The original Valley of the Giants, what's left of that, is now
a city park in Eureka. There are virgin redwoods for one block--what's
left of the ones you can read about in the Van Dyke book [Valley of
the Giants].

I flew the Park Service people around somewhat. The Geographic
knew nothing about this. I believe the National Park Service brought

the Geographic in because they wanted some public exposure, and some
research money,

I

Lage: I think the National Geographic funded the Park Service's survey.

Litton: That's right. The Geographic did some of the survey later. They
didn't do it originally. It wasn't until the Park Service had a case
to make, and then the Geographic stepped in because then they began
to get interested. I didn't know the Geographic people then; I do
now very well. Some of them have been on trips with us. The
Geographic has gotten away from its "neutrality" a little now, if
you saw the current issue about the coal in the Four Corners
[located where the four corners of the states of Utah, Colorado,
Arizona and New Mexico meet]. The article got pretty tough. Francois
wrote that article, too--Francois Leydet who wrote our best Sierra
Club books. I flew them all around. It doesn't mention that, but I
flew them around for all those aerial pictures of Warner Valley. I
was flying when they took the one with Zion [National Park, Utah] in
the background and also the picture of the tower where they wanted
to build the coal-fired plant in Southwest Utah. I got Dewitt Jones
in the airplane and maneuvered it right over so you would see Zion
National Park there.
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I got acquainted with the Park Service people. They went off, and
they had nothing else to do for a long time but to study and explore
the redwoods. As you know, the Park Service came around to Redwood
Creek. But there were a lot of pressures on the Park Service from
Newton Drury because he really wanted to save Mill Creek, and he
figured the federal money was now the only way to do it, although it
didn't really need saving all that much. As I say, it was already
cut, and what they did get into the park was very scrubby little
stuff that's way back, the dry country. They omitted all the part
that the loggers still wanted to cut. Where all this brush was,
they put that in. It was pretty silly.

It's a national park now. It's a little detached piece adjacent
to a state park. I feel that the worst thing to do is to redesignate
state parks as a national park and pretend you've done something.

You haven't saved a thing when you do that.

So Chet Brown and Paul Fritz from the Park Service are the ones
I remember, although there were some others. Fritz was the one who
was more of a go-getter because Brown's health, I guess, wasn't too
well. Brown has died since. But he did diligently stay on the job.
He tended to be the one who talked to people, and Fritz was the one
who was out charging around like a bull in the woods.

We got to be very well acquainted, and Fritz got very closely
acquainted with the [Lowell and Jean] Hagood family in Orick, which
was the town's leading family. Every other persen around there in
every gas station and every store and every motel and everything
are Hagoods. The senior Hagoods have since moved on to Rio Dell.
It got to be a regular party place at their great big house. Every-
body would congregate there for redwoods meetings and dinner. Mrs.
Hagood was always putting something on the big stove, and it was
always a very festive situation. That's the situation we left that
I mentioned to you where we [with my wife, Esther, and the Wayburn
family] spent the night New Year's Eve [1966] out standing in the
woods. We couldn't get back to the Hagoods' because it got dark on
us.

Fritz was at the Hagoods' a lot, and Chet Brown was there once
in a while. There were also other people who were involved locally
like Dave Van de Mark, and people who went up there to do photography
like Howard King, and the young fellows like Jim Rose. The Wayburns
became part of the Hagood family, practically. They came and went
with their daughters. It got to be one big family working out of
Orick for Redwood National Park in Redwood Creek.

The other thing about it was that if we were going to have a
national park that took in state lands, the ideal way would be to
have it all contiguous so it would really be a big park and not to
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Litton: go off trying to grab off little state parks here and there. Prairie
Creek was a big state park, and all of its waters, except those that
go directly in the ocean [in] little trickles, are part of the Redwood
Creek watershed. They end up in Prairie Creek which meets Redwood
Creek just above Orick.

Finding the Tallest Tree
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